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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to

          3  today's hearing of the New York City Council's

          4  Finance Committee.  My name is David Weprin, and I

          5  Chair the Committee.  We have been joined by a

          6  number of members who I will introduce, and there

          7  will be more members joining us as we go along.  We

          8  have Council Member Melinda Katz from Queens,

          9  Council Member Eric Gioia from Queens, Council

         10  Member David Yassky from Brooklyn, who is the prime

         11  sponsor of the bill we are going to be considering,

         12  Council Member Mike Nelson from Brooklyn, our Deputy

         13  Majority Leader, Council Member Bill Perkins from

         14  Manhattan, and Council Member Mike McMahon from

         15  Staten Island.  On my immediate right is Jim Caras,

         16  Counsel to the City Council Finance Committee.

         17                 Today we will be conducting an

         18  initial hearing on Intro. No. 454-A, a proposed

         19  local law that would provide a City Tax Credit for

         20  film production.

         21                 In August of this year, the State

         22  Legislature adopted legislation authorizing a State

         23  Tax Credit for film production occurring within the

         24  State, and authorized the City to enact a similar

         25  credit.  The State credit is on the Corporation Tax
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          2  and State Personal Income Tax.

          3                 However, most of the film production

          4  companies that would benefit from this credit are

          5  partnerships or limited liability companies, the

          6  City credit should be on the City's Unincorporated

          7  Business Tax rather than on the City Personal Income

          8  Tax.

          9                 The Administration is working up in

         10  Albany to see to it that the authorizing legislation

         11  is amended to accommodate this difference between

         12  the City's and State's tax structures, and the "A"

         13  version we have before us today, anticipates that

         14  the authorizing legislation will be amended.  In

         15  general, this proposed tax credit is designed to

         16  provide a financial incentive for the studio work

         17  involved in producing a film or television show to

         18  occur in New York City.  When a film producers

         19  decide on the primary location for a film's

         20  production, the location is a beneficiary of a lot

         21  more expenditures than in cases where some locations

         22  shots are done in a city, but the primary location

         23  for production occurs elsewhere.  Unfortunately,

         24  often films that require some shooting in New York

         25  are primarily produced in other cities, such as
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          2  Toronto, where production costs are much lower.

          3                 In very general terms, the

          4  legislation we consider today would provide a

          5  refundable credit equal to 5 percent of certain

          6  below the line costs incurred in the production of a

          7  film or television show, as long as at least 75

          8  percent of the production studio expenses occur at

          9  qualified production facilities within New York

         10  City.  These below the line costs are costs such as

         11  studio costs, crew workers, stage sets and make- up,

         12  in general costs, other than actors and directors

         13  salaries and costs for scripts.

         14                 The State legislation caps the amount

         15  of the City credits at $12.5 million per year.

         16  Ordinarily, I might feel that providing tax credit

         17  to one particular type of business activity in the

         18  City of New York is not a sound tax policy move.

         19  However, it is my understanding that the things that

         20  make New York City attractive as a place to produce

         21  films and television shows are being outweighed by

         22  the costs encountered in producing films and

         23  television shows in the City.  And these cost

         24  considerations are weighing more and more heavily

         25  against the City of New York as more and more
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          2  jurisdictions enact and deepen tax incentives.

          3                 In some cases, Toronto with its

          4  substantial tax credit for film production is

          5  serving as New York's double when it comes to

          6  filming scenes that are supposed to occur here, and

          7  even when productions shoot their New York City

          8  location scenes here, they often go up to Toronto to

          9  do the more cost intensive stage work.  Now other

         10  jurisdictions, such as the State of Pennsylvania and

         11  Louisiana, are giving credits and trying to lure

         12  film production from New York.

         13                 So it seems to me that if we can be

         14  sure that the additional 5 percent City Tax Credit

         15  would lure sufficient, additional amount of film and

         16  television production to New York City, and in turn,

         17  generate enough employment from City residents to

         18  offset the cost of the credit, this may very well be

         19  a worthwhile tax expenditure.  We have longed heard

         20  that New York City is too dependent on Wall Street

         21  as one industry, and the film and television

         22  industry is a very important industry that tends to

         23  provide well paying jobs with decent benefits across

         24  the entire employment spectrum.

         25                 In addition, given our pride in New
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          2  York City as a cultural capital and the marketing

          3  that goes along with people all over the world,

          4  seeing our City in films and on television, this is

          5  certainly an industry that we value very much in the

          6  City.  So I would like to welcome members of the

          7  television and film industry to City Hall today.

          8  And before we hear from them, I will ask Council

          9  Member Yassky and Gioia, after Council Member

         10  Yassky, if they would like to make some brief

         11  remarks.  Council Member Yassky is the prime

         12  sponsor, and Council Member Gioia along with Council

         13  Members Clarke, Sears, and myself, are co- sponsors.

         14                 Council Member Yassky.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you so

         16  much, Chair Weprin, and thank you for your support,

         17  your enthusiasm, and your leadership on this from

         18  the very beginning.  I just want to make sure, my

         19  colleagues, that you understand the context here.

         20                 The context of this bill, as I see

         21  it, is that New York, just in the last decade has

         22  lost 100,000 manufacturing jobs. That is 100,000

         23  good paying jobs for people which who do not have

         24  the advanced degrees, or do not have the Wall Street

         25  background, and each one of those jobs supports a
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          2  family.  That is part one of the context.

          3                 Part two of the context is that we

          4  have here, an industry that is growing and that is

          5  poised to grow even faster. New York certainly has

          6  the creative infrastructure.  Now it has, it has had

          7  the physical infrastructure thanks to the pioneers

          8  at Silver Cup and Astoria, and now the addition of

          9  Steiner Studios makes us competitive with anywhere

         10  in the world.

         11                 The problem has been the cost

         12  differential between New York and cities like

         13  Toronto, Vancouver, and now even other places in the

         14  United States that are aggressively trying to woo

         15  away film and TV production with tax incentives.

         16  So, this bill not only is important to ensure that

         17  the industry continues to grow, but to prevent the

         18  kind of, as the industry calls it, run away

         19  production that has plagued us in recent years, and

         20  threatens to plaque us to an even greater extent.

         21                 So, and I want, the other part that I

         22  think is critical to understand is that when we talk

         23  about film and TV production, these are blue collar

         24  jobs.  And when the TV and newspapers cover this

         25  bill and this issue they will often feature a star
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          2  or a famous director.  But the reality is that the

          3  jobs that this industry supports are available, are

          4  the kind of technician jobs, the carpentry jobs that

          5  are available to people who do not have

          6  opportunities in the financial sector.

          7                 So, Chair Weprin, I thank you again

          8  for your support, Council Member Gioia.  I know you

          9  will be hearing more, I am sure, about the study

         10  that Council Member Gioia made possible, and the

         11  Speaker, that showed the cost of run away production

         12  to New York City.

         13                 It is a pleasure to join with you

         14  today in pushing this bill forward.  Thank you,

         15  Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, Council

         17  Member Gioia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair, and Council Member Yassky, thank you both for

         20  your leadership on this issue, and for your

         21  leadership every day for the people of New York.  It

         22  is my privileges to represent Long Island City,

         23  which we all know is in the midst of an economic

         24  renaissance,  both residential and commercial.  And

         25  in large part that is due to some of the pioneers in
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          2  Long Island City, Silver Cup Movie Studios in

          3  Astoria, and many of the other smaller studios,

          4  which really I am privileged to represent.

          5                 So when I look at this bill, and I

          6  look at the film and television business, I know

          7  that it is good for my district. But what is more

          8  important is I think it is very good for New York

          9  City.  When we look at the film and television

         10  business, not only is film and television the

         11  biggest cultural export of New York City, but it is

         12  largely becoming the biggest economic export of New

         13  York City.  With a huge multiplier, not only with

         14  the electricians, and the carpenters, and all the

         15  people who put together a movie or a television

         16  show, but also when you go out into a restaurant, or

         17  you go buy flowers, or I was reminded just last

         18  night by my Dad that when the Godfather was filmed

         19  how they went to my Uncle's tombstone business and

         20  bought the tombstones for the Godfather. And so

         21  there is a huge multiplier that goes, it is true,

         22  there is a huge multiplier that really helps the

         23  economy in New York.

         24                 But also, it helps when you go out

         25  and you shoot Spiderman in Queens, it helps to brand
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          2  the City, and it becomes something that people

          3  around the world see, and they say whether I am a

          4  student who just graduated college, or I am a senior

          5  who has just retired, my life will not be complete

          6  without spending a day in New York City, and that is

          7  just so many more dollars.

          8                 We often talk about NYC and Company

          9  and what we need to do to fight for more dollars for

         10  them to go out and advertise around the world.  Well

         11  I have got to tell you, the movies and television

         12  shows that are made in New York are New York City's

         13  best investment.  I cannot tell you how many people

         14  have asked me about "Sex In The City" and the

         15  different places they shoot.  And just last year

         16  when we were in Tai Won with a number of Council

         17  members, the head of Fomosa Chemical, what he wanted

         18  to talk to us about was whether or not you can pick

         19  up a date in a pizza place, like, was it Vinny, - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Saturday Night

         21  Fever.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Saturday Night

         23  Fever, precisely.  So this is what film and

         24  television does.  It is an economic multiplier, it

         25  is a brand new mechanism for New York.  I think it
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          2  is very good for New York.  And it really does, it

          3  disturbs me when I hear about "Gangs of New York"

          4  being shot in Rome, and I hear "Rudy Giuliani's Life

          5  Story" being shot in Canada. If we were in Iowa

          6  right now, we would be talking about how we can help

          7  foster and invest in ethanol.  If we were in

          8  Detroit, we would be talking about how we can we

          9  foster and invest in the auto industry.  But we are

         10  in New York, and so it is time that we get serious

         11  about fostering and investing in the film and

         12  television business.

         13                 And I thank you for your time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         15  Council member.  We have also been joined by another

         16  member of the Committee, Council Member Simcha

         17  Felder from Brooklyn.

         18                 I believe Council Member Perkins had

         19  a statement to make.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Yes, I just

         21  want to make a brief statement, because I am anxious

         22  like my colleagues to hear from the witnesses.  But

         23  I just want to first, commend my colleagues for

         24  taking the leadership and presenting this to us.

         25  Please make sure that I am listed as a prime
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          2  sponsor, because I am very supportive of this.

          3                 You know I represent Central Harlem,

          4  the Upper West Side, and MorningSide Heights, and we

          5  know very well this industry because we have become

          6  very often the stage for a lot of the work that

          7  takes place.  And we are very cooperative and

          8  supportive of that, and we understand the value of

          9  it in terms of our communities, even as it sometimes

         10  has some inconveniences.

         11                 But one of the concerns that I have,

         12  and I am hoping that we can, you know, make sure

         13  that we address, is that as we provide this benefit

         14  to the industry, the film and television industry

         15  that we be cognizant of the fact that diversity is a

         16  very, very important concern of our.  You know we

         17  see these production crews in our neighborhoods, we

         18  accommodate them, and we see the employment

         19  opportunities and the other kind of opportunities,

         20  but we do not necessarily see the diversity of those

         21  opportunities that this industry should be

         22  providing.  And so not to put a sour note on the

         23  matter, because again, I am enthusiastically

         24  supportive of it.  But I would hope that the

         25  industry would recognizes its shortcomings in terms
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          2  of diversity, and would take this benefit and use it

          3  as an opportunity to expand those opportunities for

          4  people that might not normally be getting those

          5  opportunities.  I am talking especially about people

          6  of color, who, I believe, would be capable and

          7  anxious to be a part of this industry, and have

          8  expressed to me time and time again that there is a

          9  lot of work going on in the neighborhood, but folks

         10  are not getting any of the benefits.

         11                 So thank you very much, and I want to

         12  again, commend my colleagues for the leadership that

         13  they are providing in this, and to let it be known

         14  that we will be supporting you 100 percent.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         16  Council member.  And Council Member Nelson had a

         17  brief statement.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Yes, thank

         19  you, Mr. Chair. I just wanted to - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well don't feel

         21  obligated to make a statement, by the way.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  That is a

         23  hint for the rest of you.  I want to compliment my

         24  colleagues for formulating this. We are not talking

         25  a tax incentive for a salt mine that could not leave
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          2  the State.  We are talking about an industry that is

          3  a flight risk.  And what we need to do is revoke

          4  their passport.  And hopefully, that is what we will

          5  be doing today.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Mr.

          8  Chairman, could I just set something straight for

          9  the record?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member

         11  McMahon.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And not to

         13  disagree publicly with Council Member Gioia, but

         14  Staten Island is where the Godfather was filmed, we

         15  are the home of the Godfather, and I don't want the

         16  record to reflect anything else.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  A couple of

         18  scenes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, I am glad

         21  that the record has been clarified.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Don't forget

         23  the cannoli, that was the only scene.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, our first

         25  witness, - - Council Member Felder, briefly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

          3  very much.  I don't feel obligated to make a

          4  statement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          6  Council member for clarifying that as well.

          7                 Our first witness is Dick Wolf, who

          8  is Executive, Producer, and Creator of Law and

          9  Order, Mr. Wolf.  The light has to off to be on.

         10  This is City Council procedure.

         11                 MR. WOLF:  Good morning, Mr. Chair

         12  and Council members.  Thank you for having me and

         13  other members of the community speak on behalf of

         14  this bill.  I would like to give you just a little

         15  bit of historical perspective because you are

         16  probably without passage of this bill looking at a

         17  living dinosaur.

         18                 I am a third generation film maker in

         19  New York.  My father was a Producer, Head of

         20  Production at several large advertising agencies.

         21  My grandmother wrote title cards for Paramount when

         22  it was still Famous Players Laskey.  I basically,

         23  some of my earliest memories are standing on film

         24  sets more than 50 years ago in this City.  And what

         25  I have seen over the course of my life is the
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          2  gradual diminution of production in New York.

          3                 I am shooting three series in New

          4  York right now, Law and Order Four, Trial by Jury,

          5  Criminal Intent, and Law and Order.  They may very

          6  well be the last three shows shooting in New York

          7  City.  The Soprano's wraps up this year, and to give

          8  you an insight into the way studios think, any place

          9  but New York, any place but this City.  It is

         10  considered by most production executives to be the

         11  most expensive place to shoot on the planet.

         12                 The only reason that I got Law and

         13  Order in here was that I guess I have been a famous

         14  pain in the ass, and they finally bought me off by

         15  letting me shoot the pilot here, with the clear

         16  understanding that if it got picked up, it would

         17  move to Toronto. The show did not get picked up by

         18  CBS, so it was a year and a half later, and by the

         19  time it was finally picked up by NBC, most of the

         20  people I had made the deal with at Universal were

         21  gone.  So I sort of managed to slide in here.

         22                 Every year, even when the show is

         23  successful, every year that it was on the air there

         24  were discussions about moving it out of New York

         25  City.  And I have said for years that New York is
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          2  the seventh character in all the shows.  I cannot

          3  conceive of shooting these shows anywhere but on the

          4  streets of New York.

          5                 To again put in some perspective, it

          6  is not a flight risk, it is an unarrestable

          7  commodity that you cannot get people in here without

          8  these tax advantages that other venues and other

          9  locations have been granting.  And I cannot put too

         10  fine a point on it that this is, without this,

         11  without the City contributing in the same way that

         12  the State is contributing, it is highly unlikely

         13  that any new production is going to come in here.

         14                 And to put that in some perspective,

         15  right now the scripts are being written for next

         16  season in Hollywood, the pilot scripts.  There are

         17  probably 200 to 250 projects in development at the

         18  Broadcast Networks.  Probably 10 percent of those

         19  use New York as a setting.  Unless things change,

         20  none of them will be shooting here.

         21                 And I would like to point out,

         22  whether to the Council members, this isn't a

         23  Manhattan problem, if I sent you the crew list for

         24  the various shows, you would find that a startling

         25  number of them live in the four other boroughs other
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          2  than the one we are all sitting in.  This directly

          3  impacts on your constituents, it impacts on their

          4  children because without this kind of relief there

          5  will be no production in New York.

          6                 Every place I go, if it is in

          7  California, in Toronto, I am running across

          8  displanted New York production people who cannot

          9  make a living here, because people will not come in

         10  here.

         11                 And I cannot, I just want to point

         12  out I have no complaints.  I have my shows shooting

         13  here because there is a track record of success.

         14  But there is nobody behind me, there is not the next

         15  generation of film makers, are not going to be

         16  permitted to come in here.  The next wave of

         17  television series may say NYPD Blue or CSI New York,

         18  but they will be shot in California, or worse, in

         19  Canada.

         20                 And as you consider this bill, I hope

         21  you will all, really consider the effect of non-

         22  passage.  Because this would be the ultimate sin of

         23  omission, that there is no negativity.  I have never

         24  heard a negative word spoken about film production

         25  on anybody in New York City government, except for
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          2  some people who have had their alternate side of the

          3  street parking spaces taken on intermittent bases.

          4  But everybody stops and looks at a film set. It is

          5  as much a part of New York as the Empire State

          6  Building or the Statue of Liberty.  People stop at

          7  film crews, the impact on communities is enormous

          8  whether it is the corner deli, or the monument maker

          9  out in Queens.  That this is an industry that can

         10  thrive here, everybody wants to be here, the number

         11  of actors that want to be here, which is another

         12  subject.  There are 69,000 SAG members in this City

         13  who will have no work.

         14                 To put it in some perspective, Law

         15  and Order alone has had more than 10,000 speaking

         16  roles over the past 14 years.  If you take that into

         17  consideration, there is a huge economic upside to

         18  taking a small hit.  And I will say to the City

         19  Council what I said to the IA 12 years ago:  That 95

         20  percent of a loaf is better than no bread at all.

         21  And that is the thought I would like to leave you

         22  with today.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Wolf.  If you could stay there please, we may have
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          2  some questions.

          3                 I would just like to introduce some

          4  additional colleagues that have joined us, since the

          5  last round of introductions.  We have Council Member

          6  Helen Sears from Queens, Council Member Christine

          7  Quinn from Manhattan, and our Minority Leader on the

          8  right, Council Member Jim Oddo from Staten Island.

          9                 Mr. Wolf, you referred to 10 TV shows

         10  that are currently involving New York City that you

         11  know of.

         12                 MR. WOLF:  No, not 10.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  No, how many?

         14                 MR. WOLF:  There are, to my

         15  knowledge, right now four series and actually three

         16  series, my three series and the Sopranos, which is

         17  currently not in production, but will go back in

         18  production. Those are the only series that are in

         19  production in the City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, you did

         21  mention though, the 10 new shows that were coming

         22  out who might consider New York City.

         23                 MR. WOLF:  No, let me make that

         24  clear.  Every year there is a development season in

         25  Hollywood where writers come in and pitch the
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          2  networks on new series.  The average number is

          3  between 200 and 250 projects a year that go into

          4  development.  Then about 30 to 40 percent of those

          5  go to pilot, and probably 30 percent of those

          6  finally make it on air.  And about 5 to 10 percent

          7  of those make it to a second season.  It is a

          8  remarkably, un-business-like business in terms of

          9  the success ratio.  The current or most common rule

         10  of thumb is that 97 percent of everything that goes

         11  on television does not make a profit.

         12                 So that when you add in excess

         13  production costs, it is truly daunting.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Of these new

         15  shows, if we enacted the City credit on top of the

         16  State credit, how many of those shows that otherwise

         17  would not film in New York, do you think we could

         18  capture?

         19                 MR. WOLF:  I would say that there is

         20  a good shot at capturing probably two to three more

         21  series with this, because it cuts the disparity

         22  between the costs of shooting here, it does not

         23  eliminate them.  So that there will be people with

         24  the passion with these tax credits that may be able

         25  to push studios into shooting here, but there are no
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          2  guarantees.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And how does New

          4  York City compare, in general, in terms of cost with

          5  other locations, currently now assuming there is a

          6  State credit, but we don't adopt the City credit?

          7                 MR. WOLF:  With the State credit it

          8  is still the disparity between the amount of money

          9  that would be spent, it is not just 15 percent below

         10  the line.  It is still going to be the most

         11  expensive place to shoot with this credit.  Without

         12  it, I just don't see anymore production coming in

         13  here, it is prohibitive.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, assuming

         15  all things being equal, or close to being equal,

         16  even if it is a little bit more expensive in New

         17  York City, would you think that there is more of a

         18  desire to film in New York City than there would be

         19  in Toronto or other jurisdictions?

         20                 MR. WOLF:  There is not a film maker

         21  alive who would not prefer to shoot in New York City

         22  as opposed to trying to do fake New York City in

         23  Toronto or another city, not one.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And why would

         25  you say that?
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          2                 MR. WOLF:  Because as I have said to

          3  people who have worked on the show, never shoot the

          4  DPs especially, never shoot anybody against the flat

          5  wall, because you will be fired.  Just turn the

          6  camera, there is so such thing as a bad angle in New

          7  York City, whether it is the bridges or the parks or

          8  the buildings, there is no place else that looks

          9  like it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         11  Wolf.  I believe Council Member Yassky, did you have

         12  a question?  And then Council Member Gioia will be

         13  next.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well thank

         15  you, you have covered a lot of it, Chair Weprin.

         16  First of all, I just want to thank you for your

         17  commitment.  Were it not for the folks like you

         18  keeping production alive here, you know, we wouldn't

         19  really have the opportunity to try and grow, so I

         20  want to thank you.

         21                 MR. WOLF:  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I will tell

         23  you since introducing this bill, virtually every

         24  producer I have spoken with has a story about

         25  whether it is a film production or a TV show that
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          2  they would have liked to have shot here, and they

          3  were told, you just can't, it is too expensive.  But

          4  that this would have been enough of a difference.

          5                 Is that plausible to you?

          6                 MR. WOLF:  Yes.  This is, when you

          7  crunch the numbers that 15 percent puts it into the

          8  range of discussible, 10 percent doesn't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right, again,

         10  the way it has been explained to me is that, we are

         11  not going to be, it is not going to be the same cost

         12  as Toronto.  We are just not going to get there,

         13  even with the 15 percent.  But that gives the

         14  producer the ability to talk to the money people to

         15  say, it is close enough, it is a little bit extra,

         16  but for the extra creative value to the series or to

         17  the movie, it is worth the little bit extra to be in

         18  New York.

         19                 MR. WOLF:  Well I would say on a

         20  personal basis, the wonderful thing about Law and

         21  Order is that it has proved that it is a factor.  It

         22  is the longest running show on Network Television,

         23  we are in our 15th season.  It wouldn't be if we had

         24  been shooting in Toronto.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And just last
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          2  questions, can you just give us, at least, an

          3  estimate to kind of put some numbers on this for the

          4  record.  You know, if it is a million dollar

          5  production budget in Toronto, it is how much in New

          6  York?

          7                 MR. WOLF:  You know I would not want

          8  to go on record, because frankly, if anybody up

          9  there, what is the dollar today versus the Canadian

         10  dollar.  I mean this is part of the problem that you

         11  are dealing with discounted dollars and discounted

         12  production costs.  But, you know, one of the side

         13  benefits is that there are literally no more crews

         14  left in Toronto or Vancouver for new shows.  I meant

         15  the depth is not there in their own production

         16  community, except that you would be surprised at the

         17  number of New Yorkers who are living in the Toronto

         18  area.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         20  Thank you, again.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         22  Council Member Gioia.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chair.  Mr. Wolf, we talked about it.

         25                 MR. WOLF:  I sorry,  gentleman.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  You are

          3  pressed for time?

          4                 MR. WOLF:  One more.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  One very quick

          6  question.  Can you, we talked a little bit about

          7  above the line and below the line.  Can you tell the

          8  Committee what below the line costs means, what are

          9  we talking about.

         10                 MR. WOLF:  Below the line costs are

         11  basically crew costs, hard production costs, camera

         12  equipment, film, stock, all the things that go into

         13  making the picture, except for the above the line

         14  personnel who are the producers, writers, directors,

         15  actors.

         16                 Thank you, gentleman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Mr. Wolf, just

         18  two quick questions, very briefly, if we could?

         19  Council Member McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I don't want

         21  to hold you here beyond - -  You are sure?

         22                 Unlike my colleagues, I am extremely

         23  skeptical of this from a City management point of

         24  view, because certainly law firms could come to us

         25  and say, look, we are going to relocate to New
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          2  Jersey, we can do our work there.  Advertising firms

          3  are going to come and say, look we are going to

          4  relocate to Connecticut, we can work there.

          5  Restaurant owners are going to come in and say, you

          6  know, we are in New York and we should get the same

          7  credit because we have the same type of high costs.

          8  And certainly the Stock Exchange is going to come

          9  into us and say, you know what, we can do our work

         10  out of Philadelphia.

         11                 So what is the reason that your

         12  industry should be entitled to this special

         13  treatment as opposed to other industries?

         14                 MR. WOLF:  Because the other

         15  industries are here and are threatening to leave.

         16  This industry ain't coming here.  The only way you

         17  are going to get further production is by doing

         18  this. It is not a threat, it is a guarantee.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Yet your

         20  show has been successful, and has certainly made a,

         21  I assume, has been profitable for the investors and

         22  the producers involved.  So it is - -

         23                 MR. WOLF:  Not until it was about 10

         24  years into the process that the red ink that

         25  partially was spewed by being in New York, is a risk
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          2  that other production entities are just not going to

          3  take.  It is that simple.

          4                 That my success, notwithstanding,

          5  that is why I started out by saying you may be

          6  looking at a dinosaur, oprei moi (phonetic),

          7  nothing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But it seems

          9  that new studios are being built in New York, Silver

         10  Cup is expanding, Steiner Studios being built, are

         11  they chasing dinosaurs or are they chasing a real

         12  business.  Are you saying that all these production,

         13  all these studios are being built, and all this work

         14  is being done, and no one is going to come, New York

         15  is no longer the Big Apple?

         16                 MR. WOLF:  Well I can only put it in

         17  some perspective.  Rent which is probably one of the

         18  most prominently New York- based pictures that to go

         19  into production, they are going to be here for two

         20  or three weeks.  It is going to be shot in

         21  California.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But how will

         23  this 5 percent tax credit make that difference?  In

         24  other words, if we give a 5 percent tax credit, then

         25  Vancouver will say, okay, we will do 20 percent,
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          2  Louisiana will say we will do 25 percent.  It is a

          3  bidding war.  Just like Boeing said to Washington

          4  State and Kansas State, look, bid against our

          5  factory, and they both bid, and they moved the

          6  production to Mexico anyway.

          7                 MR. WOLF:  Let me put it this way, it

          8  is a very low risk proposition, because if nobody is

          9  shooting here, you don't have to give them the tax

         10  break.  In other words, you may pass the bill, if

         11  they don't come in, it doesn't cost the City a dime.

         12    But the uptake in revenue that may be possible by

         13  passing this bill is literally incalculable.  I

         14  cannot tell you how many new series will come in.

         15                 I can tell you that without it, none

         16  will.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So in

         18  essence it is sort of a pig in a poke in saying,

         19  look, at least try this, this is an incentive, but

         20  there is no guarantee.  But then what do we say to

         21  all the other industries that say, look, we are

         22  either not here or we are leaving.

         23                 MR. WOLF:  Well as I said, what you

         24  say to the other industries, is, I am sorry, you are

         25  here, they are not.  We are trying to bring them in,
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          2  we would prefer not to lose you.

          3                 I cannot comment on other industries.

          4    I can tell you that it seems to me to be a

          5  different a situation if the Stock Exchange was in

          6  Trenton, and you were trying to get it to move into

          7  New York, I would suspect that you might talk about

          8  giving them a tax break.  It is exactly the same the

          9  situation, that you cannot lure people here without

         10  it.  The economic disparity is too great to bridge

         11  any other way.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         13                 MR. WOLF:  Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And we have been

         15  joined by Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens,

         16  and the last question for this witness is Council

         17  Member Melinda Katz.  Council Member Katz.

         18                 I am sorry, I am conducting the

         19  hearing here.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Since you said

         21  good- bye to all the gentlemen, you will give me

         22  this opportunity.

         23                 I have to say, first of all, that you

         24  saying the four other boroughs instead of the four

         25  outer- boroughs, you are getting everything.
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          2                 Just very quickly, you do have great

          3  series.

          4                 MR. WOLF:  Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And I am a

          6  great fan.  But my question really is, if you have

          7  New York City series, and I think it is important

          8  for everyone to understand, including me.  Like the

          9  King of Queens, Everybody Loves Raymond, where are

         10  those all filmed?

         11                 MR. WOLF:  Los Angeles.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  They are filmed

         13  in Loss Angeles.

         14                 MR. WOLF:  So is NYPD Blue and CSI

         15  New York.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  NYPD Blue is

         17  filmed in Los Angeles, and CSI New York is filmed in

         18  Los Angeles?

         19                 MR. WOLF:  Yes, Ma'am.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Okay, so then

         21  the point really is a valid one that you really, you

         22  can actually film the assemblance of New York City

         23  anywhere in the United States, or really anywhere in

         24  the world.

         25                 MR. WOLF:  Anywhere, because you
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          2  bring in crews, NYPD comes in three and four times a

          3  year, as does CSI.  They shoot for 10 days, they

          4  shoot their exteriors, back to California.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And I assume

          6  that shooting the exteriors in New York City is a

          7  tiny, tiny percentage of the actual filming.

          8                 MR. WOLF:  Very small, you can do, I

          9  mean, I can probably in an average NYPD Blue

         10  episode, there may be three shots in New York.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Right, I thank

         12  you very much.

         13                 MR. WOLF:  Okay, thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         15  Council members, thank you, Mr. Wolf.

         16                 The next witnesses are going to be a

         17  panel of three. If you could come up when I call

         18  your name, the first one is Tracy Marrow, also known

         19  as Ice T; Jane Rosenthal from Tribeca Productions,

         20  and Lew Wells, Executive Producer of Johnny Zero.

         21                 Unless you agree otherwise, you can

         22  speak in the order that I called you.  Do you have

         23  prepared statements?

         24                 MR. MARROW:  No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, if you
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          2  would just identify yourself for the record.

          3                 MR. MARROW:  I am Tracy Marrow.

          4  There you go, I need a mic, I know how to use

          5  microphones.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Yes, the light

          7  has to be off, it is a City Council thing, in order

          8  to be on.

          9                 MR. MARROW:  But basically I am from

         10  Los Angeles, and I have shooting, I started my

         11  career in making movies in New York City.  I did New

         12  Jack City in Harlem.  And after I started working

         13  for Mr. Wolf, I was in New York Undercover, which we

         14  shot in New York.  And then I am now on Law and

         15  Order Special Victims Unit, which is shot in New

         16  York.  Now I live in New York City, I have moved out

         17  here.  It is the most expensive place I have ever

         18  lived in my life.

         19                 When I got here, I mean I moved into

         20  an apartment because the mortgage of my home in Los

         21  Angeles, and I really realized how expensive it is

         22  to shoot here.  I have actually shot many movies in

         23  Toronto and Vancouver that look like they were in

         24  New York.  And one of the things about being on Law

         25  and Order, we are proud to be in New York City.  And
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          2  we tease people, like we want to tell everybody that

          3  CSI New York isn't shot in New York, we are like mad

          4  at that.  You know, because they are coming here

          5  claiming the fame and they are not really out on the

          6  streets.

          7                 For my experience, there is no place

          8  like shooting on the streets of New York City.  The

          9  people are the greatest, the kids, everybody comes

         10  up and they see, and it is very inspirational for

         11  them to see it happen here.  You got tourists that

         12  come through here, they want to see the Law and

         13  Order set, and they are like, we saw this Law and

         14  Order.  And we are like, no, that is the other one,

         15  we have another one on the other street, and another

         16  one.  But my series, actually our studio is in New

         17  Jersey.  So we come to New York and shoot on the

         18  streets of New York.  But we actually have to keep a

         19  studio in New Jersey.

         20                 And I asked them, well why aren't we

         21  in New York, and it is money.

         22                 So I don't know all of the money

         23  points about making a movie, I am just here.  But as

         24  an actor, it is a great place to shoot, and

         25  everybody wants to come here.  And my girl's mother
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          2  came here and she is like, isn't that what Sex In

          3  the City was, and isn't that, and they want to see

          4  the different neighborhoods and stuff.  And it is

          5  nothing but positive.  I only think that there is a

          6  couple of places to shoot in the United States, and

          7  you know, New York is one of them, you cannot miss

          8  it.

          9                 I just wanted to say, I actually

         10  moved here and I live here now, so I am a New

         11  Yorker, and proud to be it, it is fun. So I don't

         12  think you want this industry to leave here, this is

         13  not a good thing.  And it kind of really is whacked

         14  to be in Toronto shooting a New York movie, it is

         15  not cool at all.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  Jane

         17  Rosenthal.

         18                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  I actually have a

         19  prepared statement.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Sure.

         21                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Thank you for asking

         22  me here today. I am here for two reasons:

         23                 1.  I love making movies; and,

         24                 2.  I love making movies in New York

         25  City, my home.
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          2                 For the past 15 years, Robert De Niro

          3  and I have been privileged to produce over 25 films,

          4  the majority here in New York.  And if you think,

          5  for one minute, it was easy to get the studios to

          6  commit to making pictures in this City, you are

          7  wrong. I admit that having someone like Robert De

          8  Niro on my side is a little bit easier.  But as an

          9  independent producer, we have to painstakingly cut

         10  our budget, our schedule, on every single picture in

         11  order to shoot in New York.

         12                 The business of making big Hollywood

         13  Studio movies has become more and more exorbitant.

         14  The Studios, like any business, are interested in

         15  their bottom line.  Routinely they tell producers,

         16  no matter who you are, if you want to make your film

         17  at all, you have to make it affordable and in an

         18  efficient manner. Every financier wants a return on

         19  their investment, and that is just plain common

         20  sense.

         21                 Sometimes we do succeed in convincing

         22  the studios and our financiers to let us shoot in

         23  New York, and sometimes circumstances are beyond our

         24  control and we have to shoot in LA. How many of you

         25  here travel 3,000 miles to go to work, that is what
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          2  I had to do last year?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Traffic this

          4  morning made it seem like 3,000 miles.

          5                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  I agree, I came from

          6  the Upper West Side myself.

          7                 As a working mother with two young

          8  daughters, I prefer to work where I live.  We at

          9  Tribeca are ultimately just producers that need to

         10  ask for funding from the studios or individual

         11  financiers to make our projects.  Frequently, I find

         12  myself begging to shoot in New York, telling anyone

         13  who will listen all the virtues of making movies

         14  here, that it is the best back drop in the world,

         15  that we have amazing crews, extraordinary pulls of

         16  actors to choose from, and that we are not Canada.

         17                 When we shot an $8 million picture

         18  here last fall, called, "House of D," which is due

         19  out next February.  The only reason we shot in New

         20  York were the financiers wanted Robin Williams to

         21  star in it.  Robin insisted that he shoot the movie

         22  in New York.  I mean, why should he do a movie that

         23  is set in the East Village in Canada, and so we were

         24  allowed to shoot here.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well we will
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          2  give him a proclamation.

          3                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  On a small

          4  picture, like "House of D," we employed over 100

          5  people in the New York area.  On pictures that we

          6  have produced, such as "Analyze This, Analyze That,"

          7   "Meet the Parents," and "Flawless," we employed

          8  well over 200 below the line crew members, and

          9  hundreds, if not thousands, of extras.  The

         10  importance of the New York City incentive together

         11  with the New York State incentive is that it will

         12  give us the financial edge to prove that we don't

         13  have to leave home to shoot our pictures.  We don't

         14  have to go out of the country to shoot American

         15  movies.

         16                 After spending most of the last year

         17  commuting between Los Angeles and New York for the

         18  sequel to "Meet the Parents," "Meet the Fochers,"

         19  Bob and I were determined to shoot our next movie,

         20   "The Good Shepard," here.  A movie that he will

         21  direct.

         22                 Now is New York necessary to this

         23  picture?  No. However, the movie is primarily

         24  interiors, it can be primarily done on stages.  Can

         25  I shoot that in New York?  Absolutely.  But because
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          2  this is a period John Repiece with a budget of $89

          3  million to date, our financiers felt the obvious way

          4  to make this movie for the lowest possible dollar

          5  amount would be to go to Canada.

          6                 Aside from the fact that Bob and I

          7  simply don't want to get on another airplane to go

          8  to work, the new tax bill would give us the

          9  beginnings of a much needed advantage to fight to

         10  keep our production in New York.  If you pass this

         11  additional 5 percent, you provide us with a real

         12  competitive edge to make our movies here, instead of

         13  Canada, or in some cases, other states.

         14                 There are other people who can sit

         15  and tell you, and talk more specifically about the

         16  numbers and the various studies that have been done.

         17    What I do know is the financial reality that we

         18  need a steady stream of production in New York to be

         19  able to enhance the infrastructure that already

         20  exists.  We have to do what is smart for our movies.

         21    In some cases, the Canadian subsidies have meant

         22  the difference between getting your movie made or

         23  not.

         24                 If the New York subsidies become a

         25  reality, we have a chance to balance the scale and
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          2  be extremely competitive.  I implore you to pass the

          3  bill and make our production dollars go further so

          4  we can consistently create more jobs and employ a

          5  broader base here in the City.  You have no idea how

          6  meaningful this can be to thousands of people in our

          7  industry and their families.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Ms.

         10  Rosenthal.  Mr. Wells.

         11                 MR. WELLS:  Hi, good morning.  My

         12  name is Lew Wells. I am an Executive Producer on a

         13  new Television Series, that just started filming

         14  here in New York in August entitled, "Johnny Zero."

         15  It is going to premier on the Fox Network in

         16  January, a feel a little bit like the invisible man

         17  this morning, in difference to Mr. Wolf, who with

         18  his company has created enormous amount of work in

         19  New York over the years, there are a few other shows

         20  now that are beginning to come to New York.  And I

         21  would like to speak for a moment about how helpful

         22  this tax incentive would be to encourage television

         23  producers to come here more in the future, as well

         24  as keep television productions that are currently

         25  here from fleeing north or south, due to other tax
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          2  incentives and economic advantages to being in other

          3  parts of the world.

          4                 We have a little show, it is about a

          5  New York born character name Johnny Zero, who is an

          6  ex- con who gets out of prison and tries to set his

          7  life straight by becoming a private investigator,

          8  who helps people who cannot get help through the

          9  system.  It is an extremely New York- base show, it

         10  happens to star a New York born actor who is Puerto

         11  Rican descent, and it is very much a street show.

         12  And as Mr. Wolf was saying, it is the kind of show

         13  that if you don't shoot it in New York, it is never

         14  going to feel right, and we actually believe,

         15  creatively, we have a much less chance of having a

         16  successful product in the end, if we don't actually

         17  make here in New York.

         18                 We are filming the show at Silver Cup

         19  Studios in Queens.  And a quick word about some of

         20  the other shows that are filming in New York

         21  currently, Hope and Faith, which is a half- hour

         22  sitcom is filming at Silver Cup eastern Queens;

         23  Third Watch from John Lowe's Productions, and Warner

         24  Brothers is filming at the Stages in Greenpoint,

         25  Brooklyn.  And as is "Rescue Me," which is a cable
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          2  network series, it is also filming out in Brooklyn.

          3  So, there are some shows that are trying to come

          4  here and attempting to stay here in this, you know,

          5  as everyone has stated, rather complicated economic

          6  environment in New York.

          7                 In our particular case, we fought a

          8  very long and protected battle to keep this show

          9  from being taken to Toronto. Those decisions were

         10  made by Warner Brothers and John Wells Productions

         11  right during the time that the tax bill in Albany

         12  was being considered heavily.  If it weren't,

         13  frankly, for that tax bill feeling as if it were

         14  going to pass, myself and my partners on this show

         15  would never have had the ability to even get Warner

         16  Brothers to listen to our arguments about coming to

         17  New York.

         18                 Thankfully for us, we have a track

         19  record in our company where we have had some major

         20  hit series over the years, ER, West Wing, Third

         21  Watch, which has been shooting in New York for six

         22  years now, by the way, and we have had enough clout

         23  and enough power behind us to say, we can do this in

         24  New York.  We know how to be responsible on our end

         25  of the deal.  We know how to work in New York City
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          2  and make this possible.

          3                 But if we didn't have that clout, we

          4  would have never been allowed to bring that show

          5  here because of the economic factors.  And because

          6  of the tax bill that was being considered in Albany,

          7  we took a big risk and asked Warner Brothers to take

          8  it with us, thankfully they did.  But if that bill

          9  had not been on the table at that time, and hadn't

         10  looked like imminently it was going to pass, we

         11  never would have been able to consider New York.

         12                 Now that said, we are here.  Why

         13  should you give us an additional 5 percent, which I

         14  think is a very valid argument that has been raised.

         15    Let me speak to that in terms of my show, and how

         16  that would effect other existing television shows in

         17  the area.

         18                 As Mr. Wolf said, there is pressure

         19  every single year when a television show gets picked

         20  up or renewed to consider all of the costs below the

         21  line, as well as above the line.  And there is great

         22  pressure to take a show like this, if we are lucky

         23  enough to be successful and have a second season in

         24  Johnny Zero after we are on Fox in January, please

         25  watch, then the costs ultimately go up in all areas
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          2  on any film entertainment production scenario.  The

          3  below the line unions automatically every year get a

          4  3 percent increase in their contractual arrangements

          5  that are just built in with a long- term contract

          6  that exists with the studios and television

          7  networks.  Everybody who works on a show expects a

          8  small raise, as well they should after having worked

          9  the kind of hours and made the kind of sacrifices in

         10  their personal and family lives to do the jobs that

         11  they have done so well for us. So, cost, inevitably

         12  increase.

         13                 The economic environment in

         14  television is not one of great profits these days.

         15  As Mr. Wolf was saying it takes an amazingly long

         16  running television show for people to even have a

         17  chance to recoup their investment and costs.  So

         18  there will be great pressure if Johnny Zero is

         19  successful for us to move to Toronto.   So even

         20  though we have won this initial phase of the battle

         21  to keep the work in New York and do a New York show

         22  in New York where it should be done, there will be

         23  continued pressure to keep the work here as the

         24  show, hopefully, goes on and has a nice, successful

         25  long run.
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          2                 And all of the other producers of the

          3  shows that are currently in New York or thinking

          4  about coming to New York will face that exact same

          5  problem.

          6                 There was a very interesting article

          7  in Daily Variety, I believe, Wednesday of last week.

          8    Toronto has captures a huge part of the television

          9  market over the years.  They begin to have some

         10  problems.  They have become over shot, their

         11  neighborhoods get sick of having filming in them,

         12  the same as neighborhoods here or anywhere else do.

         13  People begin to want more money for the work, they

         14  become sort of comfortable and ensconced and think

         15  they can ask for more.  And some work has begun to

         16  leave there, as States like Louisiana, and

         17  thankfully now, New York, passed their own versions

         18  of tax incentives that draw the work to those areas.

         19                 But the Mayor of Toronto came out

         20  with a big announcement on Wednesday that they are

         21  going to retrench and they are going to restart

         22  their battle.  They want to fight to get that work

         23  that has been coming back South of the Border, in

         24  their minds, back to Toronto again.  So just because

         25  certain things have happened, like the wonderful
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          2  bill that was passed in Albany, have happened,

          3  doesn't mean that all of those other areas aren't

          4  going to then increase their efforts to draw these

          5  jobs and this production back to their areas again.

          6                 So why do we need the additional 5

          7  percent?  Because everyone else is going to give

          8  additional 5 percent.  Just because Albany has

          9  passed a tax bill, doesn't mean that every other

         10  municipality, state, federal government, that wants

         11  to attract these incredibly lucrative jobs for below

         12  the line working people, they are going to continue

         13  to compete with this State and every other place in

         14  America to draw the jobs back north, or wherever

         15  they can draw them again.

         16                 And finally, I want to say something

         17  quickly, to address Councilman Perkins concern about

         18  diversity.  I think it is a very valid question, it

         19  is a question that comes up often in our industry,

         20  as well as in our society at large.  I personally,

         21  as I know a lot of my co- workers and people that I

         22  do business with, are not particularly proud of the

         23  entertainment industry's record in this respect.

         24  There is a lot of hard work to be done.  It is an

         25  old industry, here in New York City it is a very
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          2  old, ensconced sort of union industry, not unlike a

          3  lot of other industries, where jobs and union

          4  relationships are passed down from family to, you

          5  know, generation- to- generation.  So it is not easy

          6  to break sort of through that old structure.  But I

          7  think as individuals, most importantly, as in any

          8  endeavor, as an industry at large, we can do a lot

          9  better.

         10                 The company that I work with has a

         11  diversity program.  We won the DJ Diversity Award

         12  three of the last 10 years for going out of our way

         13  to develop opportunities for women and minorities in

         14  directing and other aspects of film making.  And I

         15  think it is a valid point, it is something that we

         16  cannot be proud of yet, but it is something that I

         17  think most importantly as individuals we can all

         18  make efforts to develop programs, and we can work

         19  with City governments, or institutions, or private

         20  institutions to develop programs that encourage

         21  young people of different backgrounds to get into

         22  the business.

         23                 And I think, I am sure that I speak

         24  for everyone in the industry when I say that we are

         25  happy to do that.  We could use partnership from the
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          2  outside.  We will take it on, if other people are

          3  willing to do it with us.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          6  Wells.  We have been joined by a few more

          7  colleagues.  We have Council Member Bill DeBlasio

          8  from Brooklyn.  Council Member Jim Gennaro from

          9  Queens, in the order I saw them, Council Member Lew

         10  Fidler from Brooklyn, and Council Member Tracy

         11  Boyland from Brooklyn.

         12                 Mr. Wells, clearly, there is always

         13  an issue of, as Council Member McMahon raised

         14  earlier of other jurisdictions, you know trying to

         15  one up us.  And I appreciate your comments about all

         16  things being equal, you know, you would want to film

         17  in New York City, and it doesn't seem right not to

         18  film certain shows, such as your own, "Johnny Zero"

         19  outside of New York City.

         20                 Do you think this extra 5 percent

         21  that we are considering will make the difference to

         22  keep your show and other shows like yours in New

         23  York City and attract other shows from other

         24  jurisdictions?

         25                 MR. WELLS:  Yes, I do.  I don't think
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          2  it will be necessarily always the deciding factor, I

          3  don't think it is all that simple, as you all know.

          4  I think what it really does is it shows the

          5  corporate people that myself and other producers

          6  have to answer to, that there is a concern that

          7  there is an effort, that there is a care and a

          8  concern to keep the jobs in America, to make the

          9  movies and the TV shows where they should be made.

         10  And I think, psychologically, if I might be so, sort

         11  of flowery, those kinds of things are very important

         12  in business.  If we can go back to the people that

         13  give us this money and say, all right, yes, we can

         14  do this for 10 to 15 percent less in Toronto.  But

         15  New York is taking the active and positive proactive

         16  step of saying, well here is 5 percent of that.  We

         17  are not going to be able to equal that cost in

         18  another part of the country or in Toronto, but we

         19  can at least go back, you know, heads held high and

         20  seriously sit down with people and say, the effort

         21  has been made, it helps, you know the jobs should be

         22  kept in America and in New York, if it is a New York

         23  film.  Let's do this together.  And that is actually

         24  the argument that we used about the bill that was on

         25  the table in Albany to get the show to stay here in
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          2  the first place.

          3                 So it makes an enormous difference,

          4  psychologically, as well as fiscally.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  And

          6  my last question before I go to my colleagues, is of

          7  Ice T, I guess.  You had referred to a production in

          8  New Jersey, a studio in New Jersey. Do you think

          9  that with this 5 percent that filming from New

         10  Jersey would come here?

         11                 MR. MARROW:  Well you see I am coming

         12  from the actors perspective.  I don't know what they

         13  are going to do at the studio.  But I do know from

         14  the actors perspective there are places that actors

         15  would rather work.  So you know you can give me a

         16  script, and it can be in, you know, Egypt, and I

         17  don't care how much money it is, I don't want to go

         18  there.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And where would

         20  you rather go, give all things - -

         21                 MR. MARROW:  I mean I would rather be

         22  in Los Angeles, New York, or Miami, to be honest, if

         23  you want to pick three places in the United States

         24  to shoot.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I would hope it
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          2  would be New York, LA, and then Miami.

          3                 MR. MARROW:  Yes, but you know you

          4  are asking me, and like when she said Robin Williams

          5  said I have got to shoot in New York.  At the end of

          6  the day, when you get these productions together,

          7  you are going to have to go to actors, who pretty

          8  much can say what they want to do.  And New York is

          9  a great place to be.

         10                 I mean I always say, I am like, thank

         11  God we are not in Boston, because Munch on my show

         12  used to shoot in Boston all the time.  And he was

         13  like it was terrible, there is no where to eat or no

         14  restaurant, and you have got to make the actors want

         15  to be.

         16                 And also, I mean, just like they say

         17  coming below the line, I talk to the crews and all

         18  them, and like they are so happy, the guys are

         19  telling me this is the longest job I ever had, you

         20  know.  And when you talk about diversity, one of the

         21  things that you have got to remember is that it is

         22  union scenarios that are going on in here.  And it's

         23  like, you know, you can hire actors.  You know, Law

         24  and Order we got a very diverse people that are on

         25  our show.  You can have extras, but when it gets
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          2  down to the jobs, that is a union thing.  So it is

          3  not something that we, I have any control over.  You

          4  know what I am saying.  I am trying to, you know,

          5  stay in New York where I can go to a good restaurant

          6  every now and then.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  We

          8  do appreciate that.  We have been joined by Council

          9  Member Tish James from Brooklyn, and Council Member

         10  Robert Jackson from Manhattan.

         11                 Council Member Perkins has to leave

         12  and Chair another Committee, but he just wanted to

         13  make a brief statement.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         15  very much, Mr. Chair.  I apologize to one and all

         16  that I have to Chair a Standard and Ethics.  Do you

         17  live in Harlem?

         18                 MR. MARROW:  No, I don't live in

         19  Harlem.  I live on the West Side.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  We should

         21  talk.  But let me just say this in all seriousness.

         22  First of all, I want to express my appreciation for

         23  you acknowledging the diversity issue that I raised

         24  earlier because it is a great concern of mine, and I

         25  am sure all of my colleagues.  With so many jobs,
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          2  jobs, jobs, every time I speak to someone about, in

          3  this industry, the jobs, the jobs, the jobs, the

          4  jobs, all that is represented.  And this Council, by

          5  the way, has taken a remarkable position in terms of

          6  the structural unemployment problems that we have

          7  found to be existing in New York City.  And we have

          8  been trying to focus our attention on addressing

          9  that, particularly in terms of communities of color.

         10

         11                 So any efforts that you all make

         12  towards that end are greatly appreciated, especially

         13  if we try to help you stay in town.

         14                 And let me say, I commend you for the

         15  DJ Diversity Award, and if there are opportunities

         16  for us to sit down and to discuss in less formal

         17  ways how we can move this diversity agenda as we

         18  keep the industry in town, I would very much

         19  appreciate the opportunity to sit down with you, and

         20  I am sure my colleagues would, as well.  I know I

         21  have had some conversations with some of the other

         22  Guilds about this, in terms of some reports that

         23  they are going to provide me.  But I think it is

         24  something that we should really focus on.

         25                 So thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          3  Council member. Council Member McMahon.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

          5  And again I come from sort of the country part of

          6  New York City.  So maybe I am just not clear, it is

          7  not so clear to me, just because why this is

          8  necessary.

          9                 As I understand it, let's say for

         10  instance, Spiderman was filmed in New York for a

         11  large part.  Am I to believe that a film like that

         12  that grosses over a billion dollars or close to it,

         13  needs a tax credit from the City of New York to

         14  succeed?

         15                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Well you don't know

         16  that something is going to gross over a billion

         17  dollars when you start it.  That is number one.

         18  Something like Spiderman is a franchise, so that

         19  might be, so that is a little bit different.

         20                 But if you are going to shoot, you

         21  have got to remember too that the studios, most of

         22  the big Hollywood studios that are financing these

         23  pictures, they have real estate in Los Angeles.

         24  They would just as soon you shoot in their backyard,

         25  where a) if you are going to spend over $100
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          2  million, they can keep their on you.  So they don't

          3  really want you shooting here.  We have to make it

          4  as advantageous as possible for us to, you know,

          5  shoot in New York.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And this

          7  incentive will make the difference in a $100 million

          8  picture?

          9                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Yes, it does.  I mean

         10  this plus the State, it is not just the 5 percent.

         11  It is the total 15 percent. Anything that we can do

         12  that is going to give us a competitive edge, that is

         13  going to show that we are trying to cut the costs

         14  for shooting in New York, the most expensive city,

         15  helps.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But isn't

         17  the primary  cost in shooting a film or a show like

         18  this salaries for the actors and the writers, and

         19  the directors?

         20                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Well when you talk

         21  about a big sequel, absolutely.  I mean, you know, I

         22  just finished shooting "Meet the Fochers."  The

         23  picture itself cost, we shot that in Los Angeles, we

         24  shot "Meet the Parents" here.  But the majority of,

         25  you know, the majority of the costs of that picture
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          2  was in salaries. But that is on big Sequels.

          3                 On smaller pictures it does make the

          4  difference.  On the movie that De Niro is trying to

          5  direct here, that he is doing this movie for

          6  nothing.  He is throwing in his fee, all because he

          7  wants to shoot the movie at home in New York.  So he

          8  is throwing in his entire fee just to do this movie,

          9   "The Good Shepard," which we hope will start here

         10  in March.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And we

         12  commend him for that.  We know that he is a real

         13  rooter for New York, and we need more people like

         14  that.  But it is hard for me to go back to the

         15  people in my district and say that we are going to

         16  reduce the revenue that is coming into the City so

         17  that we can improve the schools and fix the roads,

         18  because we have to subsidize the media picture

         19  industry.

         20                 MR. WELLS:  Well let me taken a shot

         21  at that.  I think clearly this legislation, as with

         22  the legislation that was passed in Albany, is

         23  targeted directly towards monies that are spent

         24  below the line anyway.  There is no tax incentive.

         25                 I know your problem is almost a
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          2  political problem, and I understand that very well.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, it is

          4  philosophical, it is not political, it is

          5  philosophical.

          6                 MR. WELLS:  All right, I am sorry, I

          7  understand.

          8                 MR. MARROW:  It doesn't help me, in

          9  other words.

         10                 MR. WELLS:  But in terms of how that

         11  money that comes out of your budget that you have to

         12  explain to your constituents could be spent on other

         13  things that are arguably much more valid than

         14  anything that we up here do.  There are two points

         15  to that that I would like to argue.

         16                 Number one, there is, and I am a

         17  little out of my league in this, but I will take a

         18  shot at it.  I mean there is no tax revenue without

         19  jobs.  And the trickle down effect that other people

         20  can speak to much more efficiently and intelligently

         21  than I can, of this particular industry, the kinds

         22  of jobs below the line that we create, the amounts

         23  of the hourly rates and the weekly amounts that

         24  people earn in our industry.  Now we work them

         25  ridiculous hours, so they more than earn that money.
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          2    But they create an enormous tax base, and the

          3  money that we spend in all of the other tending

          4  industries that help us produce films and

          5  television, more than makes up for it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I understand

          7  that, but can't the tavern owner in the heart of my

          8  district make the same claim, and say, you know, in

          9  this economy why am I not given the same incentive?

         10                 MR. WELLS:  They absolutely can, and

         11  again, I think Mr. Wolf's argument is a very valid

         12  one.  Those jobs are already here, that tavern owner

         13  needs to be in that neighborhood and he is not going

         14  to leave.

         15                 This industry has left, and it will

         16  continue to leave, and it will not come back without

         17  the incentive.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But you just

         19  told us the opposite, you are here, more people are

         20  coming here, you told us other shows that are here.

         21                 MR. WELLS:  We are a very, very small

         22  percentage of the number of producers that would

         23  like to be here, allowed to be here.  Robert De Niro

         24  and Jane have a company that has a track record,

         25  they get to make movies here.
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          2                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  But I am here also

          3  because I live here.  And so I fight, I fight daily

          4  to keep our movies here.  Dick mentioned "Rent."

          5   "Rent" is a movie I am producing.  I spent nine

          6  years trying to get this movie made for a variety of

          7  reasons. Finally, a director comes along, Chris

          8  Columbus, who did the Harry Potter movies, he wants

          9  to make the movie.  I said great.  Chris has a

         10  personal issue that is going on, he lives in San

         11  Francisco, he has a personal issue with a sick

         12  child.  He said, the majority of the picture that is

         13  shot, that is interiors, I have to shoot that at

         14  home, I have to shoot it in San Francisco.  We are

         15  shooting two weeks in New York.  "Rent", the movie

         16  that takes place on the Lower East Side.  We are

         17  shooting two weeks in New York, the rest of the

         18  movie is going to San Francisco.  But that is his

         19  personal reason, I cannot do anything about it.  But

         20  I want to get my movie made after nine years.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So the 5

         22  percent would not have made a difference in the

         23  below the line costs.

         24                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Not in that

         25  particular one.  But there are others where it does.
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          2    It will make a huge difference on the movie that

          3  we are currently trying to do in March.  It will

          4  make a big difference on a couple of other pictures

          5  that we will do here next year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  On $100

          7  million movie, how much difference would it make?

          8                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  You know, it is at 15

          9  percent, it is what, $4 million, about that, yes,

         10  below the line.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Well the

         12  $100 million movie, how much is below the line

         13  costs?

         14                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  It depends.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Roughly.  So

         16  the one you are doing now for $90 million.

         17                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  The one I am doing

         18  now, 47 of that is below the line.  So that will

         19  make, you know, a good $4 million difference.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Well the 5

         21  percent we are talking about, it would be - -

         22                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  No, not the 5

         23  percent, I'm talking about the State and City

         24  together.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But the City
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          2  part would be $2 million increase profit to the

          3  producers.

          4                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Not increased

          5  profits, just increased to be able to make your

          6  movie.  It is a budget, it is the number of days you

          7  have to make your movie.  There are other people who

          8  can speak to it that are here from the studios that

          9  can speak to it, you know, very succinctly and give

         10  you those, you know, the numbers that you are really

         11  looking for.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         14  Council Member Comrie.  Please try to keep your

         15  questions down because we have a number of witnesses

         16  coming, so if you could refrain.  Go ahead.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I appreciate

         18  being limited in my questioning, but I just really

         19  wanted to, I am a little perplexed as to my

         20  colleagues conservative vent this morning. Clearly,

         21  because I know that, and maybe you had articulated

         22  it earlier, I thought the meeting was starting at

         23  10, so I was on the cell phone in my car, and maybe

         24  someone articulated earlier, but I don't think we

         25  have heard, or I haven't heard enough from you.  And
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          2  I think Council Member McMahon is giving a lot of

          3  negative using big budget films.  But clearly, my

          4  understanding is that this tax credit will help more

          5  of the independent producers, the small films,

          6  television, more than the large budget films.

          7                 And the income generated from that,

          8  from my reading, was at least five times what the

          9  tax credit would be.  And you know, I think I want

         10  to remind all the members of that, that there is a

         11  positive net gain from this opportunity to provide

         12  an industry that actually wants to be in New York.

         13  And when you really think about it, there are few

         14  industries that still want to be in New York.  And

         15  if we look at what our growth possibilities are over

         16  the years, the film industry is one of the few

         17  industries that we really need to work with so that

         18  we can maintain a positive tax base and not be

         19  wholly dependent on the Wall Street's positive or

         20  negative attitude in the personal year.  We are

         21  losing manufacturing, we are losing other industry.

         22  We are becoming -   I will be short.  We are

         23  depending on retail.

         24                 But this is an industry that

         25  generates dollars, it generates jobs, the diversity
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          2  issues that is an issue that we can work on with

          3  structural employment.  But this is a growth

          4  industry for our city.  And for us to do anything

          5  else but understand it and try to help them grow,

          6  and try to help attract more industry, than we can

          7  have more studios.  We can finally have that studio

          8  in Staten Island, if there were more growth.  We can

          9  finally have, you know, the studio in Brooklyn fully

         10  occupied.  I don't mean to be partisan, but you know

         11  we need to, this is, in my view, one of the few

         12  industries where we have an opportunity for growth,

         13  an opportunity for development, an opportunity where

         14  we give them 5 percent, and we actually get money

         15  back.

         16                 We get the unions, the people work,

         17  you know, people work as a result of this.  Actors

         18  come here, they are going to eat in the restaurants,

         19  they are going to, you know, contribute also to our

         20  cultural life, and contribute to our non- profits.

         21  We have, you know, actors that have already started

         22  as De Niro, the Tribeca Film Festival.  Other people

         23  that are trying to start ancillary opportunities and

         24  cultural events as a result to their being here.

         25                 I think that this is something that
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          2  we need to embrace.  I am sorry we are only doing 5

          3  percent, in my opinion. Because this is an industry,

          4  because I think this is one of the few industries

          5  that is a real opportunity that we can hold onto to

          6  make our city grow.

          7                 And I am sorry I have got to run to

          8  another meeting. I just wanted to say my share,

          9  because McMahon has got this Republican vent today,

         10  I don't understand.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Well, I have to

         12  take exception--

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well as I

         14  stated, Council Member Comrie, in my opening

         15  statement, traditionally New York City has relied

         16  disproportionately on Wall Street.  And this

         17  industry is an industry that we clearly are

         18  encouraging, and that is why we are having this

         19  hearing as quickly as we are from the time of the

         20  introduction.

         21                 Council member - -  you will get a

         22  chance.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  No, no, no,

         24  seriously.  I mean if anything, it is a Republican

         25  principle the idea of cutting taxes and inducing
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          2  business.  So Mr. McMahon wasn't sounding very

          3  Republican right then.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I am sorry, I

          5  am sorry, that was not called for, I am sorry.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you for

          7  that clarification, Minority Leader Oddo.  Council

          8  Member Fidler.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chairman. And I also want to apologize to

         11  everyone, first, for coming in late.  I probably was

         12  thinking that we were on the TiVo version of the

         13  City Council this morning.  I go to bed every night

         14  with you, I can only call you Detective, because you

         15  know, I don't think Mr. T would be appropriate, Mr.

         16  Ice doesn't work, and we try to be formal here, so,

         17  I will just call you Detective.

         18                 You know, in a sense I want to echo

         19  the comments of Council Member Comrie, because it is

         20  my understanding that the issue doesn't effect the

         21  Spiderman Movie as much as it does commercials and

         22  smaller productions.

         23                 So I guess my question to, whichever

         24  one of you can answer it, is, how much of this

         25  impacts on the smaller productions as opposed to the
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          2  larger productions?  If it can be quantified in some

          3  way for us with the, you know, well, Mike has left

          4  the room, so.

          5                 MR. WELLS:  I have to take exception

          6  with the notion that it doesn't effect the large

          7  films as much as it effects the smaller productions.

          8    I think it actually effects them more.  It is all

          9  a matter of economy's of scale.  If you are going to

         10  spend a $100 million to make a studio film, and a

         11  certain amount of that has to be spent above the

         12  line.  The realities of our business are you can

         13  rarely open a film that you spend that kind of money

         14  on in theaters across the nation, let alone have

         15  ancillary value for the film, if you don't have

         16  major stars and people above the line that are your

         17  selling devices in the picture.  So that money, as

         18  onerous as it might sound to hear those numbers, and

         19  as good sort of table chatter as it makes to grade

         20  those practices in our industry, the fact is that is

         21  our industry.  And that is how movies are sold, and

         22  that is how they make money.

         23                 So those costs are not going to

         24  change, if you make the movie in Toronto or you make

         25  it in New York.  What does change are the below the
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          2  line costs.  And if you are spending $40 million in

          3  below the line costs on a major motion picture, and

          4  you can save 25 percent of that, I am just pulling

          5  that number out of my hat, by going somewhere else,

          6  that is a lot of money, that is a whole lot of

          7  money.  So yes, they are absolutely going to go

          8  somewhere else if they cannot get tax incentives

          9  here.

         10                 That said, I am a producer who works

         11  in very low budgets.  My television series, we spend

         12  approximately $2 million an episode, which is low-

         13  end for a major network television series. But

         14  television is headed in that direction.  The profits

         15  that you can make, the kind of money that you can

         16  make is diminished over time.  This is a lost leader

         17  industry, as most industries are. But ours is

         18  exceptionally that way.  For every episode of this

         19  little, tiny, television series I am doing, Warner

         20  Brothers risked $800,000 in deficit financing every

         21  single episode.  So we are only doing 12 of these,

         22  but this season, unless we do well and it goes on,

         23  but do the math, it is a lot of money they are

         24  risking.  And without that kind of tax break for a

         25  small producer and a small project like mine, it
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          2  makes an enormous difference.  It makes an enormous

          3  difference to all of us.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But you know,

          5  the politics of it, and I think Council Member

          6  McMahon, you know, was making a legitimate point, I

          7  mean, there is not going to be a great deal of

          8  sympathy to people who are looking at the movies

          9  that are making an enormous amount of money.  And of

         10  course, for every movie that doesn't make it,

         11  everyone is saying, well, you know, it might have

         12  made it.  You know, "My Big Fat Greek Wedding,"

         13  started off as a low budget, high risk film, wound

         14  up making a zillion dollars.  You know, you roll the

         15  diced, and you take your chances.

         16                 I mean is there anyway for you to

         17  quantify, you know, the lower budget end of this

         18  business versus the higher budget end?

         19                 I mean, obviously, on a movie where

         20  below the line costs are enormous, 15 percent is

         21  more money.  You know, I may be a Councilman, but I

         22  can still do a little bit of math.  And but, you

         23  know, in terms of the effect that it is going to

         24  have on the lower end, the commercials, the lower

         25  budget TV, I mean, can you quantify that in any way
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          2  for us?

          3                 MR. WELLS:  Well I can try.  As I

          4  said before, when myself and my partners were

          5  putting together the production decisions about

          6  where to make this little television series, if

          7  there had not been a 10 percent tax credit on the

          8  table in Albany, that all of our indicators were

          9  telling us were going to pass, we never would have

         10  been here, period.  It makes that kind of

         11  difference.

         12                 Our company alone, not Warner

         13  Brothers in general, but John Wells Productions has

         14  two pilots that we are developing this year, they

         15  have not been ordered yet, hopefully they will be.

         16  Both set, two set in New York, we have other set

         17  elsewhere, but two more set in New York.  We have

         18  had a tremendous experience here on Third Watch, and

         19  now in Johnny Zero.  We want to have a full- time

         20  major presence here in the future.  Without these

         21  tax incentives we are going to lose many more of

         22  those battles than we are going to win, being

         23  allowed to do our product here, even though we have

         24  a great track record.

         25                 So, yes, television is going to get
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          2  smaller in terms of the amount of money to be spent,

          3  because the economics are shifting.  And it makes, I

          4  would say, it is without these kind of tax

          5  incentives, you can lose 80 percent of the jobs that

          6  would consider coming here, easily.  If you are

          7  asking me to try to quantify and put a number to it,

          8  it is that big of a difference. The industry is that

          9  tight- fisted these days, and it is not going to

         10  change any time soon.

         11                 That is the number, I like that

         12  number.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you.

         14  Mr. Chairman, thank you for indulging me.  I do

         15  apologize, I have the press conference for the

         16  transit workers.  I just want to say that I think we

         17  could probably pay for this tax credit by

         18  eliminating the tax exemption for CableVision right

         19  now, and then we will be --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We will note

         21  that.  Council Member Felder.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         23  very much.  First, I wanted to mention that I

         24  haven't seen any productions with a nice Jewish boy

         25  with a yamacha and a beard recently.  And if there
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          2  are any staring roles, I am very interested.

          3                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  "Meet the Fochers,"

          4  December 22nd.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  You mean you

          6  did it without me?

          7                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  For the next one, we

          8  will have to have you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  All right, if

         10  you can remember me, I would appreciate it.

         11                 MR. WELLS:  As long as you brought it

         12  up, "Johnny Zero," an episode that airs in March,

         13  one of our two stars visits his Hasidim relatives

         14  that were long lost at their home in Brooklyn, mid-

         15  March, please tune in.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Also without

         17  me.  Anyway I have a few comments, and I am not

         18  sure, you know, whether they are questions or

         19  statements.  In terms of the general issue, you

         20  know, I am also not sure about the issue.  I would

         21  like to think it through and read a lot more.

         22                 But some of the material that we

         23  have, first of all, it was my recollection that

         24  during the Giuliani Administration, and I am not

         25  giving him the credit for it, but during those years
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          2  that production was up in the City.  Is that, do any

          3  of you know whether that is true or not?

          4                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  Catherine Oliver can

          5  speak to that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay, so

          7  whoever will speak to it, and if that is true, if

          8  that is true, I mean, if it is not true, there is

          9  nothing to talk about.  But if it is true, maybe

         10  someone can explain why, despite the fact that there

         11  were no, you know, City tax credit, things were up,

         12  that production was up.

         13                 Second of all, in the memo that was

         14  distributed by the City Council, which I did not

         15  read, but Ericka Keeberly did, and I will take

         16  credit for.  There were two points that she mentions

         17  to me.  One is that, that there is a federal tax

         18  bill that allows deductions for productions under

         19  $15 million.  In other words, some of the smaller

         20  productions have some of the benefit that some of

         21  the larger productions do not.  Again, I don't know

         22  how that impacts things or not.

         23                 And finally, the issue of Canada, it

         24  says here that production has been declining in

         25  Canada.  So that is somewhat perplexing to me,
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          2  because some of the witnesses have mentioned about

          3  productions going to Canada, you know, if they are

          4  not going to be done here.  And yet, the bible here

          5  says that the productions are down in Canada, so

          6  where are they going?

          7                 MR. WELLS:  Well due to current

          8  economic conditions the US dollar has weakened, and

          9  that is the value against the Canadian dollar is not

         10  quite as attractive as it was, or vice- a versa

         11  rather.

         12                 So, yes, these things fluctuate a

         13  little bit, but they are down, but they are still

         14  taking an enormous number of jobs away from this

         15  country.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Okay, thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         19  Council member. Council Member James.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.  I am not a member of this Committee, and I

         22  thank you for the opportunity to ask a question.  As

         23  you know, I represent, along with Councilman Yassky,

         24  the new Steiner Studios in Brooklyn.  And as most of

         25  you know, Mel Brooks, that nice Jewish boy,
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          2  announced that he would be filming the producers in

          3  Brooklyn, Councilman Felder.  So perhaps there is an

          4  opportunity for you there.

          5                 So you are welcome, that is all

          6  right.  And as most of you know, I represent, I

          7  think, one of the most cultural districts in the

          8  City of New York where we house, "Forty Acres and a

          9  Mule,"  Rosie Perez lives, Jeffrey Wright lives

         10  along with his wife, Dougy Doug lives, Little Kim

         11  lives, and members of the Fu Gi, and the list can go

         12  on and on and on, Fort Greene and Clinton Hill. I

         13  have a significant number of artists in my district

         14  that I am proud to say that I believe that it is the

         15  best cultural district in the City of New York.

         16  Which is why I support this bill production credit,

         17  but it should be tied to real jobs.

         18                 Individuals have talked significant

         19  with regards to the structural unemployment, let me

         20  define it for you.  Structural unemployment is 51

         21  percent unemployment of Black men and women, that is

         22  very real.  Since the Steiner Studios is located

         23  right across the street from one of the biggest

         24  public housing in the City of New York where is

         25  there is structural unemployment larger than 50
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          2  percent.  Ingersoll, Whitman and Faragut,

          3  unfortunately, is looking at 70 percent unemployment

          4  of Black men and Black women. And so any film credit

          5  that we enact in the City Council has to be tied to

          6  real jobs.  It has to be tied to addressing this

          7  crisis in my community and the communities that look

          8  like my district.

          9                 And so as we go forward, if in fact

         10  it is supported, if I support this tax credit, and

         11  it looks like I will, it will be tied to some real

         12  jobs, and hopefully, the Black, Puerto Rican and

         13  Asian Caucus will support me in tying this tax

         14  credit to some real jobs for people who need it

         15  most.  Individuals who are, unfortunately, facing a

         16  high rate of unemployment.

         17                 So I thank you, Mr. Chair, and I

         18  thank the panel.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We have been

         20  joined by Council Member Eva Moskowitz from

         21  Manhattan.  The next questioner is Council Member

         22  Yassky.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well, I

         24  really just want to ask the panel to respond, if you

         25  can, and again, to some of the concerns that were
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          2  raised by Council Member McMahon on the question of,

          3  why this?

          4                 Look, I, in theory, of course you

          5  want to treat all businesses the same and let the

          6  marketplace work.  But we have in the film and TV

          7  production industry is a set of facts that you

          8  cannot ignore.  We have a set of facts that tell us

          9  this is an industry that historically is here in New

         10  York.  That has an infrastructure that can support

         11  tremendous growth.  But at the same time faces cost

         12  competition from outside that simply means that

         13  productions are not going to come here, unless the

         14  City and the State pitch in to give them some help.

         15                 Now your stories, the stories that

         16  you have told, the story that Mr. Wolf told, and the

         17  facts that everybody in this industry that I spoken

         18  with tells me, are that to get a movie made here in

         19  New York, or a TV series filmed in New York has to

         20  require a producer who, first of all, that is what

         21  they want above all else.  They are willing to make

         22  all kinds of trade offs with the financiers and the

         23  studios to get it done.  And even then, most of them

         24  don't succeed.  So, it seems to me that what you

         25  have in this industry is a set of facts that tell us
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          2  with a little bit of investment from the City we can

          3  get tremendous returns, not just in terms of

          4  economic activity, but in terms of jobs.

          5                 And you know, on the point that was

          6  made before, big productions, small productions, the

          7  actors, the stars, they are going to make, they are

          8  going to get paid their salaries no matter what.

          9  But the New Yorkers in this industry who work as

         10  technicians, as camera operators, as set

         11  constructors, they only get the jobs if the movie is

         12  made here, and if the TV show is made here.  And

         13  that is why I think we have a real stake in this.

         14                 I guess the panel does not need to

         15  respond to that. But thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  We have to

         17  move along, because we have eight more panels to

         18  come.  I am going to allow two more questions who

         19  were on the list early on for this panel.  It will

         20  be Council Member Sears, followed by Council Member

         21  Oddo.  And that will be it for this panel list.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chair.  And thank you.   I am one of the co-

         24  sponsors of this bill because I think it is the

         25  right thing to do.  So I would like to shift away
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          2  from the perceived big profits and the huge amount

          3  of money that is perceived as being made.

          4                 When you do and you shoot in the City

          5  of New York, I assume that you have to spend money

          6  to eat, that you have to use the local merchants in

          7  order to purchase whatever it is you need. So rather

          8  than thinking that it is creating more jobs, it is

          9  also assisting the small businessman that has

         10  suffered enormously after 9/11.  It has been a huge

         11  ripple effect, and it certainly, in terms of other

         12  boroughs, particularly in Queens, where that small

         13  merchant has been devastated by 9/11 because so many

         14  lives were lost, but more than that the residual

         15  effect of the economy and what happened at the

         16  airport, and what happened to all the little

         17  businesses.

         18                 So you have to eat.  I assume that

         19  you not only go to the restaurants in the evening,

         20  but you have your food delivered so that you don't

         21  lose your time.  We are talking so much about

         22  economy.

         23                 You also need props, I don't know

         24  where they are made, but I certainly know that if

         25  you are shooting in New York, you are not going to
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          2  have them made in Los Angeles and fly them to New

          3  York City, I know better.  They are certainly

          4  continued to be made in New York State, Newburgh

          5  used to be a big industry for that, and I think it

          6  probably still is.

          7                 You also have to rest your head

          8  somewhere at night. You also probably have to buy

          9  some clothes.

         10                 So I think that we need to get away

         11  from the concept of big profits.  Because this bill

         12  was not designed to assist in big profits.  It is

         13  designed so that we can stir the economy, basically,

         14  for the small business community that has so

         15  suffered, in addition to providing the jobs that we

         16  have lost, but also bringing back and industry that

         17  this city has lost for a long time.

         18                 So, for myself in sponsoring this, I

         19  have perceived the whole picture and not just one

         20  aspect of it.  And certainly, when anyone has to go

         21  back to their constituents as to why, why this, you

         22  know, tax relief to an industry that many people do

         23  not go to the movies, they go and rent a two- dollar

         24  video.  The fact is that when that economy begins to

         25  move, the property taxes do not have to raise, and
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          2  those property taxes affect everybody.

          3                 I reminded you all we had to pass an

          4  18.5 percent that nobody in this city liked to do,

          5  and the City Council did not like to vote for it.

          6  But we did, because we had such a deficit, the only

          7  way to continue some of our programs without

          8  devastating the programs that the City provides to

          9  those in need, we had to increase the property tax.

         10                 And I am sorry that Mr. McMahon is

         11  not here, he is a colleague that I am very fond of

         12  and I like when he takes the positions he does.  The

         13  fact is that we have to look at the global picture

         14  and what this means.  And I would urge all my

         15  colleagues to support this.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 MR. WELLS:  May I make.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Last questioner.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, do you

         20  have an answer?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  You have an

         22  answer, go ahead.

         23                 MS. ROSENTHAL:  I would just like to

         24  say thank you for that.  Because when we do come

         25  into, when a movie does go into a neighborhood, we
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          2  end up supporting the deli, the shoe repair, that

          3  the movie business is made up of so many small

          4  businesses. And whether it is the prop house, the

          5  equipment rental, just any, you know, where we buy,

          6  as you said, clothes, where they are buying coffee,

          7  where they are buying cigarettes, bringing certain

          8  crew or talent in that are staying in hotels  I

          9  thank you for that, because we really do end up

         10  going into a neighborhood and supporting it.

         11                 A little bit off point here, with the

         12  Tribeca Film Festival, which we started eight months

         13  after September 11th, but just specifically to help

         14  stimulate the economy in our neighborhood, in

         15  Tribeca, in Lower Manhattan.  Last year alone, we

         16  brought in to the economy Downtown, over $50

         17  million, and that was just to all of those small

         18  businesses.

         19                 MR. WELLS:  One thing quickly,

         20  anecdotally speaking, here is a very hard way that a

         21  tax incentive helps keep business outside of the

         22  just the jobs in the New York area.  The Albany tax

         23  bill requires us to submit full records for anything

         24  that we spend in the State of New York to be

         25  qualified for the 10 percent tax break on those
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          2  expenditures.  If, for instance, lumber can be

          3  purchased in New Jersey for 5 percent less, and we

          4  would certainly take the time to have it trucked

          5  over here to have that savings on our budgets.  But

          6  with a tax incentive for 10 percent, we can then

          7  save 5 percent collectively by still buying the

          8  product in New York even if the prices are a bit

          9  higher, that keeps that product purchase in the

         10  State of New York, and if you pass this legislation

         11  in the City of New York.

         12                 So there are very, very serious and

         13  hard effects to these kind of tax breaks.  Also, our

         14  average union jobs pay anywhere from $22 to $42 an

         15  hour, these are those kind of union jobs.  Our entry

         16  level, non- union represented jobs pay $150 to $200

         17  a day.  This is an industry that pays its workers

         18  exceptional amounts of money, they earn every penny

         19  of it.  They have full benefit packages.

         20                 So it is that kind of package and

         21  those kinds of jobs that you are keeping in New York

         22  by doing this kind of thing.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, but they

         25  also spend their money in New York too.
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          2                 MR. WELLS:  Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          4  Council Member Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yes, very

          6  quickly, I could not agree more with how Council

          7  Member Sears framed this issue.  You know, we have

          8  had tough choices over the last two years, and our

          9  two choices were reduce spending or raising revenue.

         10    And reduce spending means cutting services,

         11  closing fire houses.  And raising revenue means

         12  raising taxes.  And there is a third alternative,

         13  and that is to grow the economy, and we all talk

         14  about that.  Here we have an opportunity to do it.

         15                 Council Member Felder mentioned Rudy

         16  Giuliani, well in the Giuliani Administration they

         17  cut the Hotel Occupancy Tax and we took a hit early

         18  on in terms of the revenue coming in.  What

         19  happened?  Occupancy rates for the hotels went up.

         20  So, while there may be some short- term loss of

         21  revenue, this is a net revenue producer.  And if we

         22  get into a bidding war with other cities, so be it.

         23  Because at the end of the day we raise more revenue.

         24                 And you know we have done this before

         25  for other industries.  And some of my colleagues
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          2  have derided those programs as corporate welfare.

          3  It is about producing the jobs that Tish James talks

          4  about.

          5                 So, and frankly, I don't think, you

          6  know, trying to create jobs and methods of creating

          7  jobs is a Republican or Democratic mind- set.  But I

          8  think Council Member Sears captured right, we are

          9  doing this as much for New York City and we are

         10  being as selfish about it, as you all are doing it

         11  for your industry.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well we want to

         13  thank this panel for their commitment to New York

         14  City.  And what I consider convincing testimony for

         15  adopting this legislation.

         16                 I just have one last question for Mr.

         17  Marrow.  Is there a story behind the name Ice T,

         18  that you can relate?

         19                 MR. MARROW:  Yes, I was named after

         20  the writer Iceberg Slim back in the day, when I was

         21  in high school.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, I was

         23  just curious.

         24                 MR. MARROW:  All right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MR. WELLS:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Next panel

          5  consists of Jim Brubaker from Universal Studios,

          6  President of Physical Production; James Shamus, Co-

          7  President of Focus Features; Michael Walbrecht from

          8  Warner Brothers; Jerry Dicanio, NBC Head of

          9  Production; and Richard Socrates, New Line Cinema,

         10  Senior VP Corporate Communications.

         11                 I am not going to choose sides, so if

         12  you could decide among yourselves who wants to speak

         13  first.  We are missing someone from my list.  Okay,

         14  and I know a number of you have come from far from

         15  the State of California, and we appreciate your

         16  journey, and we appreciate you coming in today.

         17                 If you could identify your names and

         18  titles for the record, and also, if you could

         19  indicate where you are coming from. The light has to

         20  be off.

         21                 MR. BRUBAKER:  Thank you.  I am James

         22  D. Brubaker, President of Universal Pictures

         23  Physical Production.  I came from Los Angeles, from

         24  Universal City.

         25                 I will start off by saying that we
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          2  had planned to do two or three movies here last

          3  year, big features, and one of them was one that

          4  Jane Rosenthal was going to produce called, "Meet

          5  the Fochers," and we were unable to actually get to

          6  the number, so we had to make that movie in Los

          7  Angeles.

          8                 We are making two movies here right

          9  now, "Carledo's Way," and one is, "The Producers."

         10  We had a movie that was going to be made here with

         11  Denzel Washington and Antone (phonetic) Fuqua. We

         12  had spent quite a bit of money in Canada before the

         13  10 percent from the State came in, and then we moved

         14  everything out of Canada, and we came to New York to

         15  make the movie.  But there were creating differences

         16  and the movie wasn't made.

         17                 I have been in the business 50 years.

         18    I started out as a driver, and I have made a lot

         19  of movies in New York, including "The Godfather,"

         20   "Raging Bull," and I have also produced for the

         21  last 25 years.  We have made a lot of movies here,

         22  and this 5 percent means a lot to us in the Feature

         23  Division, because what happens is if you take the

         24  numbers from Canada with the exchange rate and the

         25  tax rebate, and then we figure in 15 percent from
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          2  New York, as a producer, the numbers would be a

          3  little bit lower in Canada.  But I would, as a

          4  producer, and also as President of Physical

          5  Production, suggest that the movie be made in New

          6  York, if it was written for New York.

          7                 I think that this will bring a lot

          8  more movies to New York by giving us the 5 percent

          9  that we need to keep movies in the US.  Also, we

         10  have a lot of movies that go foreign, Prague, UK,

         11  and it still would be very helpful if this could get

         12  the 5 percent that we need to incorporate in our

         13  budgets to make the movies here in New York.

         14                 New York is one of the best back

         15  drops that you can have, better than any studio back

         16  drop.  And I am really hoping that this thing will

         17  pass so that I don't have to do three or four

         18  budgets for every movie that we do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         20  Brubaker.

         21                 MR. SOCRATES:  Thank you.  I am

         22  Richard Socrates. I am Senior Vice- President with

         23  New Line Cinema.  We are a unit of Time Warner.  I

         24  want to thank you for the opportunity to appear

         25  today on behalf of this legislation.  I just have a
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          2  few very brief points.

          3                 New Line is the oldest and most

          4  successful producer of independent film in the

          5  country.  We were founded in New York City, in

          6  Greenwich Village here 38 years ago.  And today we

          7  are jointly headquartered both here in New York and

          8  in Los Angeles.

          9                 Two of our recent films, a movie

         10  called, "Birth," with Nicole Kidman, which you can

         11  see in theaters now, and a movie called, "Elf," with

         12  Will Farrell, which a big hit last Christmas, were

         13  either filmed entirely here in New York, as was the

         14  case with "Birth," or partially in New York, as was

         15  the case with "Elf."  And we currently have a

         16  project in development, which is set in New York,

         17  and which we would like to film in New York.

         18                 New York, although, expensive, in our

         19  view is a really great place to make movies.  And we

         20  believe that going forward this legislation, if

         21  passed, would be a substantial factor in our

         22  decisions about where to shoot a movie that was set

         23  in New York.  So we very much urge its enactment.

         24                 One other point, if I might address,

         25  there were a couple of questions earlier about, you
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          2  know, why this industry as opposed to other

          3  industries, which I think is sort of one of the

          4  central themes we are hearing today.  And I think

          5  what you have to do, is you have to think of a

          6  movie, every time there is a new movie, it is a new

          7  business.  And that makes the business of movie

          8  making much more mobile than any other business.  I

          9  mean it would be a huge undertaking for another

         10  industry, like the Stock Exchange to move somewhere.

         11    But every time we make a movie, we get to decide

         12  where to do it, because we can do it anywhere.  It's

         13  the mobility of this business, and it makes it so

         14  much easier for people to choose where to do these

         15  movies, rather than where to locate an ongoing

         16  business, that makes this industry, I think,

         17  particularly suitable for this treatment.

         18                 So, I thank you, and later we are

         19  happy to take any questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  Mr.

         21  Decanio.

         22                 MR. DECANIO:  Hi, good morning.

         23  Thank you very much for allowing us to speak here.

         24  My name is Jerry Decanio.  I am Executive Vice-

         25  President of Physical Production for NBC Universal.
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          2                 I learned one thing when I came here,

          3  you have got to be on the panel first.  I had a

          4  whole thing prepared, and I was sitting in the back

          5  of the room, and there was questions being fired,

          6  and I'm going ooh, ooh, I can answer that one, I can

          7  answer that one.  And unfortunately, you guys

          8  changed the names, and I was going to respond to

          9  each one.  So, I am going to change what I was going

         10  to say, a little bit, and just focus on some of the

         11  issues that I think is coming in.

         12                 The producers before me, I agree with

         13  everything that they have said.  So I would rather,

         14  if it is okay with everyone, just go into that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Absolutely.

         16                 MR. DECANIO:  One of the questions

         17  was, I don't really understand why the 5 percent

         18  makes a difference?  Again, I am only speaking for

         19  television.  I am head of television, whether it be

         20  network, syndication, cable, what have you.  So I am

         21  talking everything but features.

         22                 In a normal hour show, and I think I

         23  can kill two birds with one stone here, because one

         24  of the issues came from, I think, Council Member

         25  Felder, and why has it changed, why when Giuliani
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          2  was here, and I don't really know if it has or not,

          3  but I know why the stakes have gotten so much

          4  higher.  Typically an hour drama will run anywhere

          5  from $2.3 million to $2.7 million.  They fall within

          6  gamma, some a little higher, very rarely a little

          7  bit lower.

          8                 Back in the day, five, six years ago,

          9  the average cost of an hour show was $1.7.  So costs

         10  have come up.

         11                 The networks and people who are

         12  buying this, their license fees are in the tune of

         13  $1.9 million, a little bit higher.

         14                 To make a long story short, studios

         15  deficit anywhere from a half a million to $700,000

         16  an episode.  So in a 12 episode commitment, let's

         17  just use the lower number, a half of a million, that

         18  is basically $6 million that the studio loses.  So

         19  when you ask why does the 5 percent make a

         20  difference?  Those are losses. Unlike features, even

         21  if the show becomes the biggest hit since slice

         22  bread, no one is going to see that for seven, eight,

         23  or nine years down the road.  More than likely we

         24  are in a business where we have to control failure.

         25  And so, the biggest shot here is to put as much
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          2  money on the screen as possible.

          3                 What I want to also go into the

          4  differences.  When you look at a difference between

          5  New York and Los Angeles, when scripts come to me,

          6  there are three places that I budget.  I budget Los

          7  Angeles, Canada, and where I think the show should

          8  be shot, where the show should be shot, is where the

          9  show is, where the show takes place.  There is not a

         10  production person that will come here and say, he

         11  doesn't want to shoot the show where it belongs.

         12  Okay?

         13                 Here is the difference, and here is

         14  the rub.  And let's leave Canada out, let's just

         15  leave Canada out, we all want to shoot in the

         16  states.  When I look at Los Angeles, the average

         17  difference, and these are ballpark numbers, but they

         18  are pretty close, - -  Bless you.  The difference

         19  between shooting a show in Los Angeles and shooting

         20  it in New York is roughly anywhere from $225,000 an

         21  episode to $250,000 an episode.  It is huge.

         22  Coupled with the $6 million that I was talking about

         23  before, that is a pretty penny.  And even when the

         24  show is successful, you don't materialize that,

         25  unlike a feature, where once you have a box office,
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          2  the show can be the best thing one year, unless it

          3  goes for four, five years, the studio will not

          4  recoup its money, forget about profits, won't recoup

          5  it.

          6                 So here is what happens.  In the,

          7  with the 10 percent, which everyone is very, very

          8  grateful for.  Okay, that is roughly, for an hour

          9  show, that is roughly about $130,000 to $150,000 an

         10  episode.  With that additional 5 percent, now we are

         11  in the 200 range, 205 range.  You know what, when

         12  you are sitting here, unlike features, and I will

         13  keep on saying that, because my business is a little

         14  bit different, is we have a pilot, we do a pilot.

         15  We have no other scripts, there are going to be 22

         16  other scripts down the road, I have no idea what

         17  they are going to say.

         18                 When I am in Los Angeles shooting for

         19  New York or any place else, when I first get the

         20  script, I have to sit and go, okay, what do I have

         21  to change.  So everyone wants to be here.

         22                 So with this other 5 percent, what it

         23  allows me now to do, is when I do my normal budgets,

         24  I will look at it and I will budget Los Angeles, I

         25  will budget Toronto, and I will also budget New
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          2  York, everyone wants to shoot New York, it has a

          3  back drop, I forgot who said it also, Mr. Wolf,

          4  whatever, that everyone wants to see.

          5                 The problem is in the television

          6  world our deficits are very, very big, our losses

          7  are very big.  We are in a home run business.  What

          8  our goal is, I always look at it as if you a casino

          9  and you have $100 in your pocket, and you are trying

         10  to spin that wheel as many times as you can.  And

         11  one of the advantages of television is that the

         12  turnover rate is great.  So from a location place,

         13  when one show dies, another one coming right in.

         14                 So these are the key issues.  And I

         15  think, and I firmly believe that with this extra 5

         16  percent it will allow me and my counterparts to say,

         17  you know what, let's not go to New York we cannot

         18  afford to do that, let's change it here.

         19                 Now look, you will get producers, you

         20  will get producers like Dick Wolf, which are

         21  phenomenal, or Mr. Wells, and say, I am shooting

         22  here.  And then what the flip side will be is then

         23  you are cutting "X", "Y", and "Z."  And the goal

         24  here is as much money on the screen, you know, to

         25  put on the screen.
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          2                 The other question that came from

          3  Council Member Sears was, well there is other money.

          4    You bet there is other money that comes in.

          5  Besides the jobs that we count, and if anyone has

          6  been on a set, and I think some of you guys have

          7  been invited to the Law and Order thing, please try

          8  to attend, it will be very, very interesting, if not

          9  fun.  If you have ever been two o'clock in the

         10  morning and there has been a pizza run for 250

         11  pizzas, or 400 Big Macs, you will see that the

         12  vendors, the point is that there is such a huge

         13  amount of money that is thrown.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And we have more

         15  24- hour locations, and the public transportation

         16  system, than anywhere else in the world.

         17                 MR. DECANIO:  And it will be used,

         18  two, three o'clock in the morning.  And this is

         19  basically business that no one else can do.  The

         20  difference is between our business and whether

         21  giving it to construction, or what have you, you

         22  have the initial input of the people in the jobs.

         23  You then have the flow effect of the money that is

         24  spent there.  And then you have people bringing

         25  people in for vacations and so forth.  And this is
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          2  huge.

          3                 I will give another example.  There

          4  was a tax thing that just came in, in Hawaii.

          5  Hawaii, people have been trying to shoot shows in

          6  Hawaii since Hawaii 5- 0, Magnum.  All of a sudden

          7  they put a tax credit, that is pretty much almost

          8  the same as this at the end of the day, there were

          9  productions being shot there. And at the end of the

         10  day, that is what you want.

         11                 And here, we have something that no

         12  one else has, it is New York.  I come from Brooklyn,

         13  I am born and raised here.  I fell in love with the

         14  business.  I had to move.  This is where you want to

         15  be.  Our headquarters, Thirty Rock is here.

         16  Everyone wants to shoot, every producer will want to

         17  shoot here.  It is odd, unless they have kids that

         18  are at a small age, that want to stay here.  Where

         19  the rub has been, it has been from the financial

         20  part.

         21                 And I appreciate the time.  I am

         22  sorry I cut this down, but I think most of the stuff

         23  everyone said, I couldn't add on.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We appreciate

         25  your enthusiasm for New York City, and can we
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          2  convince you to move from LA?

          3                 MR. DECANIO:  You know what, if you

          4  can get the studio here, I will be here, believe me,

          5  my whole family is here, and you can talk to my Dad.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, sounds

          7  good.

          8                 MR. WALBRECHT:  Good morning.  My

          9  name is Michael Walbrecht, and I am Vice- President

         10  of Studio and Production Affairs at Warner Brothers,

         11  and I came from Burbank, California, lovely Burbank.

         12                 I will read a few prepared remarks,

         13  and then certainly take questions, also.

         14                 Almost a dozen jurisdictions in the

         15  US have been production centers in the last two

         16  years, including New Mexico, Louisiana,

         17  Pennsylvania, South Carolina, and of course, you own

         18  state, New York.  These other jurisdictions have

         19  recognized the benefits of attracting film and

         20  television production to the area, and have a

         21  concerted effort to lure back that production from

         22  other places, such as Canada and Australia.

         23                 Production incentives are really the

         24  simplest way to attract new production to a

         25  community.  And a key to successful production
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          2  incentives is that they must be structured in a way

          3  to change the behavior of the producers who are

          4  filming the TV shows and feature films.  If an

          5  incentive is too small, vis- a- vis, other

          6  jurisdictions offering incentives, then it is not

          7  going to change behavior.  If the incentive is too

          8  complicated in its structure, it won't change

          9  behavior.

         10                 Currently, Warner Brothers is working

         11  on two comparative budgets for films that are going

         12  to be considered for New York given the current tax

         13  incentive in the State, at the State level, and the

         14  proposed one here at the City.  And we would not

         15  have considered these two films, if the incentives

         16  were not in place.

         17                 A key to changing behavior is

         18  ensuring that the incentives offered allow for a

         19  favorable budgetary comparison. Although, an exact

         20  parity in cost are not required to tip the scales in

         21  your favor, the incentives realized must efficiently

         22  close the budget gap to allow the intangibles to do

         23  the rest of the work.

         24                 As an illustration, on some numbers

         25  for you.  On one of the feature films we are
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          2  considering for New York, if we were to utilize both

          3  the State and the proposed City credits, we would

          4  save approximately 5 percent off the bottom line of

          5  the budget, so an overall savings of about 5

          6  percent.  That brings that New York budget to within

          7  about 3 percent of the Canada budget that we did for

          8  the same exact film.  With 3 percent the intangibles

          9  then can provide sufficient motivation to make New

         10  York and attractive and viable option.

         11                 Without the City incentives the New

         12  York budget would be closer to 5 percent greater

         13  than the Canadian budget, and the calculus becomes a

         14  little more difficult for New York at that point.

         15                 I believe that the City incentive

         16  coupled with the State incentive will draw more

         17  meaningful production to New York. To gain the

         18  greatest benefit from production a city needs to

         19  attract both the location and the stage work to the

         20  area.  A typical feature film that shoots entirely

         21  in New York, both stage and location, will not only

         22  film more than twice the number of days in the City

         23  than it would have, but will spend on average 30

         24  percent more per day on location than it would have,

         25  if it only shot establishing shots here in the City.
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          2                 The proposed legislation accomplishes

          3  the goal of attracting new and meaningful

          4  production, I think, in the end.  I would urge you

          5  to follow the lead set by the State of New York and

          6  approve the additional 5 percent credit.  The

          7  combination of the two will make New York City one

          8  of the most attractive production destinations in

          9  the US, and it will make New York competitive with

         10  many of the countries that have been so successful

         11  in the last decade in luring production away.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         13  Last, but not least.

         14                 MR. SHAMUS:  Good morning.  My name

         15  is James Shamus. I am a screenwriter and producer

         16  with credits including "Crouch and Tiger, Hidden

         17  Dragon,"  which was not shot in New York City, and

         18  the "Ice Storm," which was.  I am the Co- President

         19  of Focus Features, which is a division of NBC

         20  Universal with a mandate to make independent and

         21  specialized art house films.  Our films include the

         22   "Pianist," "Lost in Translation," and this year,

         23   "Eternal Sunshine of the Spotless Mind," starring

         24  Jim Carey and Kate Winslow.  I am also an Associate

         25  Professor at Columbia University School of the Arts.
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          2                 I am not going to reiterate what I

          3  think you have already heard a great deal about,

          4  which is the incentives that New York City competes

          5  against, along with many of the disincentives, at

          6  least perceived disincentives that New York City

          7  must battle in order to retain any kind of fighting

          8  chance in the film world and the television

          9  production world too.

         10                 I can tell you that we have not

         11  managed Focus features to make a single movie in New

         12  York City since "Eternal Sunshine of the Spotless

         13  Mind."  We made films this past year in Chicago,

         14  where we received an enormous tax rebate from the

         15  city there.  We made films in the UK, where through

         16  sale at least back and other tax incentives, we

         17  received enormous rebates, we made a film in Canada

         18  where we received enormous rebates.  I say enormous

         19  by comparison with what New York State currently has

         20  in place, and by comparison almost sometimes to what

         21  the additional New York City incentive might help

         22  out with.

         23                 That said, I have a producing credit

         24  on over 45 feature films, and almost 30 of those

         25  were shot here in New York City.  I love making
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          2  movies here, the talent loves making movies here.

          3  And today is a very good day for us, as New York

          4  film makers, and at Focus Features, tonight is the

          5  Gotham Awards where the Independent Feature Project

          6  celebrates independent film- making and New York

          7  independent film- making gathers, that Jim Carey and

          8  Kate are going to join us tonight.

          9                 And I have, I just want to share with

         10  you, a page from today's Variety, which is about

         11  Sunshine.  It says, "Pic Turns New York into

         12  Sunshine State," and it talks at great length about

         13  why we love making movies here, and why the best

         14  film- makers in the world want to make movies here.

         15  And it has a map of New York and New York City,

         16  which shows all the locations and how we use them.

         17  It is a fantastic piece that really trumpets what

         18  you can do in New York City like you can do nowhere

         19  else.

         20                 That said, my main point is, I don't

         21  want to be perceived, nor do my colleagues at Focus

         22  as some kind of heroes just for the fact that we

         23  made a movie in New York City.  We would rather be

         24  just one of a large herd of professionals doing our

         25  job. And in order to become a large heard of

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  professionals doing our jobs, we are going to need

          3  some assistance, and we hope you consider this

          4  legislation carefully and supportively.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Shamus.  I am just going to ask one question

          8  generically to the group, and you can decide who to

          9  answer, and I know that it is not an exact science,

         10  and it is estimates and anecdotal evidence.  But,

         11  assuming, if we were to adopt this 5 percent

         12  relatively quickly, how many new films or TV shows

         13  do you think would be filmed in New York City versus

         14  other locations?

         15                 MR. BRUBAKER:  Well I can tell you

         16  that I have two right now, two features that would

         17  start here in February, if we were able to get the 5

         18  percent.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well that is a

         20  good answer.

         21                 MR. DECANIO:  I think what it allows,

         22  because I have a development slate, I also have

         23  pilot.  What it allows, because it is hard to give a

         24  science and say X or Y, but what it allows, it

         25  allows to be part of the game, where it would not be
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          2  considered before.

          3                 I have a pilot, it is 70s period

          4  piece New York, that I didn't think I could do here.

          5    Now I am going to sit and start banging it in to

          6  see with this extra 5 percent, if I can get there.

          7  I want to shoot it here, the producers want to shoot

          8  it here.

          9                 To give a number, all I can say is

         10  right now what is happening, and I think Mr. Wolf

         11  said it, right now all the pictures are being made

         12  to do pilots.  And the pictures are, there are

         13  roughly maybe 1,000 pictures that just our studio

         14  gets, this is NBC, and you can double it.  Out of

         15  those there are probably a couple of hundred scripts

         16  that get written.  Here is where the ideas come in.

         17                 One of the things I would like to do,

         18  for the one that said, hey, we have got to be

         19  careful with New York.  Hey, put New York in the

         20  mix.  And that is what you want, you want to be. And

         21  the only thing that I can say in defense of this,

         22  Hawaii put in theirs.  Okay?  And they haven't, they

         23  had no shows there since Magnum, Hawaii 5- 0, there

         24  were four hit shows there, I'm sorry, four shows,

         25  one huge hit show, unfortunately, not mine.  But the
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          2  proof is there.  New Orleans did the same thing, and

          3  there are so many shows that are shooting there,

          4  there is not enough crew to fill, and they are

          5  bringing crew from Los Angeles.

          6                 So I think that is the proof.  It is

          7  hard, no one can come here and say, you will get

          8  two, you will get three.  Do I think you will get

          9  some?  Yes.  It would not be fair for me to say how

         10  many.  But there is proof that it does.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I appreciate it.

         12                 MR. WALBRECHT:  I would add that

         13  Warner Brothers is looking at two feature films that

         14  would film in New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, so we have

         16  got two from you, two from you, how many do you got

         17  to add to the table.                         MR.

         18  SOCRATES:  I will got three.

         19                 MR. SHAMUS:  Depending on whether - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Great, we have

         21  three and two, that is five.

         22                 MR. SHAMUS:  Well we are cheap, so it

         23  depends on whether some stars cut their prices.  I

         24  have three budgets already prepared for Toronto that

         25  are New York- based stories - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We have got

          3  eight now.

          4                 MR. DECANIO:  And just for the

          5  record, that the difference between television and

          6  features, that is why it is so important.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, I'm

          8  convinced.  Thank you.  Okay, a couple of quick

          9  questions.  Council Member Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Just one

         11  question very quickly.  I hear New Jersey a lot, and

         12  have you used any of the New Jersey studios for any?

         13    But you have.

         14                 MR. SHAMUS:  Yes, we shot a piece of

         15   "Eternal," in Bayonne, for example.  But that was

         16  before the new inputs in terms of studio

         17  infrastructure that have gone into New York City.

         18  We also shot extensively in make shift studios in

         19  Yonkers.  We are dealing with the independent side

         20  of the business, so we can make due where others may

         21  not be able to, so we are always finding nooks and

         22  crannies.  But yes, we shoot in studios wherever we

         23  can find it around the New York area.  We carry

         24  lighter loads than some of the studio films.  And

         25  now the bigger studio films really will have the
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          2  chance to shoot here in New York City with studio

          3  facilities.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  In addition to

          5  the lower costs, are there incentives?  Now when I

          6  say the lower costs I am talking about what the

          7  bottom line may be, but are there incentives from

          8  New Jersey to lure you over there to do this

          9  business?

         10                 MR. SHAMUS:  The only incentive that

         11  New Jersey poses to us is that it is near New York.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.

         13                 MR. WALBRECHT:  You know, there was a

         14   - -

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I opened up a

         16  whole Pandora Box here.  All of you can answer.

         17                 MR. WALBRECHT:  There was a movie

         18  that we made called, "Honey," and it was originally

         19  supposed to be made in New York, totally.

         20  Unfortunately, we had to go to Canada, and then we

         21  had to do five days of exteriors in New York.  If

         22  this would have been in place, we would have been

         23  able to do that movie, all, here in New York.  The

         24  same as "Cinderellaman," which was one of the

         25  biggest movies made this year, in Canada, which
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          2  started in New York, which was set up here in New

          3  York, which then, when the budget came in, we had to

          4  move to Canada.  They shot a week of exteriors in

          5  New York because it was main in the 1924 and the

          6  history of a famous boxer during the Depression Era.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I think one of

          8  our big problems is that you may use some of the

          9  streets to film, and then you go out of the City.

         10                 MR. WALBRECHT:  But if we had that 5

         11  percent, that would make the difference where we

         12  could stay here and make a movie complete, and we

         13  wouldn't have to go somewhere else.

         14                 MR. DECANIO:  Nobody wants to.  We

         15  shot "Ed" in New Jersey, which lasted for three

         16  years.  That was a co- adventure between NBC and

         17  Viacom.  I would have definitely shot it here,  I

         18  would have shot it in here.

         19                 To answer your question, no

         20  production company wants to move.  Think of it as a

         21  family vacation, getting your whole family, no,

         22  family vacation with your in- laws, and you have to

         23  get everyone all together and put them in one place,

         24  and move them across the street.  So even when you

         25  move across the street, it is really bad.  So
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          2  everybody, when you look at the alternatives, yes,

          3  is it worth two days here without this incentive as

          4  opposed to, you know, as opposed to staying here,

          5  without a doubt.  But with tax incentive you would

          6  shoot it all here.

          7                 And that is where the money is,

          8  coming two days, we did a pilot two years ago,

          9   "EDNY".  I tried very hard to get it done here, I

         10  just couldn't afford it.  We shot it, we shot it in

         11  Montreal, we came here for two days.

         12                 I believe that with the 5 percent,

         13  that stops that.

         14                 MR. BRUBAKER:  And also, the

         15   "Interpreter," which was shot here 100 percent,

         16  which was a huge budget movie, because of the

         17  director and his clout, was able to shoot at the UN.

         18    And that film was much more expensive here in New

         19  York than it was to do in Canada, which we had

         20  already scouted Canada, picked the locations in

         21  Canada, and Sidney was able to talk the studio to

         22  shooting it all here in New York.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Mr. Chair, can

         24  I just make a point on that, I don't want to ask a

         25  question, I just want a point of clarification.  Is
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          2  that a key component of this legislation and this

          3  incentive, you would only be able to get it if you

          4  did 75 percent of your shooting here in New York.

          5                 MR. BRUBAKER:  That is not a problem.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Right, I know,

          7  you know this, I just want to make the point clear

          8  for the entire Committee and for the record, that

          9  you couldn't just fly in and do a street scene, do

         10  an exterior, and then fly back to Toronto to do your

         11  interiors.  And I think that that is a key component

         12  of it.

         13                 And I am pleased to hear all the

         14  testimony of people who actually do want to shoot

         15  New York for the various reasons. But I think what

         16  we are hearing is, you know, we shouldn't have to

         17  rely on a big name star, or a big director to put

         18  his foot down or her foot down and demand to shoot

         19  New York.  What we have to do is take steps to make

         20  ourselves competitive, vis- a- vis, with other

         21  states, and Canada, frankly, to bring those right

         22  here at home.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 MR. DECANIO:  Can I just comment one

         25  thing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Briefly, because

          3  we have to move on, but go ahead.

          4                 MR. DECANIO:  You really cannot rely

          5  on the big name people any more.  At least for the

          6  television, maybe for features, but not for

          7  television.  As I have said, the cost have gone up

          8  so much, the success rate is so low, that with a big

          9  name person will have to sacrifice to do it here.

         10  And whenever you talk about projects, we talk about

         11  projects, this is their babies, this is what their

         12  creation is.

         13                 So when you say, okay, great, but you

         14  are going to lose X.  So I think relying, I think

         15  Dick Wolf was exactly right, you cannot rely on that

         16  anymore because it will be way smaller than what you

         17  have now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, gentleman,

         19  thank you for coming.  We have been joined by

         20  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan.

         21                 We are going to have a panel of union

         22  executives, John Amman from IATSE, John Fundus from

         23  IATSE, Russ Hollander from DGA, Mike Hodge from SAG,

         24  and Ed Frying from AFTRA, if you could come up.

         25                 And we have been joined by Council

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  Member Dennis Gallagher from Queens.

          3                 Okay, if you could just identify your

          4  names and identification for the record.  And I

          5  repeat, the light has to be off to be heard.

          6                 MR. HOLLANDER:  I am Russ Hollander

          7  from the Directors Guild of America.

          8                 MR. AMMAN:  My name is John Amman.  I

          9  am a Business Agent with International Cinema

         10  Photographers, Local 600.

         11                 MR. HODGE:  And I am Mike Hodge of

         12  the Screen Actors Guild.

         13                 MR. FRY:  My name is Ed Fry.  I am a

         14  Vice- President of the New York Local of AFTRA,

         15  National Board Member of the Legislative and Public

         16  Affairs Committee, and I am a working actor.

         17                 MR. O'DONNELL:  My name is Tom

         18  O'Donnell.  I am Secretary and Treasurer of

         19  Theatrical Teams, Local 817.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, and

         21  sneaking in.

         22                 MR. FUNDUS:  John Fundus, Local 52,

         23  IATSE, Vice President.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, proceed.

         25                 MR. AMMAN:  First, I would like to
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          2  thank Chairman Weprin and the members of the Finance

          3  Committee for holding these hearings on Intro. 454-

          4  A, and for allowing our unions to testify.

          5                 The unions that sit before you today

          6  represent the bulk of the talent and craftpersons

          7  who work in New York City's film and TV industry.

          8  We are not boasting when we say that we represent

          9  the finest performers, directors and crewpersons in

         10  our industry.  We know this, because the studios and

         11  production companies that employ them tell us so.

         12  We are proud of our members, not simply the star

         13  performers and directors who are household names,

         14  but also of the supporting actors, the grips, the

         15  electricians, camera operators, and teamster

         16  drivers, and all of the men and women whose efforts

         17  are essential to the production of New York City-

         18  based feature films and TV series.

         19                 It is important to note that

         20  employment in the film and television industry is

         21  largely blue collar in nature, and the vast number

         22  of persons employed on these productions work behind

         23  the camera.  For example, the locals of the

         24  International Alliance of Theatrical Stage

         25  Employees, the union that Local 52 and Local 600 are
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          2  a part of, collectively represents the armies of

          3  crew persons form cinematographers to production

          4  accountants and gaffers to wardrobe assistants on

          5  these productions.  We are the reason why film

          6  credits are so long at the end of movies and we are

          7  very proud of it.

          8                 The jobs that the industry provides

          9  are well paying when compared to other sectors of

         10  the US economy, and our union agreements provide

         11  workers with pensions and health insurance. However,

         12  work in our industry is freelance and project based,

         13  and workers both above and below the line must work

         14  a minimum number of days or hours to qualify for the

         15  benefit plans.  The health of our members and the

         16  industry in New York is based upon the amount of

         17  production that is going on at any given time.  The

         18  equation is simple, the more feature and TV

         19  production that we have in the city, the more

         20  employment New Yorkers have in the industry.

         21                 For the past decade we have seen

         22  projects with scripts based in New York City

         23  produced outside the United States and in other

         24  parts of the country.  And for many years all of our

         25  unions have made adjustments to our agreements to
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          2  make our labor more competitive with those other

          3  markets.  We work with production companies in a

          4  cooperative fashion to help them keep their

          5  productions in New York, but our efforts can only go

          6  so far.  Other countries, and now other states, have

          7  developed tax incentive programs, which we cannot

          8  compete with as unions.  We have come here to ask

          9  for your help.

         10                 All of our unions support Intro. 454-

         11  A because it provides the type of tax incentive

         12  program that we believe will increase production in

         13  our City.  Combined with the Empire State Film

         14  Initiative, that was passed in Albany in August,

         15  Intro. 454- A will provide enough of an incentive

         16  for film and TV studios to make New York City

         17  competitive.  Its a requirement that productions do

         18  a minimum of 75 percent of their stage on a

         19  qualified New York City facility ensures that only

         20  productions that are committed to shoot all or the

         21  majority of their projects in New York can qualify.

         22                 We urge you to act quickly on this

         23  legislation. Already the major studios and TV

         24  Networks are making their decisions on where to

         25  shoot their 2005 productions.  By passing this
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          2  legislation by the end of the year you will ensure

          3  that more feature and TV productions will be shot in

          4  New York City.

          5                 I would like to hand it over to Russ

          6  Hollander from the DGA.

          7                 MR. HOLLANDER:  Chairman Weprin and

          8  members of the Finance Committee, thank you for

          9  inviting me to appear before you today, to discuss

         10  the proposed tax incentives to promote film and

         11  television production in New York City.

         12                 The Directors Guild represents

         13  directors and members of the directorial team who

         14  work in feature film, television, commercials,

         15  documentaries, news, and sports.  The Directors

         16  Guild mission is to protect the creative and

         17  economic rights of directors and the remainder of

         18  the directorial team working to advance our artistic

         19  freedom, and to ensure fair compensation for our

         20  work.

         21                 Presently, the Directors Guild has

         22  over 3,000 members who live and work in the five

         23  boroughs.  I am here to express the Guild's

         24  enthusiastic support for the proposed tax

         25  incentives.
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          2                 While we at the Directors Guild are

          3  keenly aware that film is an art form, we do not

          4  overlook its value as commerce. The film industry

          5  represents a kind of industry that every country and

          6  every state wants, an environmentally clean industry

          7  with union jobs that offer health and pension

          8  benefits.  Our industry has an enormous impact on

          9  City revenues, not just through production costs,

         10  but also through the small businesses and others who

         11  gain from our presence, from hotels to dry cleaners,

         12  to restaurants, to a host of other vendors.  In

         13  other words this is an industry that is about jobs

         14  and economic development.  We are an engine that

         15  drives other industries in this city.

         16                 As you know by now, domestic film and

         17  television production has declined substantially in

         18  the past decade, in large part due to incentives

         19  offered by foreign countries, not just Canada, but

         20  also Eastern Europe, the Eastern European countries,

         21  South Africa, Australia, all in an attempt to lure

         22  domestic production, and New York City has borne the

         23  brunt of this decline. The number of days of

         24  location shooting on feature films, television,

         25  commercials and music videos, for instance, has

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  declined by more than 50 percent from 23,000 shoot

          3  days in 2000 to only 11,600 shoot days in 2002.

          4  While production has increased in 2003 and 2004, we

          5  are nowhere near the film and television production

          6  that previously existed in the City.

          7                 Most of the production has shifted to

          8  Canada and Eastern Europe where foreign governments

          9  provide substantial subsidies to lure film and

         10  television production.  Despite the heroic efforts

         11  of the City and State Film commissioners, New York

         12  lost three feature films to Canada in the latter

         13  part of 2003 alone.  All three of these pictures are

         14  set in New York.  Human Stain, a film written for

         15  New York with an estimated budget of approximately

         16  $26 million, was shot in Montreal.  Noel, another

         17  film set in New York that had planned to shoot in

         18  New York, made the decision to shoot in Montreal

         19  shortly before production began. The company felt

         20  compelled to shoot in Montreal solely for economic

         21  reasons.  Finally, "Cinderellaman," a universal

         22  production with a projected below- the- line budget

         23  that would have exceeded 36 million dollars if shot

         24  in New York, was shot in Toronto.

         25                 Films that do shoot in New York City,
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          2  moreover, now limit their actual New York shooting

          3  days to establishing shots and/or exterior location

          4  shots.  These projects do the majority of their

          5  shooting on stages outside the United States.  For

          6  example, "How to Lose a Guy in 10 Days," involved 56

          7  days of shooting, of which only 16 occurred in New

          8  York.  New York City lost $11 million to Canada on

          9  this film alone.  And New York Minute, another film

         10  set in this city, had 22 weeks of preparation in

         11  Toronto, 37 Canadian shoot days, and eight location

         12  days in New York City. "Bad Apple" and "Vapor" were

         13  similarly shot primarily in Canada.

         14                 In response to this growing problem

         15  of runaway production, the Directors Guild work

         16  closely with an alliance of producers, unions, and

         17  entertainment industry vendors in support of federal

         18  legislation to combat runaway production.  Recently,

         19  this alliance exceeded in obtaining passage of a

         20  federal tax incentive for film production as part of

         21  the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which was

         22  signed into law on October 22nd.             But

         23  these federal incentives, by themselves, will not

         24  fully level the playing filed.  Aware of this fact,

         25  states such as Illinois, Louisiana, New Mexico, New
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          2  Jersey, Florida, Mississippi, Hawaii, the South

          3  Carolina, and now New York State have enacted

          4  incentive programs to attract film production.  The

          5  positive impact to New Mexico, Louisiana, and

          6  Illinois has already been felt.  Louisiana's film

          7  revenue went from $20 million to $200 million in

          8  just one year.  New projects are now being put on

          9  hold in Louisiana because they do not have the

         10  sufficient crews to meet demand.  Illinois' film

         11  production increased over 140 percent since its

         12  legislation took effect earlier this year.  There

         13  are at least seven other states working to pass tax

         14  incentive legislation this year so they can reap

         15  these benefits for their local economies.

         16                 We know that producers would rather

         17  shoot films that are set in New York here in New

         18  York, because New York has a talent base, the

         19  infrastructure, and the real locations.  But the

         20  bottom line for producers remains an economic one.

         21  Increasingly, our director members report to us the

         22  problems they face in getting the go ahead to shoot

         23  films set in New York here in New York City. Even

         24  though the most prominent directors have difficulty

         25  persuading the studios, who would rather shoot here,
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          2  to do so.  They regularly advise us that incentives

          3  are essential if they are to succeed in getting

          4  their film shot in New York in the future.  And we

          5  know that the incentives work.

          6                 After New York State passed this law,

          7  for instance, a major studio immediately made the

          8  decision to keep a TV series in the City instead of

          9  going to Canada.  And we all know that the remake of

         10   "The Producers," will be shot here in New York.

         11  That is thousands of jobs, and hundreds of millions

         12  of dollars.

         13                 Second only to California, New York

         14  is the epicenter of this industry.  Just last week,

         15  there were seven TV shows and five feature films

         16  shooting in New York.  Sixty- one percent of the DJA

         17  covered positions of those jobs went to people who

         18  live in New York City.  We cannot afford to become a

         19  minor player in this global stage.  While the

         20  recently enacted State legislation is a key step

         21  forward in keeping production here, the additional

         22  incentive that is now being considered by City

         23  Council is critical to restore film and television

         24  production to the levels that we have long and

         25  deservedly enjoyed.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. FRY:  Thank you.  The American

          5  Federation of Television and Radio Artists, (AFTRA),

          6  representing approximately 80,000 performers and

          7  broadcast professionals in television, radio, and

          8  the recording industry nationwide, and 12,500

          9  members within the five boroughs of New York City,

         10  supports the immediate adoption of this measure.

         11                 For the 80 percent of AFTRA's, us,

         12  who work as freelance performers in television, this

         13  legislation is about jobs. Real professional

         14  opportunities with real paychecks that would help us

         15  to qualify for our health care benefits and our

         16  retirement benefits.  Let me give you an example of

         17  the diversity of AFTRA shows, and their jobs,

         18  recently produced under AFTRA contracts in New York

         19  City.

         20                 Rescue Me, a cable TV series,

         21  currently shooting in all five boroughs in New York,

         22  produced by Fox and Denis Leary for FX.

         23                 In the first season of production in

         24  New York City, Rescue Me has produced 1,252 jobs for

         25  our members as stars, featured actors, day players
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          2  and background actors, which are a category in this

          3  measure as a qualified expense.

          4                 Spike Lee's Miracle's Boys, and

          5  initial production of six half- hour episodes,

          6  produced by RCN and TANYA Lee, for Nickelodeon/Nick

          7  at Night.

          8                 Shot entirely on location in Harlem,

          9  Miracle's Boys provided 123 acting jobs for our

         10  members.

         11                 100 Centre Street, a cable TV series,

         12  created by Sidney Lumet for A&E.

         13                 For the 18 one- hour episodes shot in

         14  Long Island City and on locations in all five

         15  boroughs, 100 Centre Street produced 4,817 jobs for

         16  our members at all levels of performance.

         17                 Cable television is a growth

         18  industry.  Increased broadcast and cable TV

         19  production in this city made possible by the

         20  assistance of this measure would have an immediate,

         21  positive impact on our members employment and

         22  income.

         23                 And, while we are only talking about

         24  film and television production today, as a working

         25  actor without a day job, I might add, I can tell you
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          2  that one job in film or TV show is rarely sufficient

          3  for making our living.  A typical pattern of

          4  employment for actors in New York is work in all

          5  sectors of arts and entertainment.  Film and

          6  television work, supplemented by vitally needed

          7  employment in TV and radio commercials, and

          8  commercials voice- overs, areas that are not covered

          9  in this legislation, allows us to sharpen our skills

         10  in creatively challenging experimental and low

         11  budget films, work in off and off off- Broadway

         12  shows, and hopefully, in the long running, full- out

         13  Broadway show.  Actors need all pieces of this

         14  puzzle.  Supporting film and television work for

         15  actors supports the vitality of all these other

         16  pieces, including Broadway and of- Broadway, which

         17  are at the heart of the multi- billion dollar

         18  tourist industry, which is significant to the health

         19  of the New York City economy.

         20                 We are an excellent investment for

         21  this city.  The jobs that come from this measure, a

         22  couple of which I hope will be mine and Mike's too,

         23  we don't read for the same stuff, so, yes, for both

         24  of us, I am hoping that we will see some of these

         25  jobs out of these new shows.  And I want to remind
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          2  about the value of reinforcing the professional

          3  experience and the excellence of New York City's

          4  talent pool, which is so important to the City's

          5  attractiveness as a place to produce.  These are two

          6  excellent reasons to support this measure.

          7                 On behalf of my fellow performers in

          8  both AFTRA and SAG, thank you for allowing me to

          9  speak to you today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         11                 MR. HODGE: Good Morning, Chairman

         12  Weprin and distinguished Council members.  Thank you

         13  for allowing me to testify.  Thanks also to Council

         14  members who are sponsoring this bill 454- A.  We

         15  also want to acknowledge Speaker Miller and

         16  Councilman Gioia who demonstrated their support of

         17  the entertainment industry through funding of a

         18  study the Screen Actors Guild has spearheaded to

         19  examine the impact of runaway production on New

         20  York's economy.

         21                 My name is Mike Hodge.  Oh, by the

         22  way, I would also like to acknowledge my Councilman,

         23  Councilman Jackson, I live in Harlem.  My name is

         24  Mike Hodge, and I am an actor.  A middle- class

         25  working actor, hopefully.  I would like to thank Mr.
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          2  Wolf, who pays my mortgage a couple of times a year.

          3    I auditioned last - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  That is why I

          5  put him on first.

          6                 MR. HODGE:  Right.  I auditioned last

          7  week for Johnny Zero, that was a wonderful feeling

          8  to know that there was something new to come after.

          9  Because as Mr. Fry said, we cobble our livelihoods

         10  together with freelance work, and if the work isn't

         11  there, it is what do you do.

         12                 I would also like to mention that I

         13  am National Board Member of the Screen Actors Guild,

         14  and the National Vice Chair of the Ethnic Employment

         15  Opportunity Committee of that organization.

         16                 Now the Screen Actors Guild

         17  represents 100,000 members nationally with

         18  approximately 25,000 holding membership in its New

         19  York Division.  And approximately 60 percent of that

         20  number lives in the five boroughs.  We represent

         21  principal actors working in film, television,

         22  commercials, industrials, music videos and more; as

         23  well as background performers, or otherwise known as

         24  extras.  We represent Stunt Performers, Dancers,

         25  Singers and Child actors in all of these media.
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          2                 The Screen Actors Guild joins the

          3  entertainment industry in support of 454- A because

          4  we believe this bill has the potential to create

          5  good jobs for our membership in every income

          6  bracket.  It targets production with specific

          7  requirements for producers to film the majority of

          8  their project on site, which means that people like

          9  me; your average, middle- income player, as well as

         10  our most vulnerable segment, the background

         11  performer, will have more opportunities to work.

         12                 One large film that shoots here in

         13  the City can generate a hundred supporting parts and

         14  literally thousands of background jobs.  But when

         15  producers fleeting to Canada or other environs, we

         16  all lose out, especially New York City.  The impact

         17  of 9/11 has only worsened the situation.

         18                 Our data shows that the earnings of

         19  our New York members are just now catching up to

         20  pre- 9/11 income levels.  Since 2001, our percentage

         21  of annual earnings has dropped 3 percent, while

         22  members' earnings elsewhere in the country have

         23  picked up the slack.  The industry is growing, but

         24  the job growth stagnates because the roles are being

         25  outsourced across the globe.  That is why state
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          2  after state is recognizing the economic importance

          3  of this industry.  And if they don't already provide

          4  incentives, these states are rushing to get

          5  legislation on the books to lure this movable,

          6  economic feast.  New York State is finally joining

          7  the competition, and New York City, as the second

          8  largest, major, media center in the country, stands

          9  to gain the most by supporting such an incentive.

         10  We also stand to lose the most, if we don't act.

         11                 When I came to New York 20 years ago,

         12  I was often the only person of color on the set.

         13  Luckily that has changed.  At this point

         14  approximately 20 percent of our membership in New

         15  York belongs to an ethnic group with 11 percent

         16  being African- American, 5 percent Latino, and the

         17  remainder Asian and Native American.

         18                 Our performer unions have a strong

         19  and proud commitment to diversity and affirmative

         20  action, with fully staffed departments, as well as a

         21  variety of programs created through our efforts at

         22  the bargaining table with producers.  Together with

         23  AFTRA, we have collaborated on such projects as:

         24  NBC Comedy Showcase, ABC Diversity Showcases that

         25  feature actors of color and/or with disabilities who
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          2  perform for an audience of industry employers.  We

          3  host film screening series with predominantly ethnic

          4  cast, directors and/or producers.  And there are

          5  other union initiatives for people with disabilities

          6  and ethnic diversity.  The union remains at the

          7  forefront of ensuring that the American scene is

          8  represented on the screen.

          9                 In 2003 versus 2002, the percentage

         10  of roles that went to performers of color decreased

         11  from 24 percent to 23 percent.  In our opinion most

         12  of the share of losses we see for ethnic performers

         13  results from runaway production and unfortunately

         14  reality TV.

         15                 Evidence that incentives will attract

         16  production and provide work opportunities for ethnic

         17  performers can be found in the new Fox television

         18  show, "Johnny Zero."  The cast includes lead

         19  performers who are Latino, Pakistani, and African-

         20  American.  It stands to reason that the additional

         21  New York City Tax Credit could markedly increase the

         22  opportunities to meet the City's diversity goals.

         23  More specifically, it will attract union jobs,

         24  bringing with it the opportunity for more of our

         25  members to qualify for the increasingly, difficult
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          2  to attain, health insurance and pension vesting, as

          3  well as support the many union initiatives developed

          4  to empower our diverse membership.

          5                 I would like to submit for the

          6  written record a letter supporting Intro. 454- A

          7  form the non- profit New York- based national

          8  organization, the Nontraditional Casting Project

          9  whose goal is to encourage diverse casting policies.

         10    They note that of the 3,625 actors on file with

         11  the project, 45 percent represent actors living in

         12  the five boroughs of New York City.  And of the 258

         13  film and television consultations requested over the

         14  last year, 85 percent were for New York.  They

         15  conclude that if more work were available here,

         16  there is every indication that this would positively

         17  the hiring of the diverse talent pool that is based

         18  throughout New York.

         19                 I was 30- years- old when I started

         20  my career, because as a kid growing up in West

         21  Virginia, the only person I knew in the business,

         22  who looked like me was Sidney Pointier.  And I

         23  figured he must be very special and unique - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  He doesn't look

         25  anything like you.
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          2                 MR. HODGE:  Well, as a kid, it's like

          3  I couldn't see anybody who had my skin color, so,

          4  you know.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  He is better

          6  looking, is that your point? Yes.

          7                 MR. HODGE:  Yes, absolutely.  And

          8  while he is a very special man, I discovered that I

          9  have something to offer this industry too.  And all

         10  I needed was the opportunity.  I believe that with

         11  your support New York City cannot only protect and

         12  grow this valuable job- rich industry, but can

         13  provide more opportunities for a richly diverse

         14  workforce.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  Did

         17  everybody speak that wants to speak?  Okay.  Thank

         18  you very much.  We certainly, at the City Council,

         19  consider New York jobs very important, and we

         20  appreciate your very thoughtful comments, and

         21  certainly, we will weigh them very heavily, as we

         22  consider adopting this legislation.

         23                 Any of my colleagues have any

         24  questions?  Council Member James.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I would just
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          2  like to know from each of the panelists, what

          3  proportion of your membership represent people of

          4  color?

          5                 MR. FUNDUS:  Within my Guild, we

          6  think it is about, because we haven't been keeping

          7  exact numbers on this, it is roughly 10 to 12

          8  percent.  Our numbers are not as high as obviously

          9  as we want them to be.  And I want to tell you a bit

         10  about what I have been doing about that.

         11                 First, let me illustrated something,

         12  most people when they look at the film industry know

         13  what film directors are, performers, actors,

         14  writers.  They don't know what visual effect

         15  supervisors are, film loaders, camera assistants,

         16  digital engine technicians.  Now those are

         17  categories, they are some of the categories that

         18  might Guild represents.  What I have been doing is

         19  going out to some of the film schools, universities,

         20  trying to hit some of the high schools to explain to

         21  people how our industry works.

         22                 More recently I have been in

         23  conversations with Sylvian Canard, who now heads the

         24  Film Program at Medgar Evers College.  She and I are

         25  working out, she wants to get me involved, and I am
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          2  very enthusiastic about this, about a program to

          3  help her students understand how to get into the

          4  industry.  Because one of the issues that I see, and

          5  I have been representing people on my Guild for a

          6  little over 14 years, getting into this industry is

          7  a matter of, obviously, having certain skills, but

          8  being able to network, understanding how does this

          9  industry operate.

         10                 What I want to do is to help provide

         11  that information to people in her program and then

         12  any other program that is out there.  I am

         13  enthusiastic about any efforts in that area to help

         14  us with that, because I think that is what is key.

         15  I don't think that, for example, our Guilds don't

         16  operate in the hiring hall system, we don't tell

         17  employers who to hire, we don't set up any kind of

         18  restrictions in that.  In fact, within the IATSE,

         19  our membership has been growing over the years, and

         20  that has included new members that are African-

         21  American, that are Hispanic, that are women, and we

         22  have seen this day- to- day, and we are, obviously,

         23  very proud of that.

         24                 But again, I think that for us to be

         25  even more effective in bringing people into the
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          2  industry, we have to help them understand how does

          3  this work, and we have to be there to help them

          4  along the way.

          5                 MR. HODGE:  I would like to, I

          6  mentioned that 20 percent of our membership is

          7  ethnically diverse.  But I also would like to

          8  address the issue that a gentleman here brought up.

          9  One of the things that is very, very difficult, the

         10  business, in general, is difficult.  You get taught

         11  in theater school how to be an actor, you don't get

         12  talk how to take care of your business as an actor.

         13                 I do a little bit of mentoring here

         14  and there, and before I was an actor, I was a

         15  journalist and I did public relations, and I

         16  discovered that the public relations end helped me

         17  tremendously.  One of the reasons the struggle in

         18  this business, in general, is that people don't

         19  quite know how to sell themselves. And one of the

         20  things that we are working on here in SAG is to try

         21  to help actors learn how to do that.

         22                 And there is also an initiative that

         23  I would like introduce with the writers and

         24  directors too, because often there is a discussion

         25  that we don't know how to write for it, sometimes it
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          2  is an issue, sometimes it really isn't.

          3                 And then there are casting directors.

          4    I have been very fortunate to, on occasion, a show

          5  that I did that was initially going to be all white,

          6  the casting director insisted that in this day and

          7  age it should not be an all white cast.  So he kept

          8  bringing in people of color to be seen for various

          9  roles.  And I fortunately got cast in one of those

         10  roles, and it was an ongoing role for a couple of

         11  years, which is a good thing.  But a lot of it is,

         12  is just simply either getting people to think about

         13  it, because it is generally a benign issue.  And

         14  being able to sell to yourself and believe that you

         15  are the one for the job.

         16                 MR. FRY:  Can I just say something

         17  quickly? Councilwoman, I assume our numbers are

         18  about the same in AFTRA. The truth is we don't track

         19  that new membership application, so I couldn't

         20  really even tell you.  But I can tell you this, the

         21  programs are local and throughout the union

         22  nationwide are designed to make sure that all of our

         23  members are prepared to meet the workforce in the

         24  best shape possible.

         25                 We spend an enormous amount of time
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          2  with the New York local making sure that, for

          3  example, through the Open Door Program, we have

          4  hundreds of minority actors that come in that have

          5  personal interviews with casting directors and with

          6  talent agents, that otherwise would not be able to

          7  get them.  It is through the auspices and the work

          8  of the union, the organization of the union. It is

          9  because the unions contact the day time shows and

         10  make sure that diversity is included as a part of

         11  their casting.  That is why you see some of those

         12  things.

         13                 The unions have and continue to work

         14  hard on this issue.  The question is are there jobs?

         15    We will help to prepare people for jobs, and for

         16  opportunities, the question is are there

         17  opportunities, and that is why we think this bill is

         18  so important. Jobs, are jobs for everybody.

         19                 MR. HODGE:  If I could add one more

         20  thing.  The Diversity Departments of AFTRA and SAG

         21  work pretty much hand- in gloves, so a lot of the

         22  same initiatives, the initiatives that we have are

         23  the initiatives that they have.

         24                 MR. HOLLANDER:  On behalf of the

         25  Directors Guild, let me respond by saying that by
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          2  what we have been focusing on, and we are pretty

          3  proud of what we are doing here, is we are focusing

          4  on jobs for women and people of color.

          5                 Each year we publish a study of the

          6  top 40 prime time programs.  And we track the number

          7  of women and people of color who are hired to direct

          8  those jobs.  And the numbers are not where they

          9  should be.

         10                 We have gone to each studio and met

         11  with the CEOs separately to talk about fixing this

         12  problem.  And we are glad to announce that, at

         13  least, as of now we have had three success stories

         14  out of that.  We have entered into a mentoring

         15  program, there is a John Wells Mentoring Program

         16  that resulted in large part from that effort, which

         17  has two to three paid mentoring positions each TV

         18  season, where someone goes around and learns how to

         19  direct the various shows.

         20                 We have a new program with ABC Touch

         21  Tone Television, where this season there are 20

         22  directing spots that are set aside for women and

         23  people of color, and they will go to 10 people, and

         24  each one will direct two episodes.

         25                 We also have a program with Disney

                                                            142

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  ABC, another fellowship program where they select

          3  three people per year, they get paid $50,000 per

          4  year, and then mentored from January to August of

          5  each year, to give them opportunities to learn how

          6  to direct and get jobs.

          7                 And then we track again, every spring

          8  we track to see how many jobs result.

          9                 We also have programs for assistant

         10  directors.  We have an assistant director training

         11  program in New York where we train six to seven

         12  people for jobs as assistant directors.  Over the

         13  past five years, 48 percent of the trainees selected

         14  into the program were women, 25 percent of the

         15  people selected into the program were ethnic

         16  minorities.

         17                 We believe this is an incredibly

         18  important issue. It is on our national agenda, and

         19  what we want to do is make sure that we translate

         20  opportunities into jobs.  It is not just membership

         21  numbers.  And coming back to this, we think that

         22  this type of legislation is critical up to advancing

         23  work opportunities for women and people of color.

         24  Because in a contracting workforce, people tend to

         25  hire the people they know.  It is when you have new
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          2  jobs and new job opportunities that you are willing

          3  to give someone who you don't know an opportunity.

          4  And so we need to create more jobs, and we think

          5  this is a very, very important step to the way we

          6  approach diversity.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And I believe

          8  this bill will create a significant number of

          9  opportunities.  And this bill, unfortunately, is not

         10  tied to any affirmative action initiative. Because

         11  as you know in the City of New York we do not have

         12  an affirmative action program.

         13                 But on January 17th, the day of

         14  Martin Luther King's birthday, well actually two

         15  days thereafter, the City will announce a study

         16  which is being conducted by Medgar Evers College

         17  where they are going to be issuing a disparity study

         18  of all the industries in the City of New York.

         19                 So as we go forward in the City of

         20  New York, all City contracts will require, we will

         21  have an affirmative action program.  And hopefully

         22  by the time this piece of legislation is passed, it

         23  will have an affirmative action, a component.  I

         24  have been speaking to the sponsor about perhaps

         25  amending this piece of legislation to track the
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          2  number of the people of color and women that are

          3  being hired, and perhaps some language which would

          4  talk about best efforts.

          5                 I don't if, in fact, at the time that

          6  we pass this legislation we can require, not set

          7  aside end or goals, because I don't believe in those

          8  terms.  But a training program, apprenticeship

          9  programs, and some sort of hiring mechanism to hire

         10  locally.

         11                 So I thank you, gentlemen, for your

         12  testimony this morning.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         14  gentlemen.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I'm sorry,

         16  Mr. Chair, can I?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member

         18  Yassky,  one last question or statement.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, I thank

         20  you very much. I just want to say particularly to

         21  Mr. Amman, what your point about the less visible

         22  jobs really struck me.  I would like to work with

         23  you and maybe the other folks here as well, in

         24  reaching out to CUNY and see if we can get them

         25  thinking about how to prepare New Yorkers at CUNY
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          2  for your professions, pretty much the ones that you

          3  represent.  I mean, I think folks come from all over

          4  to be actors. But where we have real opportunities

          5  and where the jobs are that this bill is really

          6  aimed at are the real, well paid, production type of

          7  jobs that you represent.  So, I would like to work

          8  with you on that, and I am sure that that could be

          9  productive.

         10                 I also want to ask just, I think it

         11  would be Mr. Hodge, just for the record, because I

         12  understand that the way, I think it is SAG rules

         13  work, it is wherever a production is shot, or maybe

         14  it would not be, wherever a production is shot,

         15  virtually every body who works in below the line

         16  jobs is going to live in that area.  I guess it

         17  would not be SAG, it would be other union rules, the

         18  Motion Picture Industry.

         19                 MR. HODGE:  Right, right, right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Because if

         21  people come from outside it triggers various sorts

         22  of benefit.

         23                 MR. HODGE:  Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  It triggers

         25  different benefit obligations on the part of the

                                                            146

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  producers.  So, I just want the record to show, and

          3  I want the Council members to understand that when

          4  something is shot here, it doesn't mean that people

          5  come from other parts of the country to do the below

          6  the line work. Those are folks that live right here

          7  in New York City.

          8                 MR. HODGE:  The below the line work,

          9  yes, is done in New York City.  Also though, one of

         10  the problems for me, I am not a star celebrity.  I

         11  am an actor, I guess I am above the line, I never

         12  knew the difference.  Okay.  But a lot of the jobs

         13  that I would do, would also not be hired, unless, -

         14   -  If the job originated in California, they would

         15  do most of that kind of casting in California.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you, that

         17  is an important part that I wanted to make sure it

         18  was on the record.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member

         20  Gioia.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Mr. Chair, I

         22  am going to have to excuse myself to go to a meeting

         23  across, the other side of City Hall, I will try to

         24  get back here before this ends.  But I just want to

         25  thank you, again, for your, really,  extraordinary
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          2  leadership here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you.

          4  And I know we are pressed for time, so I will be

          5  very, very brief.  First, let me just say the two

          6  working actors, thank you for your testimony.  And

          7  let me say I am envious of both of your voices.  As

          8  someone who has to speak in public, I speak too much

          9  from my throat, but you guys, really, great voices.

         10  I am going to ask you for your voice coach number.

         11                 Thank you all very much for coming

         12  down here.  We have heard a number of concerns about

         13  diversity and making sure that the people we hire,

         14  that looks like America and it is appropriately

         15  diverse.  One of the reasons I like this bill so

         16  much is because I really do think it is a way to

         17  grow the economy by investing in a sector that can

         18  really grow right now, whether it is because people

         19  wanting to shoot here and just needed an extra

         20  because, whether it be because there is a weak

         21  dollar right now, so there is a window of

         22  opportunity with Canada.  But as we do make this

         23  investment to grow the industry, I do think it is

         24  important that we make a real commitment to bring

         25  new people into the industry.
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          2                 I think that one of the ways that

          3  begins is by opening up these career ladders for

          4  people who are starting a career in entertainment

          5  industry, meaning people still in high school today.

          6    Is there a training program that we could maybe

          7  commit to or start, where we are showing, I am in

          8  schools almost every week a few times.  And I go out

          9  there to talk to the kids to show them that like

         10  them I grew up in a neighborhood, but look you can

         11  become a lawyer, and become an elected official, and

         12  become a public official, this is a career

         13  opportunity for you.  Little children want to become

         14  doctors or firefighters because that is what they

         15  see, and people where uniforms.  Many of the kids in

         16  my neighborhood, or Tish's neighborhood, they don't

         17  know that this is, not to just become an actor I

         18  mean, but to be involved in this process.  Is there

         19  something we can do to actually go out there and

         20  talk about this, and create a training program?

         21                 MR. FUNDUS:  Yes, we were talking

         22  about just that, and some of the unions have that.

         23  With respect to my Guild, I mentioned earlier that

         24  we are going to be working with Medgar Evers College

         25  on a program very similar to that.  We have been
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          2  doing some outreach with colleges, with high

          3  schools.  Some of that, admittedly, has been on an

          4  ad hoc basis.  Because you know we are union

          5  representatives, we are doing other things.  But we

          6  are sensitive to the issue.  And I say this not

          7  simply because I also live in Brooklyn and my

          8  district is right next to yours, but because we,

          9  ourselves, want to see this diversity as well.

         10                 And to be very frank with you,

         11  Councilwoman James, any efforts to increase the

         12  membership of our Guilds will always be

         13  enthusiastically applauded, we will always work with

         14  you on that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  It is not out

         16  of the question to say we can, rather than do it on

         17  the ad hoc basis, that we can actually come up with

         18  a structured program where we are actually going out

         19  to high schools, and saying, hey, this is what we

         20  do, this a recruitment drive.

         21                 MR. FUNDUS:  Yes.  I think, and

         22  perhaps, we can model something on what we are

         23  trying to do with Medgar Evers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, thank you,

         25  gentlemen. The next witnesses will be Commissioner
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          2  Catherine Oliver from the Mayor's Office of Film,

          3  Theater, and Broadcasting, and Seth Pinkus (sic),

          4  Vice- President of the New York City EDC, Pinsky,

          5  Seth Pinsky, sorry.

          6                 We appreciate your patience.  We

          7  understand that you have waived the Administration

          8  going first, which is often the case, because we had

          9  a number of people that came from far and near, and

         10  we do appreciate that.

         11                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Now you can

         12  hear me.  Well, thank you for having us, thank you,

         13  Chairman Weprin and members of the Finance Committee

         14  for inviting us here today.  We really do welcome

         15  the opportunity to speak with you.

         16                 New York City is home to about

         17  100,000 professionals employed in film and

         18  television production, and more than 4,000

         19  production support businesses service this industry,

         20  and that is including post- production houses,

         21  recording businesses, and musicians.  And

         22  maintaining and growing the production industry is

         23  also very important to a number of ancillary

         24  businesses, lumber companies, hotels, caterers, and

         25  all of the other vendors that service the
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          2  entertainment industry.

          3                 Our agency, Mayor's Office of Film,

          4  Theater, and Broadcasting, it was set up back in

          5  1966, and we have been dedicated to helping

          6  production in New York in a very, helping in an

          7  imaginative and efficient process.  We process over

          8  250 permits weekly and coordinate film and

          9  television shoots with many other city and state

         10  agencies, which include parks, the MTA, the

         11  Department of Transportation, NYPD, and FDNY.  In

         12  fact, we have a 30- member NYPD unit that is

         13  dedicated to our office that is specifically

         14  assigned to facilitate production and ensure that

         15  pedestrian and vehicular safety is paramount.

         16                 As previously noted in what other

         17  people have said today, you know, our main priority

         18  is to support and encourage this industry and make

         19  production in New York as efficient and as friendly

         20  as possible.  And fortunately what we have going in

         21  our favor is the fact that just about everybody

         22  wants to shoot in New York City.  It is a

         23  remarkable, unique place to make a film or a

         24  television show.  But more and more we are hearing

         25  from network and studio executives about the

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  financial challenges that are out there, and you

          3  know becoming, from other states and other countries

          4  becoming more and more competitive.

          5                 This trend can easily be seen in the

          6  number of production shooting days on location in

          7  the City over the past few years.  This number has

          8  declined substantially since 1998, and these

          9  declines translate directly into fewer jobs for New

         10  Yorkers.

         11                 We are working with the State

         12  Legislature and the Governor's Office to clarify the

         13  recently enacted State enabling statute to ensure

         14  that any City credit be available to unincorporated,

         15  as well as incorporated business entities.  We

         16  believe that it is vitally important for us to

         17  reverse the declining trend in the industry right

         18  now, and we think that passing this legislation

         19  would be a crucial step in accomplishing that goal,

         20  but sooner, rather than later.  It is of utmost

         21  importance that the industry executives know what

         22  incentives are available to many of them, because

         23  they are considering now New York City for upcoming

         24  projects, as you have heard this morning.

         25                 We have seen the evidence, every day
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          2  without this program is just another day in which

          3  irreversible  decisions are made and real

          4  opportunities are lost.

          5                 So, again, thank for this opportunity

          6  to speak with you today.  I am going to turn it over

          7  to Seth Pinsky from EDC to present you some specific

          8  information about employment and the fiscal benefits

          9  that we believe the legislation could provide to our

         10  City.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         12  Commissioner.  Mr. Pinsky.

         13                 MR. PINSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         14  members of the Finance Committee.  I am Seth Pinsky.

         15    I am a Vice- President at the EDC.  I welcome the

         16  opportunity to discuss the work that the EDC is

         17  doing in conjunction with the Mayor's Office of

         18  Film, Theater, and Broadcasting.

         19                 As you know, in the State of the City

         20  Speech at Silvercup Studios by the Mayor in January

         21  of this year, the Mayor talked about his commitment

         22  to the film and television production industry in

         23  New York.  Since that time the Administration has

         24  worked very closely with the unions, the City's

         25  major studios, the Governor's Office, and the State
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          2  Senate and Assembly, to encourage the State to enact

          3  the Empire State Film Production Credit.

          4                 This legislation, which was enacted

          5  in August, is a major accomplishment for the

          6  industry and for our city.  It provides over $100

          7  million in State resources over the term of the

          8  legislation to qualifying film and television

          9  productions, the vast majority of which will be made

         10  in the five boroughs.  The State Law is an important

         11  first step in preserving the City's position in this

         12  increasingly competitive industry.  It represents an

         13  achievement that none of us, none of us should

         14  underestimate. However, we know from extensive

         15  research and conversation with industry insiders,

         16  that it is only the first step in an overall

         17  strategy.

         18                 I am here to speak to you about what

         19  we believe this overall strategy should be, so that

         20  together we can ensure that this crucial part of our

         21  economy continues to play the major role that it has

         22  in the past.

         23                 As you are aware, film and television

         24  production is a significant contributor to our

         25  city's economy.  Not only does it generate tens of
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          2  thousands of jobs, and produce billions of dollars

          3  in direct production expenditures, but it also

          4  burnishes the City's international image as one of

          5  the world's leading creative centers. Despite the

          6  importance of this industry to the City, the

          7  competitive environment faced by New York is a

          8  difficult one.  Even with its 12 percent North

          9  American Market Share, the City sees a small

         10  fraction of the production that Los Angeles sees,

         11  attracting far more low margin location work than

         12  studio work.  Unfortunately, many industry trends

         13  are moving against New York.  For example, at the

         14  same time that technology is making the industry

         15  increasingly mobile, New York remains substantially

         16  more expensive than competing jurisdictions, such as

         17  Los Angeles and Canada.  A disadvantage that has

         18  only been accentuated by extremely generous

         19  governmental benefits in many of these locations.

         20                 According to a study by the Boston

         21  Consulting Group, which was commissioned by the EDC,

         22  there are three primary areas that the City must

         23  address to improve its competitive position.  It is

         24  high costs, the availability of premier production

         25  facilities in the City, and the perceived hassle of
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          2  working in the City.

          3                 Over the past year the local

          4  industry, organized labor and the City have taken

          5  concrete steps to begin to improve New York's

          6  standing in some of these areas.  For example, the

          7  Mayor's Film Office has instituted an expanded

          8  concierge service, while the City has continued to

          9  support growth at its major production facilities.

         10                 As important as these steps have been

         11  however, according to the Boston Consulting Group

         12  Study, the most important issue that the City must

         13  address remains, and this is what you have heard

         14  repeatedly today.  Its high costs.

         15                 As previously indicated, the

         16  production industry has received extensive benefits

         17  from governments both in the United States and

         18  abroad.  These benefits have implicitly recognized

         19  the unique characteristics of the industry.  And

         20  this is in response to a point that was made earlier

         21  by Councilman McMahon, these traits include the

         22  following:

         23                 First of all, unlike more traditional

         24  industries, the film and television industry's

         25  location decisions are made anew with each new
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          2  project, increasing its mobility.

          3                 In addition, the industry is also

          4  increasingly mobile thanks to changes in technology.

          5                 The industry is also unique in that

          6  it creates both high paying, blue collar jobs, and

          7  jobs for the creative class.

          8                 The industry often locates in older,

          9  industrial areas helping other revitalize them.

         10                 And finally, the industry generates a

         11  glamour factor, which shouldn't be discounted, as it

         12  attracts new residents and visitors.

         13                 Recognizing both the unique benefits

         14  generated by the industry, as well as its unique

         15  challenges, the State instituted its Empire State

         16  Film Production Credit Program earlier this year.

         17  This program is carefully crafted to encourage stage

         18  work as distinguished from location work.  Though if

         19  certain well define thresholds are met, productions

         20  may also receive benefits in respect of their

         21  location work.  The program has been structured in

         22  this way to help New York capture the sort of

         23  productions that it has traditionally failed to

         24  capture, thereby, generating significant new

         25  employment.
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          2                 Under the State's new program the

          3  maximum benefit offered will equal 10 percent of all

          4  qualified production costs, which as you have heard

          5  already, are essentially costs for property and

          6  services used in productions, excluding costs like

          7  the salaries for stars, directors, and producers.

          8  Based on an analysis by the Mayor's Film Office and

          9  conversations with industry's insiders, the EDC

         10  believes that qualified production costs generally

         11  count for between 40 percent and 70 percent of the

         12  total cost of a production, depending on the type of

         13  production.

         14                 As a result, the State's new program

         15  will result in benefits to most productions equal to

         16  no more than 4 to 7 percent of their total budgets.

         17  Though this will surely help to close the cost gap

         18  between New York and other locations, according to

         19  Boston Consulting Group, to make a real difference

         20  the gap will need to close by between 7 and 10

         21  percent.

         22                 We convene today to discuss the

         23  State's Law, a provision in which allows the City to

         24  opt- in into the State's program, matching 50

         25  percent of the State's benefits to a cap of $12.5

                                                            159

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  million.  If the City exercises this opt- in, the

          3  combined State and City benefit to production would

          4  rise from between 4 and 7 percent of each

          5  productions total budget, to between 6 and 10

          6  percent, that is to within the range cited by Boston

          7  Consulting Group as being meaningful.

          8                 Pursuant to the State Law, if fully

          9  optimized the opt- in would cost the City up to

         10  $12.5 million, but this is on a gross basis.

         11  Because the opt- in would likely result in

         12  substantial increase in productions over what would

         13  otherwise occur without the opt- in, the net cost of

         14  the opt- in, that is taking into account the taxes

         15  generated by new productions, that we forecast the

         16  opt- in would generate, would actually be slightly

         17  positive to the City.

         18                 In addition, and perhaps more

         19  importantly, the new productions generated by the

         20  opt- in would create over 3,000 full time equivalent

         21  jobs per year, with many of these new jobs being

         22  unionized, blue collar employment of the type that

         23  is highly sought after by the City.

         24                 Let me close by reiterating a

         25  corollary of what the Mayor articulated in January.
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          2  The 5 percent opt- in program that you are

          3  considering today represents a great opportunity for

          4  our City.  For a relatively low cost, we believe

          5  that the City will be able to send the message

          6  clearly to this industry, a very important industry

          7  to our City that we are committed to helping it, not

          8  just to survive, but to thrive in the five boroughs.

          9    More importantly, as currently crafted, the

         10  program will allow the City to send this message in

         11  a way that creates thousands of high paying,

         12  desirable jobs for the working people of New York,

         13  while simultaneously generating a net positive

         14  return to our taxpayers.  Time is of the essence.

         15  Acting now will allow the City to reap the many

         16  employment and fiscal benefits that this legislation

         17  offers, benefits that none of should pass up.

         18                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         19  to speak to you today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Pinsky.  I am going to forego my questions, since it

         22  was pretty well covered, and we do appreciate your

         23  input.  And we know your offices are always

         24  available to the Council, and to staff, and we may

         25  be calling on you for some statistics, before we
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          2  adopt the legislation or consider a legislation.

          3  So, we do appreciate that.

          4                 Council Member Jackson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you,

          6  and good afternoon.  I am clearly in favor of this

          7  legislation, without a doubt.  I think that that

          8  will be an additional incentive in order to bring

          9  the film industry where it should be in New York

         10  City.

         11                 But you heard the saying, "All

         12  politics are local." And even though we are not

         13  dealing with politics with respect to this piece of

         14  legislation, because as my colleague, Jim Oddo said,

         15  this is neither Republican nor Democrat, but it

         16  makes good sense for New York City, and I agree with

         17  him.  But from a community point of view, a Law and

         18  Order was, I think, shot up in my district, I think

         19  twice within a month.  And many community residents

         20  complained to my office about the parking situation.

         21    In fact, I penned a letter to Mayor Bloomberg

         22  about the signs that are put up.  As you know, it

         23  basically says that 24 hours prior to the shoot,

         24  they don't want you to park there.  Well in my

         25  neighborhood parking is like at a premium, and for
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          2  24 hours prior to them, and when I drive by or walk

          3  by, and I see all of the cones there, and no one can

          4  park, and basically all day long, they are not even

          5  set up.  That is a problem for the residents.

          6                 And I understand the global picture,

          7  as far as New York City and what this does for New

          8  York City.  But I just cannot say to them that I

          9  don't hear their concerns, because they are the ones

         10  who elect me, not Mayor Bloomberg, or not the film

         11  industry. And I am here to represent them.

         12                 One of the points that I made in the

         13  letter to Mayor Bloomberg is that, I think that we

         14  need to be aware of that.  And so, for example, if

         15  they really need that space, eight hours prior to

         16  the shoot, then let's say eight hours prior to the

         17  shoot you must be moved or else you will be towed,

         18  let's be clear.  Because many people, for example,

         19  if it says, you know, if people have to move by six

         20  o'clock, well, for them to be able to find a parking

         21  space that night and park there and get up by six to

         22  move, they will do that, rather than not be able to

         23  park at all, or to go around for an hour literally

         24  trying to find a parking space, or have to pay $25

         25  to put it in a parking lot.
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          2                 So while I encourage the industry,

          3  and as I said to you, I am supportive of this

          4  legislation, I have to look after my constituents.

          5  So I need you, Commissioner, and Economic

          6  Development to work with us in the communities about

          7  that particular issue.  And I am asking some

          8  flexibility here, some realistic flexibility so that

          9  I can say to my constituents, that I have not only

         10  addressed the concern, but it is being worked, and

         11  that is what I want to be able to work with whoever

         12  is doing that type of situation.

         13                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  We get those

         14  calls from residents as well, daily.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  I know you

         16  do.

         17                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  And we have

         18  done quite a bit in the last two years in terms of

         19  community outreach, and also working with the

         20  customers who come into town.  We have recently

         21  instituted keys to the City, which is actually a

         22  rundown, it is a code of conduct, it is called in

         23  the industry.  But it is the rules and regulations,

         24  reminding people that you are shooting on City

         25  streets, but that is also someone's neighborhood,
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          2  and it is some advice on what the production

          3  assistants should be doing in communities.

          4                 We also work very closely with the

          5  Community Boards, we speak at many meetings, we meet

          6  with them regularly to educate them about what is

          7  going on, and try to give them a heads up to

          8  incoming production.  And similarly, we will meet

          9  with the networks and the producers and advise them

         10  on community concerns.

         11                 We keep internal lists of where

         12  people are shooting, we call them hot spot lists,

         13  and we are very sensitive to this, and we will

         14  spread the wealth, if you will.

         15                 The other thing, as I mentioned

         16  during my testimony, we work very closely with a lot

         17  of other City agencies, Parks.  The City has done a

         18  lot to renovate a lot of parks, and we don't want

         19  them, production to go to that same children's park

         20  in Central Park all the time.  We want them to go

         21  Queens, or different locations. And what our agency

         22  can do is to work with the location managers and

         23  offer diverse locations in the five boroughs for

         24  productions to shoot.  And we keep track of that.

         25  But we are very sensitive to that, and we do take
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          2  the complaints, and we talk to folks, and it is

          3  about education, and it is explained to community

          4  groups the real economic impact of film production,

          5  that the corner deli it is benefitting, that the

          6  Kinkos it is benefitting, that the local lumber yard

          7  is benefitting.  And so these are things that on an

          8  ongoing basis we are trying to do.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:

         10  Commissioner, I truly understand that.  I really

         11  don't have any problem at all, as far as them coming

         12  into our neighborhood filming, whatsoever.  I think

         13  that is good, residents get an opportunity to see an

         14  actual film shoot, you know, an all of that.  That

         15  is all positive.

         16                 The only negative aspect is the

         17  parking situation, and I will be in touch with your

         18  office, about maybe as far as the signs are

         19  concerned, because one sign, in particular, it said

         20  in very small print, you know, 24 hours before this

         21  time, and the time is down here.  And that is when,

         22  you know, people are looking at the large print,

         23  saying you cannot park from so and so, and then so

         24  and so, and then small printed has you know, no

         25  parking 24 hours prior to this time, it is
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          2  misleading.

          3                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Well we have

          4  redesigned most of the signs, so that could be an

          5  old one.  But I will double check for you, and if

          6  there is anything in particular, please bring it to

          7  my attention.  Because we have actually gone through

          8  and redesigned the signs, and we really just want to

          9  do much more outreach so that people are aware of

         10  what, you know, of what is to come.  We work very

         11  closely with traffic enforcement as well.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Okay, well I

         13  appreciate that.  And I do know that my office,

         14  whenever there is going to be a shoot anywhere in

         15  the neighborhood in my district, I get a fax all the

         16  time from, I guess, your office or somebody.

         17                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  It is a news

         18  flash, we send them out usually 48 hours ahead of

         19  time we will send it to the local precincts and to

         20  the Community Boards.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Right, yes,

         22  I received that in my office too.  So, I appreciate

         23  that.  Thank you very much.  I will be in touch.

         24  Okay?

         25                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          4  Council Member James, quickly.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

          6  Yes, just as a follow- up.  As you know, I had

          7  reached out to your office some time ago over the

          8  summer, there was a production of a David Shapell

          9  (phonetic) show in my district.  And as you know I

         10  was very, it was not a nice call that I made to your

         11  office, and I did get, I placed a call to you, but I

         12  got a phone call from someone who worked in your

         13  office.

         14                 One, the parking situation, the fact

         15  that individuals were not notified in a timely

         16  basis.

         17                 Two, my office was not notified.

         18                 Three, the content of the show, I

         19  think, individuals within the public should have

         20  been notified about some of the content because it

         21  was very risque, and there were a significant number

         22  of children present.

         23                 In addition to that, it had racial

         24  overtones, and a number of people in the district

         25  were offended by it.
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          2                 And I believe my office should have

          3  received a courtesy call.  The Police Department was

          4  notified a month in advance, I was notified the day

          5  of by the Police Precinct because there were a

          6  significant number of parents out there who were

          7  about to barge upon a stage to close it down.  And I

          8  called you repeatedly, and your office did call me

          9  back.  But we really need to work better with

         10  respect to coordination, which is why I put in a

         11  bill which mandates your office to notify local

         12  elected officials, and mandates that film production

         13  companies and/or the like provide parking facilities

         14  to residents in the community who are

         15  inconvenienced.  It is the cost of doing business in

         16  the City of New York.

         17                 Because I represent part of the

         18  Brownstone Belt, I know that some homeowners get

         19  enumeration.  And so, again, it is a cost of doing

         20  business, and I think it will go a long way in

         21  addressing a lot of the inconvenience that residents

         22  are, unfortunately, suffering, not only in Brooklyn,

         23  but in Manhattan as well, and throughout the City of

         24  New York.

         25                 But the language that was used at
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          2  that show was pretty offensive, and there were a

          3  significant number of children out there, just

          4  because of all the stars, "stars."

          5                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Well

          6  communication is important, and Deputy Commissioner

          7  John Batiste was the person who had gotten back in

          8  touch with you, and spoke to you subsequently. We

          9  try our best to communicate as many people in the

         10  area as possible.  We will always be sensitive to

         11  that, and we will increase communication going

         12  forward.

         13                 In regard to issuing permits in

         14  subject matter, we are not passing judgement, we

         15  cannot censor material.  We get scores of calls

         16  about different productions and the nature of those

         17  productions.  We are keeping in mind public safety,

         18  vehicular safety, but we cannot, not issue a permit

         19  because of the nature of the content of a program,

         20  we just would not do that.  But we can certainly

         21  advice communities of what was going on.  And I

         22  think that we have done that.

         23                 We will do a much better job going

         24  forward.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Sure.  No, I
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          2  recognize, I don't believe in censorship either, I

          3  believe in free speech.  But you spoke earlier about

          4  a code of conduct.  And during this David Shapell

          5  show those codes of conduct were violated.  And

          6  individuals, particularly, should have been notified

          7  that the content was X- rated, and that it had

          8  racial overtones that were really offensive to me as

          9  a person of color.

         10                 A number of residents came to my

         11  residence, and basically demanded that I witness it,

         12  and I did.  I witnessed it for two hours, and walked

         13  away offended.  So, again, that is why I reached out

         14  to you, and hopefully in the future as we go

         15  forward, it will not happen again.

         16                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  You know we

         17  reached out to production on an ongoing basis.  We

         18  make them aware, when we issue permits, we have pre-

         19  production meetings, and we discuss a number of

         20  issues, including what they are responsible, what

         21  their responsibilities are when they are shooting in

         22  a neighborhood.  And that is this Keys to the City,

         23  this code of conduct, if you will, is designed to

         24  remind them and their staffs.  But we also have

         25  representatives, field representatives who will go
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          2  on location, but unfortunately, because of a lot of

          3  budget cutbacks, our staff has been cut back, so we

          4  don't have as many field representatives as we would

          5  like as production escalates.  So that is something

          6  else for us to consider.

          7                 But we do intend and have, it is a

          8  major priority to communicate with the production

          9  companies, as well as the community groups.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And I would

         11  just ask in the absence of legislation that you send

         12  courtesy copies to all elected officials when you

         13  plan on doing any filming in their districts. Thank

         14  you.

         15                 You do it for Community Boards, you

         16  do it for local precincts, and I would hope and pray

         17  that the elected, well, the elected officials

         18  deserve the same courtesy.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  And

         20  once again, thank you for coming, and we will

         21  probably be in touch with you on some of the

         22  information before we vote.

         23                 The next witness is Joey Pantelliano

         24  from the Creative Coalition, also known as Joey

         25  Pants formerly of the Sopranos.
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          2                 MR. PANTELLIANO:  A lot of things

          3  that I was going to say has already been covered in

          4  detail.  But some of the points are important to be

          5  reiterated.

          6                 Tony Goldwin was my Co- President.

          7  We came to the Creative Coalition about four years

          8  ago, because we were seeing in our own work.  I am a

          9  journeyman actor, I have been doing it for 35 years.

         10    I am a tri- stater, I was born in New Jersey, we

         11  still have a place in Hoboken, and we live in

         12  Connecticut.  I moved, I came here to learn my

         13  craft.  I went to school on Bank Street.  I was

         14  inspired as a young kid on those rare occasions when

         15  I came to New York with my parents in the streets of

         16  Chinatown to see them shoot shows like McCloud and

         17  Kojak, the Godfather, and see real life living

         18  actors like Jack Lemmon and Shirley McClain, Walter

         19  Matthau, Charles Bronson.

         20                  "On the Waterfront" was filmed in my

         21  hometown. There is an honor there, and no matter

         22  where I go throughout the world to work, it always

         23  brings a crowd.  And there is community pride in the

         24  fact that they can say that something was done in

         25  their neighborhood.
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          2                 I think that the Empire State Film

          3  Production Credit is an important step, and it

          4  should be passed, but it shouldn't be our last step.

          5    We should be vigilant in identifying other

          6  incentives to bringing about a more vibrant,

          7  television industry in the City of New York.

          8                 Now the reality of the film industry

          9  was it started in New York.  It was invented by

         10  Thomas Edison in New Jersey.  And the early silent

         11  films, hits like "The Perils of Pauline" were shot

         12  in the Palisades Hills of Fort Lee, New Jersey.  But

         13  there came a point where these immigrant, Phil

         14  Guise, who had taken on the reigns of this new

         15  media, who said that it was more viable to shoot in

         16  California where there was less rain, more sunlight,

         17  and the land was cheaper.

         18                 When the Rudy Giuliani Story, you

         19  have seen on television across the nation, people

         20  are interested in its content. This is an industry

         21  of illusion, we create illusion for a living. So,

         22  the audience doesn't care that the movie was shot in

         23  Toronto, if it looks like New York.

         24                 I have read and article, you know I

         25  hear a lot of Canada bashing that started with
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          2  runaway, because they were the first to come up with

          3  a fantastic business model.

          4                 I would just urge the Council to look

          5  at that business model.  Because what is happening

          6  is Canada, right here, I am going to leave this for

          7  you to copy, has lost 60 percent of their income to

          8  runaway.  So, it says, Toronto is said to cozy up to

          9  runaway biz.  The Mayor is forming a Film

         10  Commission, a Film Board to try to get back the

         11  business that they lost.  Canadians are now going to

         12  Louisiana, they are going to New Mexico.  Because

         13  the tax incentives that are created in those states

         14  are, in fact, better and more competitive.  So we

         15  want that business, we need to be competitive with

         16  our competitors.

         17                 I live in the tri- state area, it

         18  would be way easier for me to come, and get in a car

         19  and come down to New York and shoot, then have to

         20  get on a plane, and pretend that I am in New York,

         21  in Toronto, you know, six months of filming the

         22  Matrix in Australia.   It's great, I am not

         23  complaining, I lived in fancy hotels, I ate in fancy

         24  restaurants.  But wouldn't it be great if that we

         25  were jobbing people from Toronto and Australia, that
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          2  the work was so abundant here, that they would have

          3  to live in our fancy hotels, and shop in our

          4  neighborhoods, because of the revenue source that is

          5  brought in.

          6                 So if, for example, you bring in two

          7  billion dollars worth of revenue source, and you

          8  give a tax credit of 25 percent of what the

          9  Canadians are doing, at least, you get the tax, you

         10  keep 75 percent of two billion bucks.  And not to

         11  mention what everybody is spending on the weekends

         12  in the restaurants, the bars, in the clothing

         13  stores, toothpaste, the ancillary rights.  You know,

         14  it just goes on and on.

         15                 Now I heard talk about parking

         16  problems.  And I know that in Los Angeles, certain

         17  areas of Los Angeles may get more prohibitive to

         18  shoot there.  You cannot shoot in Beverly Hills, the

         19  City just makes it so difficult.  So if parking is a

         20  problem, I think borough- by- borough you can make

         21  it easier, more accommodating or less accommodating.

         22  I think you can take care of it that way.

         23                 The other thing I want to say is that

         24  I have seen in the last 10 years, that my own

         25  business is done on a blue screen. It is getting to
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          2  a point where I don't have to be in a street in New

          3  York City, I don't have to be in Central Park.  I

          4  will be on a sound stage with blue screens and they

          5  will paint it in.  That is the future of film

          6  making.

          7                 What I think could be exciting is the

          8  fact that in the future to be ahead of the curve, to

          9  create state- of- art- sound stages, to accommodate

         10  state- of- art film making in areas that are

         11  depressed, like the South Bronx.  You know, I think

         12  for area, I am not that familiar with all of the

         13  boroughs.  I consider Hoboken a Borough of New York.

         14                 But that is pretty much it.  What I

         15  have heard everybody say is really sound advice.  I

         16  urge you to pass this bill, I think you really need

         17  to start.  This is a fantastic start, and to look

         18  forward to the future, and be competitive.  I mean

         19  Louisiana is upwards of 1,000 percent of what they

         20  were doing.

         21                 A friend of mine is making a movie,

         22  he cannot make his movie in Louisiana, there aren't

         23  any crews.  A lot of my crew friends, the

         24  carpenters, the electricians, they are all being

         25  jobbed out of Manhattan, New York, Los Angeles,
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          2  Miami.  They are staying in their hotels, they are

          3  eating their food.

          4                 When I go and do a job anywhere in

          5  the country, I pay State tax.  When I was doing

          6  Sopranos, I actually had to tell my accountant the

          7  days that we shot at Silvercup versus the days that

          8  we shot in New Jersey.  Because, I mean I file,

          9  personally about 35 State Tax a year.  What do you

         10  call the,?  Yes, the tax returns, that is where I am

         11  returning money.  I am returning money to Louisiana,

         12  to New York, to New Jersey.

         13                 So that is pretty much all I really

         14  want to say.  I encourage you, look at this bill

         15  seriously, and it is really a great start.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you very

         17  much, and we will be looking at it very seriously,

         18  and we hope to act on it relatively quickly.  Any

         19  questions?  Thank you for coming in.

         20                 MR. PANTELLIANO:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member

         22  Boyland.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:   Mr.

         24  Chairman, I just want to ask him do we take the blue

         25  pill or the red pill?  He can give us the answer to
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          2  that.

          3                 MR. PANTELLIANO:  Personally, I would

          4  have taken, I take the blue pill every day.  And at

          5  my age, I have to take the blue pill.  No, no, it is

          6  the Matrix.  I should be the Viagra guy, right?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, we are

          8  going to try to move along here, we have a couple

          9  more panels.  I am going to combine a couple of

         10  panels.  The next panel will be representatives of

         11  sound stages.  We have Stuart Suna from Silvercup

         12  Studios, President; Douglas Steiner from Steiner

         13  Studios, the Chairman; Hal Rosenbluth from Kaufman

         14  Astoria Studios, President; and Harwick Johnson from

         15  CDC.  And I know that there are a number of vendors

         16  that had left, but if any of them are still here,

         17  please come up as well.  Nancy Ploger from Manhattan

         18  Chamber of Commerce, Len Noble, Howard Schwartz from

         19  HRS Recording Company.  I don't think they are still

         20  here, but, if they are, come up now.

         21                 MR. MATCH SUNA:  My name is Stuart

         22  Match Suna, President of Silvercup Studios.  I want

         23  to thank you for all the time you have given us,

         24  because this is really an important industry that

         25  hits many people of all ethnic backgrounds, all
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          2  economic levels.  This is really about a jobs bill,

          3  about growing New York, and having more jobs for New

          4  York.  You have heard a lot about it.

          5                 And the one thing I just want to get

          6  the message through is that as much as the unions,

          7  the studio facilities, all of us are working to help

          8  diversify this industry, and I really think it will

          9  happen.  We are working with the high schools and

         10  really grow it locally, but the most important thing

         11  you can do you are looking at variety over there is

         12  to do this, this calendar year.

         13                 Because Chairman if you can get this

         14  bill passed in this year, you send that message back

         15  to LA, you would tell Hollywood, who is very

         16  nervous, Hollywood is worried that they are losing

         17  jobs.  The runaway production to them is running

         18  away from California, runaway to us was that it was

         19  running out of the United States.  Now it has gotten

         20  competitive, and Louisiana you have heard, and you

         21  will hear more from the speakers on my right, about

         22  how so many jobs now go to Louisiana because they

         23  have a 20 percent tax credit for State residents

         24  above and below the line.

         25                 And if you hire out- of- state
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          2  residents, it is 15 percent tax credit.  That is

          3  real cash that these producers take home.  And we

          4  want to keep those jobs here in New York, and keep

          5  this industry growing, because this is really one of

          6  our greatest exports.

          7                 So I am now going, in time, move

          8  along.

          9                 MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Hi, I am Hal

         10  Rosenbluth from Kaufman Astoria Studios.  I want to

         11  thank all of you for taking a look at this

         12  legislation, and hopefully participating along with

         13  what the State has done already.

         14                 It is about math, I don't know a

         15  better way to put it.  I have met with a lot of the

         16  gentlemen that were up here earlier today, some of

         17  them are our clients, yes, and women.  And it is

         18  about math, it is almost that simple.  Someone said

         19  before the 15 percent tax credit, if it was

         20  available to productions, keeps us in the game.  And

         21  I heard that yesterday from another production

         22  executive in LA.  Getting them to keep a focus of

         23  attention on New York and to budget for New York

         24  helps us as the best sales tool we have had in

         25  years.
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          2                 We are an independent facilities, and

          3  we are dependent on Warner Brothers, and Universal,

          4  and others to make a decision to bring that project

          5  to New York.  In and of ourself as stage renters, we

          6  don't have enough economic impact.  We need all the

          7  help we can to bring them here.  Once here, we will

          8  compete to get them to our particular facility, but

          9  we need that help to make the math work and to

         10  narrow the gaps.

         11                 The other part I want to say, and

         12  Councilwoman Sears raised it earlier.  I learned a

         13  lesson in the early nineties, I have been at the

         14  studio for 24 years.  In the early nineties the

         15  Daily News did an article on the economic impact

         16  that Kaufman Astoria had on the community.  And

         17  frankly it was an article that told me that we were

         18  not doing enough.  What they didn't realize that we

         19  were coming off of a period of time in which their

         20  was no work coming in.  But in that article the

         21  lessons that I learned was the impact productions

         22  have to community as a whole.

         23                 The restaurant owner down the block

         24  was quoted as saying, that he gave us credit for

         25  increasing his business 70 percent during the lunch
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          2  rush hour.  Well it wasn't us, it was the

          3  productions that were using the studio.  But he then

          4  blamed us for his business going down, and actually

          5  was quoted in the article that said, we, being

          6  Kaufman Astoria, was pricing ourselves out of the

          7  market, therefore, causing him a pinch.  He didn't

          8  realize what was going on and that there was no

          9  productions to come in.

         10                 But what it told me was the impact

         11  that these productions were having on the local

         12  restaurant, and the drug store, and the shoe repair

         13  salesman, and this is what we are about. It is about

         14  building in the community.  And the community where

         15  you are in, and where Steiner is going to be, you

         16  will see that impact as productions start to come

         17  in.  And the people in that production want to take

         18  a walk down the block to get their prescriptions

         19  filled, and to get their lunch, or pick up the gift

         20  that they forgot about, because like any other job

         21  they have to go run that errand at some point during

         22  the day, just as well.  So it brings a tremendous

         23  amount of economic activity to an area, and

         24  certainly in Astoria you have seen the growth happen

         25  all around Kaufman Astoria. And that is not just
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          2  because of what George Kaufman did, it is because of

          3  the productions that are there.

          4                 So anything that we can do to help

          5  create a greater sales tool and a marketing tool for

          6  this City to help bring these productions here is

          7  appreciated, and I think benefits all.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Rosenbluth.

         10                 MR. DIENSTAG:  Good afternoon.  My

         11  name is Matthew Dienstag.  I am a principal of Le

         12  Noble Lumber Company.  Le Noble is the leading

         13  supplier of set building construction and scenic

         14  materials to the film and television industries in

         15  the New York City area.

         16                 We have heard before about how it

         17  effects people working on the actual productions,

         18  the actors, the directors, the people that I deal

         19  with the carpenters.  Well here we have some vendors

         20  now.

         21                 You brought up, Councilwoman Sears,

         22  the ancillary, the vendors, the people that is my

         23  business.  Le Noble 40 years ago started with one

         24  person, now we are almost 60 employees, two- thirds

         25  of which live in the boroughs of New York City,
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          2  also, two- thirds of which are members of minority

          3  groups, including many of our long time managers and

          4  office staff.  But regardless of our backgrounds, we

          5  all have to share the deep interest in the film and

          6  television industries in this city.

          7                 While we service other industries,

          8  the main focus of my business has always been film

          9  and television.  And when these industries prosper,

         10  the men and women of Le Noble Lumber also prosper.

         11  Over the course of the last few years we have seen

         12  more and more productions that should be done in New

         13  York, move to other cities, other states, other

         14  countries.  This trend has directly hurt my

         15  business, and its employees, as well as the numerous

         16  other vendors that service this industry.

         17                 Fewer productions means less revenue,

         18  less revenue means fewer jobs.  As far as Le Noble

         19  is concerned there is a direct relationship.

         20                 And my contacts in the production

         21  industry are not the producers, the directors, they

         22  are the men and women who work behind the scenes,

         23  the carpenters, the grips, the scenics, the

         24  decorators.  These are people who have been in the

         25  New York Production Industry and part of this City
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          2  for years and years, and now find themselves

          3  building houses in Florida, working on productions

          4  in Pennsylvania and in Louisiana.  I speak to many

          5  of them regularly, including a number of the

          6  carpenters who are right now as we speak, New York

          7  carpenters who are working in Louisiana, because

          8  that is the only work they can get in the industry.

          9  They much rather be here in New York, but they have

         10  bills to pay, and they are far from unique.

         11                 Now these people have all been told

         12  that the reason the productions are not in New York

         13  is because of the cost of doing business in New

         14  York.  And regardless of the actual differences in

         15  costs, even the perception that costs are higher in

         16  New York can keep productions away.

         17                 Well now you can help change both the

         18  reality and the perception.  Other cities, states,

         19  and countries, have found a way to afford to give

         20  production companies these incentives to get them

         21  there.  Other cities, states, and countries, have

         22  realized and recognized that the economic gains of

         23  giving the incentives, the economic gains of having

         24  the productions in their areas, more than offsets

         25  the incentives that they are giving.  These are the
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          2  type of things that New York City should do.

          3                 New York City productions provide New

          4  York City revenue, lumber, props, catering, hotels,

          5  revenue for New York City businesses, like Le Noble

          6  Lumber, revenue for hard- working, New York City

          7  residents, like Le Noble's employees.  Tax revenue

          8  for New York City.

          9                 So as a vendor to this industry, I

         10  would just urge you to do whatever is in your power

         11  to bring more motion picture and television

         12  productions to the City of New York.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  Sir.

         15                 MR. JOHNSON:  Good morning.  My name

         16  is Harwick Johnson, I represent Camus (phonetic)

         17  Service Center on the West 54th Street.  We have a

         18  tremendous infrastructure which we employ 75 people.

         19    We are the largest, full service rental company in

         20  the United States.  We are currently doing the

         21  Johnny Zero, a TV show, and we are also doing Third

         22  Watch.

         23                 We also just loaded out a big truck

         24  of equipment going to Louisiana, because there are

         25  no other projects coming into New York, so we had to
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          2  take this job because of our infrastructure and our

          3  overhead we had to take other jobs out of the City.

          4  We loaded a 48- foot tractor trailer with the

          5  lighting and grip equipment.  We also just sent four

          6  camera packages to New Orleans, which start to shoot

          7  today, as a matter of fact for 16 weeks, which is a

          8  $60 million project.  We are bidding now on another

          9  project, Lady Luck, in Louisiana.  So as you see

         10  most of the jobs now are going to Louisiana.

         11                 I spoke to the production manager, I

         12  said what is the tax incentive that they are getting

         13  there, he said 20 to 25 percent.  It is very

         14  difficult to get hotel rooms because of tourist and

         15  the production.  And rent a car, it is impossible to

         16  get there in Louisiana, that is how busy it is with

         17  film production.

         18                 We are also located in Hoboken.  We

         19  have 20,000 square feet over there.  We are

         20  currently opening up in Fort Lauderdale, Florida,

         21  where we are seeking business other ways than New

         22  York because it is not busy enough in New York to

         23  support the business.

         24                 We definitely hope that you sincerely

         25  look at this incentive, we definitely need the help.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          4  Harwick.  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I want to

          6  thank you, first off, Mr. Chair for really having

          7  the hearing today.  It is obvious that the testimony

          8  we have heard, and I thank everyone that has come

          9  today, and for the amount of time you have had to

         10  wait to testify.  But in listening particularly to

         11  you, and I don't know how Louisiana grew the way it

         12  did.  But, it would seem that we have everything to

         13  do to move this bill along as quickly as possible.

         14                 I mean I know other industries have

         15  left the City, and they come back and they do their

         16  networking in different ways, and they can have

         17  computers.  Well you cannot have the computers in

         18  that sense of replacing the bodies to do the work

         19  that is being done.  And that I think is one of the

         20  reasons your industry is so unique, because a

         21  computer can do something on the wall, but it cannot

         22  replace you not in terms of the messages and the

         23  stories that you tell.  I also think that you have

         24  met an enormous social responsibility in everything

         25  that you produced and those who act in it.
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          2                 So I would hope that we could move

          3  this along very quickly.  And I thank you for

          4  holding the hearing today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, I am going

          6  to do everything that I can to do that.  And I

          7  believe Council Member James had a comment.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Just, again,

          9  thank you, Chair, for giving me an opportunity to

         10  give some comments and some questions, recognizing

         11  that I am not on this Committee.

         12                 I recognize that the impact that the

         13  film industry has on the local economy, I recognize

         14  that greatly.  But as the first panelist indicated

         15  for me, this is a jobs program.  And what we really

         16  need to do more is try to tie the film industry to

         17  real jobs, creating real jobs in New York City.

         18                 And it amazes me the cost of doing

         19  film productions in the City of New York, and there

         20  is a number of factors, and I don't want to go into

         21  it, but I recognize that the costs are very high in

         22  New York City which is why it is prohibitive.  And

         23  this tax credit, this 5 percent tax credit will go a

         24  long way.  But again, it really needs to be tied to

         25  real jobs, so it is a win/win for my community, and
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          2  a win/win for the film industry production.

          3                 But the leadership also needs to come

          4  from the top. And I am glad the Commissioner came

          5  back in, it would be great if the Mayor of the City

          6  of New York would, again, look at this as a jobs'

          7  program, and would do more again to diversify the

          8  film industry, and would join with us in trying to

          9  create more jobs for people who need it most.  And

         10  it would go a long way in addressing the structural

         11  unemployment in the City of New York.  Leadership

         12  need to come from the top.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Mr. Suna.

         15                 MR. MATCH SUNA:  Just to comment back

         16  on that, Councilwoman James, is that at Silvercup

         17  Studios, I am sure for Kaufman sitting on my right,

         18  and I hope that same thing will happen at Steiner

         19  Studios in the Brooklyn Navy Yard, is more than 50

         20  percent of our employees, I am sure it is much

         21  higher than 50 percent, actually live in Queens.

         22  Because they tend to, you know, you tend to hire

         23  people from the local community, not only the local

         24  vendors, but also local people tend to come locally.

         25    So hopefully Steiner Studios you will see a
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          2  significant employment increase in your district.

          3                 The other thing is that we have been

          4  working both through the Explorer's Club, through

          5  the local high schools, and the local colleges and

          6  with CUNY to really have training programs. And you

          7  heard the unions speak earlier, we have been working

          8  with them holding, we give them the space for free.

          9  They hold their training programs to try to reach

         10  out to the local community.  We have been having

         11  people from all ethnic backgrounds throughout the

         12  City to really expose them to this industry, because

         13  it is such great opportunity.  And we also want to

         14  keep those new people, I mean, I am also Chairman

         15  and Founder of the International Film Festival, a

         16  lot of independent film makers, most of the

         17  independent film makers come out of New York City,

         18  they go to the great NYU film school.  The problem

         19  is when they become successful, they all go to LA,

         20  because that is where there are many more jobs.  We

         21  want to keep those people, those young people of all

         22  colors and all backgrounds, and we want to keep

         23  those jobs.  And those tax revenues, because also I

         24  just want to add that this industry, I have heard,

         25  is the highest multiplier outside of Wall Street.
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          2                 Now Wall Street is very special to

          3  us, we all appreciate it, but it also goes up and

          4  down.  This industry is a manufacturing business, it

          5  has been around for a long time, and we really think

          6  that New York should continue to grow, and I really

          7  appreciate all your support.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          9  Okay, thank you for coming in, and we know you have

         10  been patient all morning, and we appreciate that.

         11                 We are going to try to wrap this up

         12  into one last panel, and if I miss anybody that

         13  would like to testify, if you could please identify

         14  yourselves and we will add you.  Lydia Dean Pilcher

         15  from the Producers Guild of American; Jonathan

         16  Sanger from the Producers; Mike Phillips, New York

         17  Film Industry; Tim Williams, Green Street Films, IFP

         18  Producers Group; and Roger Blanc with the Recording

         19  Musicians Association, LA, New York, and Nashville.

         20  Anybody else that would like to testify in favor of

         21  this legislation, speak now and come up?  Come on

         22  up, anybody that would like to oppose this

         23  legislation?  Any opponents in the room?  Okay.

         24                 Okay, if you could identify

         25  yourselves for the record, and choose among
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          2  yourselves who is going first.

          3                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I am Mike Phillips.

          4                 MR. KINGI:  I'm Daren Kingi, I will

          5  got first.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.

          7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That is okay.

          8                 MR. KINGI:  I am Daren Kingi with

          9  Marriott Hotels in New York City.  I am responsible

         10  for sales and revenues and overall profitability for

         11  all of our property, our 11 properties in New York

         12  City, including Brooklyn, Queens, and other areas.

         13  New York City Marriott Hotels is in favor of the

         14  legislation we are discussing today.  It will make

         15  New York City more competitive in the film industry.

         16    Film production business is good for hotels.

         17                 As an example, we are finalizing

         18  arrangements right now at the Marriott Financial

         19  Center property which is about 150 yards from Ground

         20  Zero for a production crew.  The crew will arrive in

         21  January and stay through February.  They will spend

         22  some combined 2,000 nights in our hotel, or as we

         23  call them, room nights.  This represents

         24  approximately a half million dollars in revenue.

         25  The time in which this business will impact our
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          2  hotel is crucial because it is our slow season.

          3  This business will ensure that all of our employees

          4  will be working.

          5                 We are in support of the legislation

          6  also for another reason, when the world sees New

          7  York City on television or on film, they are

          8  impressed and many times have interest to coming to

          9  our city.  The more quality films that are set in

         10  New York City, the more potential new visitors.  The

         11  more visitors the better it is for us, because they

         12  stay in hotels, eat in our restaurants, and

         13  additionally they visit and spend time in other

         14  restaurants and attractions throughout the City.

         15                 We are in favor of this legislation,

         16  and thanks for your time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         18                 MR. PHILLIPS:  My name is Mike

         19  Phillips.  I work as a production accountant, and on

         20  occasion as a production supervisor.  There have

         21  been very eloquent testimonies from many members of

         22  the film industry, and the piece of paper that I

         23  have prepared really restates so much of what has

         24  been said before, so I couldn't possibly repeat it

         25  all, or wouldn't.
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          2                 I think Councilwoman Sears summed it

          3  up very eloquently when she explained that, you

          4  know, when films come to New York, it is not just

          5  about jobs.  Once the people, jobs are created that

          6  is the top of the tree, that is just wonderful.  But

          7  thereafter there is a huge amount of local

          8  expenditure that takes place.  We have to buy props,

          9  we have to eat in restaurants, we have to hire

         10  caterers, we have to buy lumber, nails, paint, rent

         11  all sorts of equipment.  And the local economy

         12  benefits in an enormous way.  The trickle down as it

         13  is sometimes called, is what I am referring to.

         14                 And it is unfortunate that this

         15  trickle down and the initial investment has in fact

         16  been lost so many times on so many projects to

         17  Canada over the past years.

         18                 I don't really think that New York is

         19  in competition with Louisiana.  I don't think the

         20  stories that are written here can be shot in

         21  Louisiana and vice- a- versa.  But I do feel that we

         22  are in competition with Toronto.  And the tax

         23  incentive that is being proposed is politically

         24  correct.  It doesn't give benefits on expenditure

         25  that is gratuitous, for example, a very highly paid
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          2  actor who comes here will not be, his salary will

          3  not be subject to a 10 percent rebate courtesy of

          4  the New York State Taxpayer, or 5 percent, if it is

          5  adopted by the New York City Taxpayer, that must be

          6  politically correct.

          7                 There are tax regimes throughout the

          8  world that will, in fact, give a tax benefit on that

          9  type of gratuitous earning.  And I would suggest

         10  that the local economy doesn't benefit by so doing.

         11                 Basically, in the case of the smaller

         12  film, when this 5 percent, if and when this 5

         13  percent gets approved, I really believe that the

         14  last part of the financing jigsaw will get put in

         15  place.  And in the case of the studio film, it means

         16  that the studio executives will be convinced that

         17  they should not be thinking about taking the film to

         18  Canada, or staying in LA for interior shooting.  And

         19  that the New York story should, in fact, be made

         20  where it belongs here in New York.  And we heard

         21  that very eloquently from Jim Brubaker and

         22  colleagues of his at Warner's, who said we got a

         23  couple of films that we want to bring to New York,

         24  and we are not going to, unless we get this added

         25  incentive, the math just doesn't work out for us.
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          2                 It is not about film industry, it is

          3  not about studio profits, it is about cost control.

          4  And they can achieve that cost control by going

          5  elsewhere, but they would rather come here.  It is

          6  as simple as that.

          7                 So I respectfully urge the City

          8  Council to support the 5 percent tax incentive.  And

          9  may I conclude with an expression from the movie,

         10   "Field of Dreams."  Where the saying was, "If you

         11  build it, they will come," and I would suggest that

         12  New York City could say, if we offer it, they will

         13  come.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 MR. BLANC:  Hello, my name is Roger

         16  Blanc, and I am a New York- based freelance

         17  musician, and Vice- President on the local and

         18  international boards of the Recording Musicians

         19  Association.  Thanks for the opportunity to speak on

         20  behalf of the New York City Recording Musicians.

         21                 The Recording Musicians Association

         22  Board as I sit on represent the interests of

         23  musicians recording in the fields of film,

         24  television, records, and advertising.  Our

         25  organization is what is known as a player conference
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          2  to our union, the American Federation of Musicians.

          3  Our activities effect the working conditions of

          4  recording musicians across the United States and in

          5  parts of Canada.

          6                 Due to a variety of economic and

          7  technological factors, musicians working in the

          8  recording field have in recent years have suffered

          9  substantial, professional challenges.  As these

         10  challenges apply to the New York City film business,

         11  the City has seen a significant across the board

         12  reduction in film music sound track recording

         13  activity over the past 10 years.  Statistics over

         14  this 10- year period show the number of New York

         15  City film sound track recording sessions per year

         16  cut in half, the total number of musicians employed

         17  in this field per year cut in half, and the amount

         18  of total wages paid to recording musicians in the

         19  given year cut by more than 60 percent net of wage

         20  increases over the term.

         21                 New York City musicians face

         22  competition from Los Angeles where the film studios

         23  and their related production infrastructure help to

         24  ensure some degree of regular employment in the

         25  field.  We face competition from non- union
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          2  recording venues both in the US and abroad.  We face

          3  competition from the former Eastern Block Countries,

          4  many of whom are home to musicians willing to work

          5  for substantially lower wages than their

          6  counterparts in the US, Canada, and Western Europe.

          7  And finally, we compete with many other high powered

          8  industries for the precious real estate which is

          9  required to house recording studios here.  Many of

         10  our best studios have been forced out of business by

         11  the high cost of Manhattan property.

         12                 The current trend, in film sound

         13  tracks favors the licensing of pre- existing hit

         14  songs over the recording of original new sound track

         15  music.  A variety of new electronic musical options

         16  allow for the number of musicians employed in a

         17  given film to be substantially reduced in many

         18  instances when new music is recorded. Re- recording

         19  music libraries may be licensed in lieu of creating

         20  and recording original new music for films here.  In

         21  short, New York City's film sound track recording is

         22  an area of activity, which could certainly use the

         23  promotion that the production incentives in this

         24  legislation would provide.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          3                 MS. PILCHER:  Hi, I am Lydia Dean

          4  Pilcher. I am Vice- Chair of the Producers Guild of

          5  America.  And you have heard some of our studio and

          6  network producers speak this morning, Dick Wolf,

          7  Jane Rosenthal, James Shamus, and I am here now

          8  putting on my other hat, because I am an independent

          9  feature film producer, and I have listened over the

         10  morning, and sort of heard different members sort of

         11  seeking to hear that viewpoint expressed.

         12                 So we are happy to be here.  My last

         13  seven movies have been directed by women.  My

         14  company, Cinema Mosaic, has a strong social and

         15  multicultural focus in the material that we develop.

         16    And we feel that independent film is a vital and

         17  influential public art form, and New York City is a

         18  thriving environment for those of us who strive to

         19  balance art and commerce. Our budgets are smaller,

         20  but we have pulled some information, and Tim

         21  Williams from Green Street Films is also going to

         22  speak to it a little bit.  In terms of the smaller,

         23  MB companies that are working in New York, our

         24  budgets can be under a million dollars, and they can

         25  range up to $15 million dollars.  We tend to rely
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          2  more heavily on equity sources of financing rather

          3  than the studios and the big corporations.

          4                 I am currently closing financing on

          5  an eight million dollar film to hopefully shoot in

          6  New York, directed by the New York- based India Film

          7  Maker, Niro Nyer.  And it is based on the revered

          8  book, "The Name Sake," which is written by Jupiler

          9  (phonetic) Heary, a Pulitzer Prize winning, Bangoli-

         10  American author living in Brooklyn.

         11                 I sat last week in a Wall Street

         12  office of an equity investor looking to cobble my

         13  financing together.  And he said, let me ask you a

         14  question, what percentage of your movie is interior?

         15  I said, "Excuse me?"  He said well how much of the

         16  New York interiors can you shoot in Louisiana?  And

         17  I gritted my teeth, and I prayed for the day that I

         18  no longer have to be creatively insulted by these

         19  people who don't understand the diversity of the

         20  content and the necessity of our shooting it in an

         21  authentic way to tell our stories.

         22                 I think as independent film makers we

         23  have a different point of view than the studios.  We

         24  seek to articulate ideas that change how we think

         25  about and view our ever- changing world.  We deal
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          2  with alternative visions that promote social and

          3  cultural diversity.

          4                 So yes, we want jobs, we want

          5  diversity in our jobs, and I think we want diversity

          6  in the content and the quality of the material that

          7  we are producing.  I choose to live in New York and

          8  my two kids go to school at PS 234, a few blocks

          9  away, and I like to sleep in my bed as many nights

         10  of the year as I can to be close to my family.  But

         11  I live here because it is the most energetic and

         12  dynamic place to do my work.

         13                 If you vote to pass the 5 percent

         14  credit, for producers like me, it helps.  It gives

         15  us the financial incentive to choose New York first,

         16  but just as importantly, it enables us and you to

         17  keep New York in the forefront as a cultural center

         18  of diversity for the independent film industry.     CHAIRPERSON

         19  WEPRIN:  Thank you.  And last, but not least.

         20                 MR. WILLIAMS:  The voice of

         21  independent film coming last.  My name is Tim

         22  Williams.  I am head of production for New York-

         23  based independent finance and production company,

         24  Green Street Films.  We produce lower budget,

         25  independently financed features, 16 of them in the
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          2  last six to seven years.

          3                 I am also a member of the newly

          4  formed IFP Independent Producers Group.  A body of

          5  over 50 producers that has come together to quantify

          6  the economic power and impact of more aggressively,

          7  independently financed features.  These are the

          8  backbone and the talent engine of New York City

          9  production community for over the last, for the last

         10  two decades.

         11                 Over the last four years this group

         12  has produced and are financed more than 250

         13  productions representing almost 900 million dollars

         14  in production budgets worldwide.  During the last

         15  four years in New York City alone, this group has

         16  represented 130 productions spending more than 250

         17  million dollars.

         18                 In 2005 it is expected that our group

         19  will represent close to 400 million dollars in

         20  expected worldwide production, on close to 120

         21  productions.  This work has remained consistent,

         22  even though larger studio- based production works

         23  has fluctuated greatly.

         24                 There are a few points I want to

         25  make, that I don't think have been made, yet.  Other
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          2  states and countries, like Canada, the UK,

          3  Australia, New Zealand, South African- American are

          4  actively courting the smaller, independent feature

          5  film community. And many of these companies,

          6  including mine, are taking advantage of these

          7  incentives.  In fact, as of yesterday, we just lost

          8  an eight million dollar movie that is set in New

          9  York, it will be shot in London and Dublin.

         10                 By adding the 5 percent New York City

         11  Tax Credit, this will negate or even out this issue

         12  and make New York more competitive on the world

         13  market.  Over the last three years alone, the number

         14  of films that our group, the IFP Producers Group has

         15  produced has risen from nine not being shot in the

         16  US to 25 being projected to be shot outside of the

         17  US in 2005.  Many of these companies, if not all of

         18  these companies, are New York- based companies, and

         19  would rather shoot in New York, even if the film is

         20  not set in New York, they would rather shoot here,

         21  because it is economic, because we live here, and

         22  because we can get the actors to stay here on

         23  smaller salaries.

         24                 Secondly, along with smaller

         25  features, New York crews are currently being brought
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          2  into incentive rich locations like Louisiana and

          3  Pennsylvania.  Effectively, our local crews are

          4  training and deepening the local workforce in other

          5  states that are offering better incentives.  This

          6  can be stopped by a 15 percent aggregate State and

          7  local credit.

          8                 In addition, it should not be

          9  overlooked that New York City has some of the

         10  strongest post production and film personnel and

         11  facilities.  And by passing this, the 15 percent

         12  incentive overall, films that shoot here will be

         13  encouraged to stay here through that post-

         14  production process and completion of a film. This

         15  process usually employs people for a duration of

         16  more six to eight months, rather than the one or two

         17  months the shooting process takes.

         18                 I urge you to pass this, because I

         19  think it will have a knock- on effect, not only to

         20  all films, but to specifically the films we are

         21  trying to produce here in New York.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you very

         24  much, and we know a number of you have been waiting

         25  since early this morning, so we appreciate it.  But
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          2  we hope you enjoyed the testimony, and as you can

          3  see there is very strong support for this

          4  legislation throughout the various sectors in the

          5  City of New York.

          6                 Council Member Sears.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

          8  Where do you film inside in New York City?  Because

          9  you do all, you know, the independent companies, you

         10  struggle and do your work here in New York.

         11                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Up to now, we would

         12  have shot wherever we can find a place to shoot,

         13  houses, you know, abandoned warehouses, whatever.

         14  With this tax credit, it is, there is a debate that

         15  is actually going on with the lower budget community

         16  and the higher budget community, because shooting it

         17  on a stage, a qualified stage is sometimes

         18  expensive.

         19                 My personal feeling, and the

         20  discussions we are having internally is that on

         21  these lower budgeted films now with this tax credit,

         22  we will actively try to find a way and work with the

         23  stages, the qualified production stages to shoot

         24  what we can on those stage so we qualify for this.

         25  And I think it is now upon us to find a way to work
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          2  that into our production budgets so that we can

          3  utilize the 15 percent, should it be passed to go to

          4  these independent financiers, who are even more

          5  fierce than the studios. Because the independent

          6  financiers don't understand film making at all.  And

          7  they are looking at the bottom line just as a dollar

          8  figure.  And if you can go to them and say, actually

          9  I will get you 15 percent more movie "by staying in

         10  New York" the are going to listen to that.  And they

         11  are going to listen to it actually more, than the

         12  studios are going to listen to it, because they are

         13  all about money, and that is all it is about.  And

         14  so, although it doesn't, at  least my point of view,

         15  it doesn't directly effect the small movie, because

         16  you have to shoot on a qualified stage.  I think it

         17  is now upon us to find a way to shoot on a stage, to

         18  qualify for this, because it is a way to stay here.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you,

         20  because I agree with you.  That is right.  Thank

         21  you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you all

         23  for coming.  And this hearing of the City Council

         24  Finance Committee is now adjourned.

         25                 Oh, excuse me, I am just going to
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          2  make a note that there have been a number of people

          3  that have submitted testimony. I am not going to

          4  read the testimony for the record, but we have

          5  testimony from James A. Parrott, Deputy Director and

          6  Chief Economist of the Fiscal Policy Institute,

          7  which will be incorporated in the record.  And

          8  testimony of Damone Richardson, Director of Survey

          9  Research and Strategy Development, Cornell

         10  University School of Industrial Labor Relations.

         11  And anyone else that would like to submit testimony,

         12  it will be gladly included in the record.  We are

         13  now adjourned.

         14                 (Hearing adjourned at 1:25 p.m.)

         15                 (The following testimony was read

         16  into the record.)

         17

         18  Testimony of:

         19  James Parrott, Ph.D.

         20  Deputy Director and chief Economist

         21  Fiscal Policy Institute

         22                 Good morning.  My name is James

         23  Parrott.  I am the Deputy Director and Chief

         24  Economist for the Fiscal Policy Institute (FPI).

         25  The Fiscal Policy Institute is a nonpartisan
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          2  research and deduction organization that focuses on

          3  the broad range of fiscal, economic, economic

          4  development, and related public policy issues that

          5  affect the quality of life and the economic well-

          6  being of New York City and State residents.  Thank

          7  you for the opportunity to present FPI's views on

          8  this topic.

          9                 FPI is part of a unique research team

         10  that includes faculty from Cornell's School of

         11  Industrial and Labor Relations and Cornell's

         12  Department of City and Regional Planning that is

         13  undertaking a comprehensive research project on

         14  future of film, television and commercial production

         15  in New York.  My fellow co chairs for this research

         16  effort include Lois Gray of Cornell ILR and Susan

         17  Christopher, son of the Cornell City Planning

         18  Department, both of whom have conducted extensive

         19  research on the film industry.  Our study is being

         20  conducted on behalf of the New York Film Television

         21  and Commercial Initiative, a broad industry

         22  coalition that includes New York studio owners,

         23  producers, and representatives from labor unions and

         24  guilds active in this industry.

         25                 Our study is focusing on three
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          2  critical issues: 1) an analysis of production trends

          3  including cost factors in each segment and an

          4  assessment of the contribution the industry makes to

          5  the overall economy; 2) an assessment of employment

          6  trends and costs associated with labor, especially,

          7  below- the- line costs, and comparative costs vis-

          8  a- vis Los Angeles and other locations including

          9  Canada; and,  3) a basic overview of subsidies

         10  across the United States and Canada, and factors

         11  influencing the competitive position (in terms of

         12  facilities, talent, costs) for various production

         13  locations.

         14                 We thank the City Council for

         15  contributing resources that are helping to support

         16  this joint management- labor project that will help

         17  contribute to the broader effort to promote this

         18  important industry in New York.

         19                 We hope that the study, when

         20  completed, will establish a baseline that would in

         21  the future allow for analyses and monitoring of the

         22  industry's presence in New York.  In addition to

         23  analyses of a number of existing data sources

         24  maintained by the Mayor's Office of Film, Theater

         25  and Broadcasting, by the New York State Office of
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          2  Motion Pictures, by the Screen Actors guild, the

          3  Motion Picture Association of America, and data from

          4  the Bureau of Labor Statistics and the Bureau of the

          5  Census, we are assembling new information to give us

          6  a solid handle on the industry through interviews

          7  with principals in different segments of the

          8  industry and a survey of production budgets and

          9  inter- business relationships in the industry.  Our

         10  timetable calls for a final report to be presented

         11  dinner April of 2005.

         12                 From an economic development

         13  perspective, it is essential that the Motion

         14  Picture, TV, and Commercial Industry remain vibrant

         15  in New York.  The industry makes a significant

         16  contribution to the economy of New York, much more

         17  so than other industries.  In the IMPLAN economic

         18  impact model that we and other regional economic

         19  analysts use, the motion picture production industry

         20  has a higher output multiplier than any other non

         21  agricultural,  non- governmental industry in New

         22  York.  That is, a given amount of economic activity

         23  in production in the film and television industry

         24  has a greater spillover effect in other local

         25  industries than any other leading sector in New
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          2  York's economy.

          3                 Thus, from an economic development

          4  investment perspective, promoting the film and

          5  television production industry is paramount since it

          6  has a greater economic impact per dollar of output

          7  than the finance industry, construction, health care

          8  or any individual manufacturing industry. The film

          9  production industry's spillover effects are

         10  particularly significant in supplier industries like

         11  real estate, advertising, legal, accounting,

         12  printing and publishing, banking, and computer

         13  services.

         14                 New York as a location of film,

         15  television and commercial production activity faces

         16  stiff competition form Canada and, for certain types

         17  of productions, from locations in other parts of the

         18  country, and increasingly from overseas.

         19  Nevertheless, New York has many attributes that

         20  enhance its comparative advantage.

         21                 We look forward to working with the

         22  City Council and the Mayor's Film Office as this

         23  project proceeds.  I would be happy to answer any

         24  questions.  Thank you.

         25
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          2  Testimony of:

          3  Sharon Jensen

          4  Executive Director

          5  Non- Traditional Casting Project, Inc.

          6                 Dear Members of the City Council,

          7                 The Non- Traditional Casting Project,

          8  Inc. (NTCP) is a not- for- profit advocacy

          9  organization established in 1986 to address and seek

         10  solutions to the problems of racism and exclusion in

         11  film, television and theater.  Today, its mission is

         12  to serve as an expert advocate and educational

         13  resource for full inclusion in theater, film

         14  television and related media.  Our current focus is

         15  to increase the participation of performers and

         16  other artists of colored and artist with

         17  disabilities in the industry.  Toward this goal,

         18  NTCP maintains the largest files in the country of

         19  artists of color and artists with disabilities,

         20  including actors who are African- American,

         21  Caribbean Black, Asian Pacific American, Latino,

         22  Native American, South Asian, Arab American, Persian

         23  American, Deaf, hard of hearing, blind, low vision

         24  and those who have mobility and other physical

         25  disabilities.  NTCP makes the Artist Files available
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          2  on- line 24/7 to decision- makers, producers,

          3  directors, casting directors, writers.  There is no

          4  charge to be in the Files or to use them.  With

          5  respect to New York, through the Artist Files, we

          6  link actors based here with opportunities to work

          7  with and on a wide variety of New York production

          8  studios and stages.

          9                 Over the last five years, NTCP has

         10  experienced a sharply increased demand for diversity

         11  in hiring from decision makers throughout the film,

         12  television and theater industry.  This increase is

         13  coming from a mandate for more diversity in hiring

         14  from networks, studios, and performers' unions; from

         15  casting directors who recognize the expanded

         16  artistic possibilities inherent in hiring a diverse

         17  talent pool; and from pressure outside the industry

         18  for increased diversity, most notably form

         19  organizations such as the NAACP and Rainbow

         20  Coalition.  As a result, NTCP is being called upon

         21  at an unprecedented rate to assist casting

         22  directors, production companies, networks and

         23  theaters, especially those who reside in or work out

         24  of New York, with a range of needs from consulting

         25  to casting.  If more work opportunities were
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          2  available in New York, I strongly believe that this

          3  would benefit the large, diverse talent pool of

          4  performers who are based here.

          5                 Some statistics:

          6                 Of the 3,625 actors in NTCP's Artist

          7  Files/On- line, 1,631 or 45 percent represent the

          8  five boroughs of New York City.

          9                 Requests by film and television

         10  casting directors and producers in New York to

         11  consult our Artist Files for actors has increased by

         12  64 percent since 2000.

         13                 Of the 258 film and television Artist

         14  Files consultations in 2003- 2004, 221 or 85 percent

         15  were from New York.

         16                 The facts are that there is an

         17  increasing demand for diversity in the nation in

         18  general and in New York specifically, and that there

         19  is a large and available workforce here.  Therefore,

         20  if more work opportunities were available here,

         21  there is every indication that this would positively

         22  impact the hiring of the diverse talent pool that is

         23  based throughout the five boroughs of New York.  For

         24  these reasons, in the strongest terms,  NTCP

         25  supports Intro. 454- A in its potential to foster
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          2  increased work opportunities for performers of color

          3  and performers with disabilities in New York and

          4  thereby, to advance diversity and inclusion in the

          5  industry.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 1:10 p.m.)
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